
 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Cabinet 

Date: Tuesday, 21st September, 2021 
Time: 6.00 pm. 

 
Venue: Hollingworth (Room 108ABC), First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU 

 
Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 
 
1   Apologies  

 

 To receive any apologies for absence.  
 
2   Minutes  4 - 8 

 To consider the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 31st August 
2021. 

 

 
3   Declarations of Interest  

 

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

 
4   Urgent Items of Business  

 

 To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

 
5   Items for Exclusion of Public and Press  

 

 To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

 

 
6   Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers  9 - 11 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Corporate / Chief Finance Officer. 

 

 

Public Document Pack



7   Deputy Criteria Review  12 - 15 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Adult Care and 
Wellbeing/Director of Strategic Commissioning/DASS. 

 

 
8   Objection to Traffic Order - Bury and Rochdale Old Road, 

Rochdale  
16 - 42 

 To consider the report Cabinet Member for Highways and Housing / 
Director of Neighbourhoods. 

 

 
9   GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - 

Stage 1 recommendations report  
43 - 138 

 To consider the report of the Deputy Leader and Climate Change and 
Sustainability/Director of Neighbourhoods/ 

 

 
10   GM 2040 Streets for All Strategy  139 - 237 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Housing/ Director of Neighbourhoods/Director of Economy. 

 

 
11   Rochdale Station Supplementary Planning Document  238 - 246 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Communications / Director of Economy. 

 

 
12   Towns Fund - Award of Grant and Update  247 - 253 

 To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Communications / Director of Economy. 

 

 
13   Exclusion of Press and Public  

 

 To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

 

 



 

14   Property Investment Risk  254 - 269 

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate / Chief 
Finance Officer. 

 

 

Cabinet Members 
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor Neil Emmott 
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor John Blundell 
Councillor Sara Rowbotham Councillor Carol Wardle 
Councillor Rachel Massey Councillor Daniel Meredith 
Councillor Liam O'Rourke Councillor Susan Smith 
 

For more information about this meeting, please contact  
Alison James/Peter Thompson – Committee and Constitutional Services 
Telephone: 01706 924711/924715 
E-mail: alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk/peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk  



CABINET 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Tuesday, 31 August 2021 

 
PRESENT:  Councillor Neill Emmott, Councillors Daalat Ali, Iftikhar Ahmed, 
Blundell, Wardle, Massey, Meredith and Smith 
 
OFFICERS:  S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive); J. Searle (Director of Economy); 
S. Hubber (Director of Children’s Services), J. Murphy (Chief Finance Officer), 
T. Harrison (Assistant Director – Commissioning), D. Bowler (Assistant 
Director – Place), J. Hassell (Assistant Director – Children’s), J. Oliver 
(Neighbourhoods Directorate), B. Hurst and N. Barton (Economy Directorate), 
M. Garraway (Resources Directorate). 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  1 member of public. 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillors Rowbotham and O'Rourke 
 

27 MINUTES 
RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 27 July 2021 be approved 
as a correct record. 
 

28 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

29 FINANCE UPDATE REPORT QTR 1 2021/22 
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Corporate / Chief Finance Officer which sought approval for the procurement 
of insurance contracts and approval for a switch of budgets within 
Directorates.   
 
Alternatives considered 
To not approve the procurement would leave the Council open to risk.  Not 
reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is 
critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the budget and 
are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early 
identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective 
action. 
 
RESOLVED 
1. That the forecast 2021/22 financial positions for Revenue, Capital, and the 

Collection Fund as at the end of June 2021, be noted as detailed in section 
4 of the submitted report.  

2. That the emergency delegated decision which has been made for the use 
of the Covid Local Support Grant of £882k to contribute to food vouchers 
for the Summer Break, be noted as shown in section 4.1.2 of the submitted 
report.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



3. That approval be given to the commencement of procurement for the 
Council’s long term contracts for insurance detailed in section 4.1.2.  

4. That the Health & Social Care Pool Budget opening position be noted as 
detailed in section 4.2 of the submitted report.  

5. That approval be given to the Budget Pressure requests detailed in section 
4.3.  

6. That the forecast achieved Savings target be noted as detailed in section 
4.4 of the submitted report.  

7. That the net Capital budget changes of £11,697k, which includes the 
return of £400k of budget relating to Link4Life be noted as detailed in 
section 4.6.1 of the submitted report. 

8. That the Capital re-phasing of £56,258k into future years detailed in 
section 4.6.2 of the submitted report.  

9. That approval be given to the requests to switch budgets within the 
Economy Service and Neighbourhoods Service as detailed in section 4.6.3 
of the submitted report. 

10. That the switch between Resources and Neighbourhoods as detailed in 
section 4.6.3 of the submitted report, be noted. 

 
Reason for recommendation 
To provide information on the financial position of the authority, as effective 
budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line 
with the budget and are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. 
 

30 REVIEW OF CHARGES FOR WHEELED BINS 
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Environment 
and Facilities / Director of Neighbourhoods which sought approval to end the 
policy of charging residents for wheelie bins. 
 
Alternatives considered 
The council could continue to charge for bins but the income target would not 
be met and would be contrary to the wishes of the current administration. The 
council could charge residents of new build properties for their first set of bins 
if the developer refuses to pay. 
 
RESOLVED 
1. That the charge to residents for new and replacement wheeled bins 240 

litres or less, is stopped. 
2. That should a property repeatedly requests replacement bins without good 

reason the council reserves the right to charge for replacement bins or 
refuse to supply them.  

3. That Developers be required to pay for the first set of wheeled bins at any 
new development. The charge for 140 litre or 240 litre bins will be £25 per 
bin, current charges for larger bins will remain.  

4. That approval be given to £165k from the budget pressure fund to mitigate 
the removal of bin charges in 2021/22. 

 
Reason for resolution 
The recommendation in the report taken to the 25 August 2020 cabinet was 
for bin charges to be reviewed 12 months after implementation.  The benefit of 

Page 5



returning to not charging was considered to be of greater benefit to residents 
and the council. 
 

31 LIFT COMPLIANCE POLICY 
Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Adults and Social Care / 
Director of Commissioning which sought approval for adoption of a 
compliance policy covering Stairlift, vertical lift and step lift service, 
maintenance and inspection. 
 
Alternatives considered 
To continue to have informal arrangements in place, which wouldn’t be 
acceptable if we were subject to any investigation by the Health and Safety 
Executive. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Lift Compliance Policy be adopted. 
 
Reason for resolution 
Following a recent review of lift compliance, it has been determined that a 
formal approved policy is required to set out how we will meet our 
responsibilities within the legislation governing this area. 
 

32 CASTLETON BEENETWORK (PHASE 2) DEVELOPMENT COST 
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Climate 
Change and Sustainability / Director of Neighbourhoods which sought 
approval to accept an external funding grant at a total of £756,200.00 to 
develop a significant scheme to promote active travel. 
 
Alternatives considered 
No alternatives had been considered, without the development cost funding 
there was no alternative budget to progress this scheme. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the external funding grant at a total of £756,200.00 to developa 
significant scheme aimed at active travel. 
 
Reason for resolution 
The proposals form part of the Council’s approved Rochdale Transport 
Delivery Plan which set out plans to develop a network of active travel 
corridors to promote sustainable modes of travel and support economic 
growth. 
 

33 ACTIVE TRAVEL FUND 
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for / Director of 
Neighbourhoods which sought approval to accept external funding grant at a 
total of £915,000 from the Department for Transport Active Travel Fund.  The 
aim of Active Travel Fund is to try and embed walking and cycling as part of 
long-term commuting habits to secure the associated health, air quality and 
congestion benefits. 
 

Page 6



Alternatives considered 
To not accept the grant. 
 
RESOLVED 
That acceptance of the Active Travel Fund grant at a total of £915,000 be 
approved. 
 
Reason for resolution 
To deliver other active travel projects in other areas of the borough. 
 

34 HOPWOOD HALL - HISTORIC ENGLAND REPAIR GRANT FOR 
HERITAGE AT RISK 
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Communications which sought approval to accept grant funding from Historic 
England of £368,294 towards eligible works of £460,367 to carry out repairs to 
Hopwood Hall. 
 
Alternatives considered 
Not to accept the grant. 
 
RESOLVED 
1. That the grant funding offer from Historic England is accepted.  
2. The Director of Economy be delegated authority to accept the grant on 

behalf of the Council.  
3. That the Assistant Director, Legal, Governance & Workforce be authorised 

to undertake any legal work on behalf of the Council to ensure that the 
grant funding offer from Historic England is obtained. 

 
Reason for resolution 
To enable the Council to carry out extensive repair works to Hopwood Hall, a 
grade II* listed building in the Council’s ownership, assisting in the viability of 
proposals for the sustainable reuse of the building. 
 

35 REPORT OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN 
AND THE COUNCIL'S RESPONSE TO THE FINDINGS 
Consideration was given to a report of the Monitoring Officer advising Cabinet 
of the findings of the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
(LG&SCO) issued on 7 April 2021. 
 
Alternatives considered 
There were no alternatives considered 
 
RESOLVED 
That the compliance outcome be noted. 
 
Reason for resolution 
In the interests of open and transparent governance Cabinet are required to 
receive information about the complaint and remedy, to ensure in so far as is 
possible, that a similar situation does not re-occur in future. 
 

Page 7



36 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
RESOLVED 
That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following five items of business, in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended. 
 
Reason for the resolution 
Should the press and public remain during debate on these three items there 
may be a disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Parts 1 
and 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
 

37 CUTGATE PRECINCT CAR PARK 
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Communications / Director of Economy which set out an offer to release the 
Council from obligations contained within a Deed of Dedication on a site at 
Cutgate Shopping Precinct Car Park, Edenfield Road, Rochdale. 
 
Alternatives considered 
Cabinet could decide to accept or decline the offer to be released from the 
Deed of Dedication.  
 
RESOLVED 
1. That the offer to release the Council from the Deed of Dedication and that 

the Deed of Dedication be declined.  
2. That the Council’s position on the car park is reviewed in 2025.  
3. That work be undertaken to identify an annual budget for the ongoing 

maintenance of the car park in accordance with the costs outlined within 
the submitted report. 

 
Reason for resolution 
To ensure that the car park is managed for the public good. 
 

Page 8



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting 21st September 2021 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Corporate Delivery 
Report Author Carolyn Goddard 

 

Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers 
 

 
Executive Summary 

 
1. This report seeks approval to amend the criteria for the 100% council tax 

discount scheme for care leavers who live in the borough aged 18 to 25 with 
effect from 1 November 2021.  

 
Recommendation 

 
2. That Cabinet notes the proposal and that approval will be sought from 

Council on 13 October 2021 to agree the change to the criteria.    
 
 

Reason for Recommendation 
 
3.1 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
3.5 
 
 
 
 

On 1 March 2017, Council introduced a 100% council tax discount scheme 
for care leavers who live in the Borough aged 18 to 20 years.   
 
On 12 December 2018, Council extended the scheme to care leavers who 
live in the Borough to aged 18 to 25 years. This reflected the Government 
change to extend the Council’s corporate parenting responsibility to 25 
years.  
 
A care leaver was defined as a person who has been in the care of the local 
authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14 and who was in care on 
their 16th birthday.  
 
All Greater Manchester authorities agreed to provide a council tax discount 
scheme using this definition.  
 
Because the definition excludes those care leavers who go into care after 
their 16th birthday these care leavers aren’t eligible for the council tax 
discount and so the other Greater Manchester authorities have agreed to 
amend their council tax discount schemes using the following definition: 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 
A person who has been in the care of the local authority for at least 13 
weeks since the age of 14, including some time after their 16th birthday.  
 

 
Key Points for Consideration 

 
4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1 
 
 
 

Corporate parenting is a statutory function of the Council.  The underlying 
principle is that every local authority will seek the same outcomes for children 
and young people in care that every good parent would want for their children. 
 
Children and young people who are looked after by their local authority rather 
than their parents are amongst the most vulnerable groups in our community.  
Outcomes for this group are generally poor and, as corporate parents, the 
Council has the responsibility to keep them safe, make sure their experiences 
in care are positive and improve their on-going life chances.   
 
A report by The Children’s Society (The Wolf at the Door. How council tax debt 
collection is harming children) suggests that care leavers are a particularly 
vulnerable group for council tax debt.  If found that often, when care leavers 
move into independent accommodation, managing their own budget fully for 
the first time can be challenging for care leavers, particularly if they fall behind 
on their council tax payments.   
 
This is true for the majority of care leavers in Rochdale who are responsible 
for payment of council tax and the council tax discount scheme for care 
leavers was introduced to alleviate the challenges faced by care leavers.  
 
Care Leavers who have no recourse to public funds will be excluded from the 
discount.  
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
The council tax discount scheme for care leavers could remain as present.  
The outcome being that Rochdale care leavers are treated differently to other 
Greater Manchester authorities and they potentially accrue debt at an earlier 
age at the outset of their independent lives which the Council is compelled to 
pursue with the detrimental impacts this could cause.    
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. 130 care leavers are currently receiving a council tax discount at an annual 

cost of £145,023.68.  It is anticipated that the proposed change will increase 
the annual cost but not significantly.  

 
Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. The change to the policy will benefit all those care leavers living in the 

Rochdale area irrespective of their age, gender or all other categories.  An 
equality impact assessment was undertaken in September 2018.  This has 

Page 10



been reviewed and the proposed change to the eligibility criteria for the 
council tax discount does not impact on this.   
 
 

Consultation 
 
7. None required.  

 
Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 
8. None  

 

For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Goddard, Tel: 01706 926051, 
Carolyn.Goddard@Rochdale.Gov.Uk 

Page 11



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting 21st September 2021 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult Care 

and Wellbeing and Children’s 
Services  
 

Report Author Laura Greenwood, Client 
Finance Team Leader,  
Governance and Business 
Support 

 

  
 

Approval to amend RBC Corporate Deputy eligibility criteria  
 
 

Executive Summary 
 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 
1.4 
 
 
 
 
1.5 
 
 
1.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The wellbeing principle of The Care Act 2014 makes it clear that a Local 
Authorities duty is to ensure the wellbeing of individuals must be at the centre 
of all it does.  It is important to consider financial wellbeing for individuals when 
looking at their overall wellbeing.  
  
Adult Care offer a Corporate Appointee & Deputy (Property & Financial 
Affairs) Service for residents with eligible care and support needs.  
 
An Appointee is someone who is appointed by the Department of Work & 
Pension (DWP) to receive and manage someone’s DWP benefits, this 
includes spending the benefits in the person’s best interests (for example 
paying for priority bills).  
 
A Deputy (Property & Financial Affairs) is someone appointed by the Court of 
Protection to manage the property & financial affairs of a person who lacks 
the mental capacity to do this for themselves.  This would be required where 
a person has income or assets other than DWP benefits.  
 
We currently have (as at period 2) 298 live Appointee cases and 2 live Deputy 
cases.  
 
The current eligibility criteria for a person to access the Corporate Deputy 
service is that they have eligible care needs: 

 They do not already have an appointee/deputy and have not appointed 
a Lasting Power of Attorney (LPA) 

 They have no appropriate family, friends or associates who can help 
them with their finances 

 They lack mental capacity to manage their financial affairs  
 They have income or assets other than DWP benefits 

Page 12

Agenda Item 7



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.7  
 
 

 They have less than £16,000 in assets or property 
The table below is an excerpt from the current Appointeeship and Deputyship 
Guidance document showing the current outcomes for the management of 
financial affairs based on this current eligibility criteria.  
 

Financial 
Capacity 

Y / N 

State 
Benefits 

Y / N 

Capital 
Assets 
Y / N 

Own 
Property 

Y/N 

Other 
Income 

Y / N 

Outcome 

No Yes No No No RBC Appointeeship 
 

Yes Yes No No No RBC Appointeeship 
 

No Yes <£16k No Yes RBC Deputyship 
 

No  Yes <£16k Yes Yes/No Solicitor – 
Deputyship 

 
No Yes/No >£16k Yes Yes/No Solicitor - 

Deputyship 
 

 
Where it is in a person’s best interest to have a Deputy (Property & Financial 
Affairs) and they do not meet the RBC eligibility criteria the case would be 
referred to a Court of Protection approved ‘Panel Solicitor’ 

    
 

Recommendation 
 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
 

 
It is recommended that Cabinet approve the amendment to increase the capital 
asset value threshold in the eligibility criteria for the ACS Corporate Deputyship 
service. This will mean that service users with less than £25,000 in capital 
assets or property can access the RBC Corporate Deputy service, instead of 
the current threshold which is set at the lower value of £16,000.  
 
 

Reason for Recommendation 
 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 

The RBC named Corporate Deputy is Steven Blezard (Director of Operations, 
Adult Care) who asked us to review the current eligibility criteria for our 
Corporate Deputy service due to our low case numbers and to ensure that 
service users are able to access this service that can be vital to ensure their 
financial wellbeing. 
 
The recommendation outlined above was made to the named Deputy as part 
of a wider review process, and agreement in principle was given to explore 
and proceed with the threshold increase as outlined in 2.1. 
 
There is a gap between our current asset limit of £16,000 and the minimum 
asset limit that a Panel Solicitor would usually accept a referral at (between 
£20 – 25,000).  This means that where it is in a person’s best interests to have 
a Deputy (Property & Financial Affairs) they may not be able to access this 
service which then impacts on their financial wellbeing.   

Page 13



 
3.4 
 
 
3.5 
 

 
This will allow us to ensure that more service users are able to access this 
service that can be vital to ensure their financial wellbeing.  
 
In addition, this may have a positive outcome for some of our existing service 
users as we can ensure they are suitably placed under the correct service, 
either Appointeeship or Deputyship and receiving the necessary support and 
they need.  

 
Key Points for Consideration 

 
Costs and Budget Summary 

 

5.1 The costs associated with the Deputy Service are fixed by the Court of 
Protection in the Practice Direction B ‘Fixed Costs in the Court of Protection’ 
document. 

5.2 The costs associated with the Deputy Service are charged to the service user 
themselves and there are no direct costs to the authority.  A cost vs benefit 
analysis would be completed for each eligible case to ensure that the cost of 
the Deputy Service does not outweigh the benefits, particularly for those in a 
residential placement where the Appointee cost is lower than the associated 
Deputy costs.   Please see example costs below: 

 Example 1: service user living in the community with £18.5k capital  

 Appointee Fee cost £862.20 p/annum 
 Deputy Fee cost £847 Year 1/£787 subsequent years  

 

Example 2: service user living in a residential placement with £22k capital  

 Appointee Fee cost £450 p/annum  
 Deputy Fee cost £1132 Year 1/£1072 subsequent years 

  

5.3  Local Authority costs are lower than those that a Solicitor is able to charge and 
this is why panel Solicitors are reluctant to accept a referral where assets are 
lower than £20 – 25,000 (to ensure that the cost of the service doesn’t outweigh 
the benefits).  

 

 

4.1 
 
4.2 
 
 

The wellbeing principle of the Care Act 2014. 
 
The current criteria leaves a gap meaning some people are unable to access this 
service.  

Page 14



Risk and Policy Implications 
 

If agreed, the relevant Adult Care operating policies will be updated 
accordingly to reflect the new approved deputyship thresholds as outlined in 
this cabinet report.  
 
Applications to become a Deputy (Property & Financial Affairs) will only be 
made where a Mental Capacity Assessment has been carried out to confirm 
the person lacks the capacity to manage their own financial affairs AND 
where a Best Interest Assessment has been complete to confirm this is in a 
person’s best interest. 

6.1 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
  
 
  

Consultation 
 
Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 
Appointee & Deputy 
Guidance  
 
Managing Service Users 
Financial Affairs  

  

 
 

 
 
 

 

For Further Information Contact: Laura Greenwood 
laura.greenwood@rochdale.gov.uk  

 

Appointeeship and 
Deputyship Guidance.docx

Managing Service 
User Financial Affairs Policy.docx

Page 15

mailto:laura.greenwood@rochdale.gov.uk


 

Report to Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting 21 September 2021 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Highways and Housing 
Report Author Paul Wotton 

 

Public Document  

 

 

Objection to Traffic Order - Bury and Rochdale Old Road, Rochdale 
 

 
Executive Summary 

 
1.1 Proposals to introduce some No Waiting At Any Time Restrictions on part of 

Bury and Rochdale Old Road (B6222), have been advertised and one 
objection was received. 
 

1.2 The section of road concerned is situated in two wards (Norden and North 
Heywood) and in different townships. 
 

1.3 Rochdale North Township Delegated Sub Committee has approved the part in 
its area on 10 March 2020. 
 

1.4 Heywood Township Committee and its Delegated Sub Committee have 
considered the objection, given the matter further consideration and do not 
feel able to fully support the scale of restrictions proposed in their area, most 
recently at Heywood Township Committee on 15 February 2021. 
 

1.5 The purpose of this report is to examine the proposals and emphasise 
individual parts of it to assist Cabinet in reaching a decision to implement the 
Orders as advertised. 
 

1.6 The sequence of Committees’ consideration of this subject can be found 
summarised in Section 3.1 below. 
 

1.7 It should be noted that in considering the report, the proposed Orders relate to 
a highway of strategic importance and are processed in accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution Part 3 Section 8.2.2 in that Committee(s) have 
delegated power to confirm the proposals and the Order. 
 

1.8 In this instance where Heywood Township Committee do not feel able to 
confirm the proposals and the Order, this is referred back to Cabinet to 
determine an outcome. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 8



 
1.9 Since the proposal was advertised, the COVID Pandemic has caused 

cancellation of meetings for many months, and creates a situation where 
authority to complete the Order making process expires later in 2021, and this 
Cabinet meeting is a final opportunity to make a decision to implement the 
TRO. 
 

1.10 Appendix A at the end of this report shows a plan of the scheme as 
advertised. 
 

1.11 Appendix B at the end of this report shows a plan of the scheme in more detail 
indicating the position of long-established cycle lanes on Bury and Rochdale 
Old Road, drawing attention to two protective island build-outs that help 
segregate cycles and vehicles. 
 

1.12 This Cabinet Meeting is the last opportunity to resolve to implement this 
scheme before legal authorisation to make a Traffic Regulation Order expires, 
some 2 years after it was originally advertised in November 2019. 
 

Recommendation 
 
2.1 

2.2 

2.3 
 

Cabinet are requested to consider the information presented in Section 4 
(particularly Section 4.21) below to determine whether the proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order 

 Borough of Rochdale ((Civil Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions) 
(Various Streets) (Heywood Township) Order 2008) (Amendment) 
(No.61) Order 

may now be resolved for implementation as advertised. 
 
The proposed waiting restrictions to be introduced on Bury and Rochdale 
Old Road (B6222), Rochdale, are on part of the Borough’s Strategic Road 
network.  
 
It is the recommendation of Highways Officers that the Orders should be 
introduced as advertised to address the issues of: 

 parked cars impeding through traffic on Bury and Rochdale Old Road 
B6222 

 parked cars causing reduced visibility at the junction with Elbut Lane 
 parked cars causing visibility difficulties for both pedestrians and 

drivers at the pedestrian refuge 
 the possibility of larger vehicles having to travel on the wrong side of 

the carriageway past the pedestrian refuge island due to 
inconsiderately parked cars 

 parked vehicles at this location obstructing the cycle lanes installed to 
protect vulnerable road users forcing cyclists into the main traffic lane 
on what is a 40mph speed limit road 

 
2.4 Having received Rochdale North Township Delegated Sub Committee’s 

consent to proceed with the Order in this area as advertised, the purpose of this 

Page 17



report is to present detailed information in respect of Heywood Township 
Committee’s concerns to justify its introduction. 

 
Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 Sequence of meetings 
 
3.1.1 At meetings both held on 10 March 2020 the same report was considered by 

each of 
 Rochdale North Township Delegated Sub-Committee which 

recommended the Order be implemented as advertised 
and 

 Heywood Township Committee which did not feel able to fully support 
the proposals and referred the matter to Cabinet 

Both reports were identical and form an Appendix Document to this report 
 
3.1.2 The remaining previous reports referred to below can be found on the 

Council’s website. 
 
3.1.3 At Cabinet on 29 September 2020 a report was withdrawn without 

consideration and it was expressed that the matter be further discussed 
between Porfolio Holder and Townships and then referred back for Township 
as necessary. 

 
3.1.4 Heywood Township Delegated Sub-Committee considered a further report on 

8 December 2020 and resolved to refer the matter back to Highways to 
investigate reducing the extent of the area covered by the proposal. 

 
3.1.5 Heywood Township Committee considered a report on 15 February 2021 and 

did not feel able to support the original proposal or its justification that the 
TRO should be introduced to its original extent as had been advertised. 

 
3.1.6 Heywood Township Committee Minute 23 of 15 February 2021 “Resolved: 

That the Heywood Township Committee does not support the implementation 
of the Traffic Regulation Order as presented within the report and therefore 
the matter be referred to cabinet for determination.” 

 
3.2 Points intended to address the Heywood Committee’s concerns are found in 

Section 4 particulary from 4.21.1 to 4.21.10. 
 

Key Points for Consideration 
 
4.1 Two Orders were advertised because the ward and township boundaries 

are situated along the centre of Bury and Rochdale Old Road and each 
township has its own Traffic Regulation Order for such static restrictions as 
the No Waiting At Any Time proposed. 
 

4.2 Two plans at the end of this report both show the advertised scheme 
(Appendix A), and the second (Appendix B) contains some of the detail 

Page 18



mentioned in the remainder of Section 4 below, namely the cycle lanes, 
borough boundary, bus stop, refuges which separate the cycle lanes from 
traffic lanes, and pedestrian island refuge. 
 

4.3 Both Orders are considered to be completely inter-dependant and neither 
of them should be introduced in isolation because of the risk of 
displacement of parked vehicles onto the opposite side of Bury and 
Rochdale Old Road. 
 

4.4 Furthermore, the objection received applies equally to both sides of the 
road and therefore to both proposed Orders. Had the township boundary 
not been along Bury and Rochdale Old Road then just one TRO would 
have been proposed. 
 

4.5 As far as has been ascertained and is also supported by comments made 
by nearby residents and highway users in continuing service requests, it is 
concluded that demand for parking on the section of Bury and Rochdale 
Old Road under consideration is generated by staff and visitors attending 
the nearby Fairfield General Hospital, where parking charges apply. 
 

4.6 Highways situated closer to the hospital and within Bury Council’s area 
have a residents parking scheme which appears to further make the area 
under consideration attractive to park and at no cost. 
 

4.7 The popularity of this parking demand is assumed to be because it is one of 
the closest unrestricted locations to the hospital and most importantly free of 
parking charges. 
 

4.8 It is not thought that there is a parking capacity problem within the grounds 
of Fairfield General Hospital. 
 

4.9 The objector contends that parked cars do not obstruct the free flow of 
traffic; a statement which is not supported by observations together with 
unsolicited comments made by members of the public who have expressed 
concern about large vehicles including ambulances having to pass the 
central pedestrian refuge island close to Elbut Lane on the wrong side of the 
road thus creating a risk of meeting a vehicle ‘head-on’ travelling in the 
opposite direction, which also creates a risk for pedestrians crossing there 
who would not expect to look for a vehicle approaching from the ‘wrong’ 
direction. 

 
4.10 The objector feels it acceptable to park partially on the pavement because 

there is sufficient remaining space for pedestrians. Footways should not be 
parked upon and this activity is an indication that the road is of insufficient 
width for parking to take place and maintaining the free flow of traffic. 

Page 19



 
4.11 Observations of pavement parking in this location show that aside from the 

risk of damage to lightly constructed footway surfaces, its width often 
becomes narrowed down too much even for solo pedestrians to walk in 
comfort, and clearly becomes a far greater inconvenience to groups of 
pedestrians (potentially including children), those adults with child buggies, 
and disabled persons who may be using wheel chairs or powered mobility 
scooters. 

 
4.12 In the worst cases of footway obstruction, pedestrians may be unacceptably 

compelled to walk in the carriageway which must be regarded as an unsafe 
activity on this busy main road. 

 
4.13 Furthermore any parking close to the pedestrian refuge island (situated 

close to a bus stop where it can be reasonably expected to be well used) 
reduces pedestrian and driver visibility. 
 

4.14 The objector, who does use Bury and Rochdale Old Road as a driver, 
pedal cyclist and to park on, describes the current cycle provision as not fit 
for purpose and dismisses the scheme’s aim of removing parked vehicles 
to reduce instances where cyclists are forced into the carriageway with 
other traffic. 
 

4.15 It is true that cycle lane provision is not continuous due to available road 
width limitations. The scheme is situated in a section of Bury and Rochdale 
Old Road where a higher speed limit of 40 mph applies. On such a speed 
of road the cyclist may be regarded as a vulnerable road user and whilst 
not fully segregated is afforded some separation from vehicles where 
possible. 
 

4.16 Not previously emphasised is the existence of one kerbed refuge in each 
direct situated on the outside of the cycle lane where it provides some 
physical demarcation between cycle lane and traffic lane. 

 
4.17 The objector’s view is that most of the parking which is the subject of these 

restrictions takes place in the daytime period between 0900 and 1700hrs. 
Observations do largely support that view. Furthermore much of it takes 
place alongside a field rather than directly outside of residential properties 
to the potential annoyance of their occupiers. Whilst this is true, the issues 
of obstructing through traffic, parking on footways, and reducing visibility at 
the central island crossing point outside of those times remain unaddressed 
which is why the restrictions are proposed to apply at all times. 

 
4.18 In terms of the motorist selecting where to park, there are potentially hard 

choices to make because of the supply, demand, and cost of parking and 

Page 20



the convenience of any parking locations. The centre of interest at Fairfield 
General Hospital is well served by buses from both of Bury and Rochdale 
town centres every 10 minutes in each direction for 13 hours each weekday 
which does provide an alternative to travel by car but of course would not 
be convenient for all persons. 
 

4.19 Whilst it is true there were no recorded accidents in the last 3 years, this 
does not make the issues of obstructing carriageways, footways, and 
junction visibility acceptable and considering it is a 40 mph speed limit road, 
the result of a collision between a vulnerable user, either pedestrian or 
cyclist, significantly increases the likelihood that any injury could be severe 
or fatal. 

 
4.20 Equality Impact Assessment 

The Committee report of 10 March 2020 which forms an Appendix 
document to this report contains an EIA in its Appendix D. 

 
4.21 Alternatives Considered 
 
4.21.1 The restrictions proposed are believed necessary to alleviate some 

identified parking problems affecting and obstructing traffic flow, 
pedestrians, and junction visibility along Bury and Rochdale Old Road. 
 

4.21.2 Scaling down the proposals or not implementing them in the opinion of 
Highways Officers will not address the issues raised. 
 

4.21.3 Similarly partial introduction of the scheme on just one side of Bury and 
Rochdale Old Road by introducing only one of the two proposed Traffic 
regulation Orders would not address the identified problem and cause  
immediate displacement onto the opposite side of the road further risking 
obstruction of visibility and its associated problems at the central traffic 
island used by pedestrians. 
 

4.21.4 Heywood Township Delegated Sub Committee on 8 December is minuted 
to have “Resolved: That consideration of the proposed Traffic Regulation 
Order be deferred pending investigations by the Head of Highways on the 
feasibility of reducing the length of the area covered by the proposed 
Order.” 
 

4.21.5 The section of Bury and Rochdale Old Road under consideration can be 
described in four sections and some of the detail referred to is shown on 
the two plans at the end of this report (Appendix A, Appendix B). 
 

4.21.6 North side from the borough boundary to Elbut Lane (Rochdale North 
Township) 

Page 21



Established unregulated parking bays, a bus stop and some No Waiting At 
Any Time restrictions are to remain without alteration. 
 

4.21.7 South side from the borough boundary to Elbut Lane (Heywood 
Township) 
This section has no properties alongside it, and is the location of most of 
the problematic parking which restricts, narrows and risks damaging its 
footway, narrows the carriageway, makes the pedestrian crossing refuge 
much harder and arguably less safe to use, and sometimes causes 
vehicles to travel on the wrong side of the road to pass the refuge, thus 
risking a head-on collision with approaching traffic, and furthermore creates 
a risk to pedestrians who would not be expecting a vehicle to approach 
from the wrong direction. For these reasons, No Waiting At Any time is 
proposed. 

 
4.21.8 North side from Elbut Lane Road to the former Melba Plastics 

premises entrance (Rochdale North Township) 
The land alongside this section is largely undeveloped. The few properties 
fronting onto it have their own off-street parking provision and over half of 
its length has a cycle lane at the kerbside, which apart from one small 
refuge island simply has white road marking separation from ordinary 
traffic, and is without the protection of any waiting restrictions. In order to 
further improve junction visibility at Elbut Lane, protect the cycle lane, and 
prevent displacement of parked vehicles, No Waiting At Any Time is 
proposed. 

 
4.21.9 South side from Elbut Lane Road to the former Melba Plastics 

premises entrance (Heywood Township) 
Around half of this section has properties situated alongside it, all of which 
have their own off-street parking provision. For nearly all of its length there 
is also a cycle lane at the kerbside, which apart from one small refuge 
island simply has white road marking separation from ordinary traffic, and is 
without the protection of any waiting restrictions . In order to protect the 
cycle lane, protect access and visibility into and out of a bus turning facility 
situated close to and opposite the junction with Elbut Lane, and prevent 
displacement of parked vehicles which could obscure visibility at driveways 
and thus attract complaints from affected residents, No Waiting At Any 
Time is proposed. 

 
4.21.10 The immediately preceding paragraphs 4.21.6 to 4.21.9 break the length 

of Bury and Rochdale Old Road under consideration into four sections, 
examining each of them and it is Highways Officers conclusion that the 
scheme merits introduction to its full extent as was originally advertised 

 

Page 22



Costs and Budget Summary 
 
5.1 The estimated cost of the proposed Traffic Regulation Orders is £4800 from 

capital funds approved by Rochdale Township Action and Resources 
Delegated Sub-Committee prior to being divided into separate north and 
south township areas. 
 

5.2 The successor committee is Rochdale North Township Delegated Sub 
Committee. 

 
Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6.1 The Council has a statutory duty to ensure that its highways operate safely 

and efficiently for all traffic (including pedestrians) including maintaining the 
expeditious movement of traffic (Section 1(1)c Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 refers) and believes it is expedient to make the proposed Order. 
 

6.2 Furthermore, it has a duty under the Traffic Management Act 2004 to 
maintain the expeditious movement of traffic. 

 
6.3 It should be noted that in considering the report, the proposed Orders relate 

to a highway of strategic importance and are processed in accordance with 
the Council’s Constitution Part 3 Section 8.2.2 in that Committee(s) have 
delegated power to confirm the proposals and the Order. 

 
6.4 Should Cabinet not now feel able to confirm the proposals and the Order, 

the matter would lapse because the Council is approaching the deadline for 
making an advertised Order. 

 
6.5 The proposal was advertised on 13 November 2019, and has a two year 

deadline by which time the Order must be made or its authority to do so 
lapses. 

  
Consultation 

 
7.1 Consultation required by the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders, (Procedure) 

(England and Wales) Regulations 1996 has taken place. 
 
7.2 The Emergency Services, Transport for Greater Manchester, The Freight 

Transport Association and the Road Haulage Association were consulted 
on 11th November 2019. 

 
7.3 Notices of Intention were posted on site and published in the local 

newspapers on 13th and 14th November 2019 – See Appendix B of the 20 
March 2020 Committee reports. 

 
7.4 The objection period ran until 5th December 2019. 
 
7.5 The chronological sequence of consideration of this objection by 

Committees, Sub-Committees and Cabinet is described in Section 3.1. 
 

Page 23



Background Papers Place of Inspection 
 
8. Previous reports referred to are 

held and publicly viewable on the 
Council’s Website –  

 

 

For Further Information Contact: Paul Wotton, , 
paul.wotton@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 24



APPENDIX A – Scheme plan as advertised 

 

  

Page 25



Bury and Rochdale Old Road (B6222) 

Plan showing additional and further revised (Aug 2021) details referred to 

Page 26



Report to Rochdale North Township  Delegated Sub Committee

Date of Meetings 10 March 2020
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Neighbourhoods, 
Community & Culture

Report Author Paul Wotton
Public Document

Objection to Traffic Order - Bury and Rochdale Old Road, Rochdale

Executive Summary

1.1

1.2

1.3

Proposals to introduce some No Waiting At Any Time and Loading 
Restrictions on part of Bury and Rochdale Old Road (B6222), have been 
advertised and one objection was received.

This report explains the background to the proposal and comments upon the 
points made in the objection to assist the Committee(s) in coming to a decision 
about the proposed Orders’ introduction.

Unusually the location of the proposed restrictions is situated in two wards 
(Norden and North Heywood) and in different townships, and this report is 
being considered by both of Rochdale North Township Delegated Sub 
Committee and Heywood Township Committee, at their meetings on 10 March 
2020.

Recommendation

2.1

2.2

2.3

The Committee/Committees should consider whether the proposed Traffic 
Regulation Orders

 Borough of Rochdale ((Civil Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions) 
(Various Streets) (Rochdale Township) Order 2008) (Amendment) 
(No.172) Order

and
 Borough of Rochdale ((Civil Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions) 

(Various Streets) (Heywood Township) Order 2008) (Amendment) 
(No.61) Order

be
 implemented as advertised, or
 referred for Cabinet to determine should the Committee/Committees not 

feel fully able to support the proposal in its entirety.

The proposed waiting restrictions to be introduced on Bury and Rochdale Old 
Road (B6222), Rochdale, are part of the Borough’s Strategic Road network. 

It should be noted that in considering the report, the proposed Orders relate to  

Page 28

Agenda Item 10

Page 27



2.4

highways of strategic importance and are processed in accordance with the 
Council’s constitution Part 3 Section 8.2.2 in that the Committees have 
delegated power to confirm the proposals and the Order. However, if the 
Committee/Committees wish not to confirm the proposals and the Order, the 
matter must be referred to Cabinet for decision.

It is the recommendation of Highways Officers that the Orders should be 
introduced as advertised to address the issues of

 parked cars impeding through traffic on Bury and Rochdale Old Road 
B6222

 reducing visibility at the junction with Elbut Lane
 improve visibility for both pedestrian users and drivers at the pedestrian 

refuge
 remove the possibility of larger vehicles having to travel on the wrong 

side of the carriageway past the pedestrian refuge island.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.1.4

3.1.5

3.1.6

3.1.7

3.1.8

Copy of Statement of Reasons

Bury and Rochdale Old Road B6222 is one of Rochdale’s Strategic 
Highways linking Bury and Rochdale town centres and situated to the north 
of the parallel A58 route which passes through Heywood town centre.

It is served by frequent bus services (7 buses per hour in each direction) and 
used by traffic to and from Fairfield General Hospital situated to the west in 
Bury Council’s area.

Bury and Rochdale Old Road is not on the Key Route Network. It forms the 
boundary between Norden Ward (Rochdale North Township) and North 
Heywood Ward (Heywood Township).

Indiscriminate parking is causing difficulties for traffic in the vicinity of its 
junction with Elbut Lane.

Service requests from members of the public have described difficulties to 
the west of Elbut Lane where traffic (including emergency ambulances) is 
being obstructed by parked vehicles preventing safe passage past a 
centrally placed pedestrian refuge island.

Further observations have regularly shown in excess of 15 cars regularly 
parked on the south side footway causing inconvenience and potential 
safety issues for pedestrians.

The junction of Elbut Lane had No Waiting At Any Time restrictions 
introduced in 2017 to assist operation of its junction with Bury and Rochdale 
Old Road.

Introducing further restrictions would remove vehicles parking on the 
footway, clear obstruction from around the south side of the refuge island, 
and could be used to protect kerb side advisory cycle lanes situated to the 

Page 29Page 28



3.1.9

3.1.10

3.1.11

3.1.12

3.1.13

3.1.14

3.2

east of Elbut Lane on both sides of Bury and Rochdale Old Road.

There is no intention to alter parking arrangements within some unrestricted 
marked bays situated on the north side of Bury and Rochdale Old Road 
west of Elbut Lane to the borough boundary with Bury.

There have been no recorded injury accidents in the last three years in the 
area under consideration.

The Proposals:

No Waiting At Any Time restrictions are proposed for Bury and Rochdale 
Old Road

 On the north side to the east of Elbut Lane continuing from   
existing restrictions for some 250 metres up to the entrance to 
the former Melba Plastics factory 

 On the south side from opposite the junction with Elbut Lane in 
a westerly direction for some 125 metres to the Bury boundary 
to meet further established similar restrictions

 On the south side from opposite the junction with Elbut Lane in 
an easterly direction for some 265 metres to finish opposite the 
entrance to the former Melba Plastics factory

 The full extent of the bus only turning facility situated to the 
south of the road which has the agreement of Transport for 
Greater Manchester

Both sections of new restrictions situated to the east of Elbut Lane will assist 
the operation of established advisory cycle lanes situated at the edge of the 
carriageway where parked vehicles force vulnerable road users (cyclists) out 
from the protection of their dedicated lane into potentially 40 mph traffic.

Drivers of any vehicles so parked have no crossing point to reach the other 
side of the road.

During hours of darkness on a 40 mph limit road vehicles must display 
parking lights required by the Highway Code; a rule which is well known to 
be ignored.

Appendix A is the scheme plan showing the proposed restrictions.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

When the Traffic Regulation Orders were advertised one objection was 
received to the proposals - see Appendix C.

Two Orders were advertised because the ward and township boundaries are 
situated along the centre of Bury and Rochdale Old Road and each 

Page 30Page 29



4.3

4.4

4.5

4.5.1

4.5.2

4.5.3

4.5.4

4.5.5

4.5.6

4.5.7

4.5.8

township has its own Traffic Regulation Order for such static restrictions as 
the No Waiting At Any Time proposed.

Both Orders are considered to be inter-dependant and neither of them 
should be introduced in isolation.

Furthermore, the objection received applies equally to both sides of the road 
and therefore to both proposed Orders. 

Response to objection

As far as has been ascertained and also supported by comments made by 
nearby residents and highway users it is concluded that demand for parking 
on the section of Bury and Rochdale Old Road under consideration is 
generated by staff and visitors attending the nearby Fairfield General 
Hospital, where parking charges apply.

Highways situated closer to the hospital and within Bury Council’s area have 
a residents parking scheme which appears to further make the area under 
consideration attractive to park and at no cost.

The popularity of this parking demand is assumed to be because it is one of 
the closest locations to the hospital and most importantly free of parking 
charges.

The objector contends that parked cars do not obstruct the free flow of 
traffic; a statement which is not supported by observations together with 
unsolicited comments made by members of the public who have expressed 
concern about large vehicles including ambulances having to pass the 
central pedestrian refuge island close to Elbut Lane on the wrong side of the 
road thus creating a risk of meeting a vehicle ‘head-on’ travelling in the 
opposite direction.

The objector feels it acceptable to park partially on the pavement because 
there is sufficient remaining space for pedestrians. Footways should not be 
parked upon and this activity is an indication that the road is of insufficient 
width for parking to take place. 

Observations of pavement parking in this location show that aside from the 
risk of damage to lightly constructed footway surfaces, its width often 
becomes narrowed down too much even for solo pedestrians to walk in 
comfort, and clearly becomes a far greater inconvenience to groups of 
pedestrians (potentially including children), those adults with child buggies, 
and disabled persons who may be using wheel chairs or powered mobility 
scooters.

In the worst cases of footway obstruction, pedestrians may be unacceptably 
compelled to walk in the carriageway which must be regarded as an unsafe 
activity on this busy main road.

Furthermore any parking close to the pedestrian refuge island (situated 

Page 31Page 30



4.5.9

4.5.10

4.5.11

4.5.12

4.5.13

4.6

4.6.1

4.6.2

4.6.3

4.6.4

close to a bus stop where it can be reasonably expected to be well used) 
reduces pedestrian and driver visibility.

The objector, who does use Bury and Rochdale Old Road as a driver, pedal 
cyclist and to park on, describes the current cycle provision as not fit for 
purpose and dismisses the scheme aim of removing parked vehicles to 
reduce instances where cyclists are forced into the carriageway with other 
traffic.

It is true that cycle lane provision is not continuous due to available road 
width limitations. The scheme is situated in a section of Bury and Rochdale 
Old Road where a higher speed limit of 40 mph applies. On such a speed of 
road the cyclist may be regarded as a vulnerable road user and whilst not 
fully segregated is afforded some separation from vehicles where possible.

The objector’s view is that most of the parking which is the subject of these 
restrictions takes place in the daytime 0900-1700 period. Observations do 
largely support that view. Furthermore much of it takes place alongside a 
field rather than directly outside of residential properties to the annoyance 
their occupiers. Whilst this is true, the issues of obstructing through traffic 
and parking on footways remain unaddressed.

In terms of the motorists’ selecting where to park, there are potentially hard 
choices to make because of the supply, demand and cost of parking and the 
convenience of any parking locations. The centre of interest at Fairfield 
General Hospital is well served by buses from both of Bury and Rochdale 
town centres on an even headway of 6 buses per hour in each direction for 
13 hours each weekday which does provide an alternative to travel by car 
but of course would not be convenient for all persons.

Whilst it is true there were no recorded accidents in the last 3 years, this 
does not make the issues of obstructing carriageways, footways, and 
junction visibility acceptable. 

Equality Impact Assessment

An Equality Impact Assessment is included at Appendix D. It was written 
after the objection period closed and concluded there were no known 
instances of adverse effects upon Equality Act protected groups and 
therefore no changes have been made to the proposed scheme.

Built into this scheme which proposes No Waiting At Any Time restrictions 
are standard exemptions which routinely allow passengers to board or alight 
from a vehicle, and allow the standard ‘up to 3 hours’ disabled parking 
concession.

Loading and unloading is not to be restricted which would otherwise have 
prevented the disabled parking concession. 

The EIA identifies significant elements of the scheme which support some 
Equality Act protected groups.

Page 32Page 31



4.7

4.7.1

4.7.2

4.7.3

Alternatives Considered

The measures proposed are believed necessary to alleviate some identified 
parking problems affecting and obstructing traffic flow, pedestrians, and 
junction visibility along Bury and Rochdale Old Road.

Scaling down the proposals or not implementing them in the opinion of 
highways officers will not address the issues raised.

Similarly partial introduction of the scheme on just one side of Bury and 
Rochdale Old Road by introducing only one of the two proposed Traffic 
regulation Orders would not address the identified problem with immediate 
displacement onto the opposite side of the road. 

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

The estimated cost of the proposed Traffic Regulation Orders is £4800 from 
capital funds approved by Rochdale Township Action and Resources 
Delegated Sub-Committee prior to being separated into separate north and 
south township areas.

The successor committee is Rochdale North Township Delegated Sub 
Committee.

Risk and Policy Implications

The Council has a statutory duty to ensure that its highways operate safely 
and efficiently for all traffic (including pedestrians) including maintaining the 
expeditious movement of traffic (Section 1(1)c Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 refers) and believes it is expedient to make the proposed Order.

6.1

Consultation

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

Consultation required by the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders, (Procedure) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 1996 has taken place.

The Emergency Services, Transport for Greater Manchester, The Freight 
Transport Association and the Road Haulage Association were consulted on 
11th November 2019.

Notices of Intention were posted on site and published in the local 
newspapers on 13th and 14th November 2019 – See Appendix B.

The objection period ran until 5th December 2019.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8.

Page 33Page 32



For Further Information Contact: Paul Wotton, 
paul.wotton@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 34Page 33



APPENDIX A – Scheme plan as advertised

Page 35Page 34



APPENDIX B – Combined Notice of Intention for both proposed TROs

TRO Ref No H60/1316
BOROUGH OF ROCHDALE

((CIVIL ENFORCEMENT OF TRAFFIC CONTRAVENTIONS)
(VARIOUS STREETS) (ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP) ORDER 2008)

(AMENDMENT) (NO. 172) ORDER

BOROUGH OF ROCHDALE
((CIVIL ENFORCEMENT OF TRAFFIC CONTRAVENTIONS)

(VARIOUS STREETS) (HEYWOOD TOWNSHIP) ORDER 2008)
(AMENDMENT) (NO. 61) ORDER

Bury and Rochdale Old Road, Rochdale

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Rochdale Borough Council, in exercise of its 
powers under Sections 1(1), 2 and 4 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, intend to 
make an Order, the effect of which would be to:-

(1) Amend the Borough of Rochdale (Civil Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions)   
(Various Streets) (Rochdale Township) Order 2008 by inserting the following:-

Schedule No 1.1
No Waiting At Any Time

Bury and Rochdale Old Road, Norden Ward
n (iii) the north side from a point 15 metres east of its junction with Elbut Lane for a 

distance of 250 metres in an easterly direction

(2) Amend the Borough of Rochdale (Civil Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions)   
(Various Streets) (Heywood Township) Order 2008 by inserting the following:-

Schedule No 1.1
No Waiting At Any Time

Bury and Rochdale Old Road, North Heywood Ward
n (iii) the south side from a point opposite the south west kerb line of Elbut Lane for a 

distance of 125 metres in westerly direction

n (iv) the south side from a point opposite the south west kerb line of Elbut Lane for a 
distance of 270 metres in an easterly direction

n (v) both sides of the bus only turning facility situated to the south of Bury and 
Rochdale Old Road and to the east of Elbut Lane

A copy of the proposed Orders and a map showing the lengths of road concerned, 
together with the Council’s Statement of Reasons for making the Order, may be 
inspected at the following locations:

 Customer Service Centre, Ground Floor, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

 Customer Service Centre, Heywood Library, L/Cpl Stephen Shaw M.C. Way, 
Heywood, OL10 1LL

during normal office hours, or viewed on the Council’s website 
www.rochdale.gov.uk/roads, or by phoning Highways on 0300 303 8879.

Page 36Page 35

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/roads


Objections to the proposed Orders, stating the grounds on which they are made, must 
be made in writing and forwarded to trafficorders@rochdale.gov.uk or, alternatively, to 
Network Management, Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 
1XU to reach the Council on or before 5th December 2019, quoting H60/1316.

Dated this 13th day of November 2019

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside
Smith Street
ROCHDALE
OL16 1XU

Page 37Page 36

mailto:trafficorders@rochdale.gov.uk


APPENDIX C – Objection Received
            .                         .,    .       .                                       .                          .                                                                         

Details of objection
Objector’s comments written as received

Ref no: H60/1316

To whom it may concern,

I am writing with my objections with regards to the proposed Traffic Contraventions 
order TRO ref no: H60/1316

It is written within this notice that an area of no waiting be introduced at all times on the 
Bury and Rochdale Old Road, both east and west bound shortly before the Bury 
boundary. After having read the statement of reasons, the intentions of this notice 
identified the need to increase safety of the traffic flow and pedestrians pavements 
around the junction of Elbut Lane. There was particular concern about the number of 
cars parking in proximity to the centrally placed pedestrian refuge island and the 
obstruction of cycle lanes which would force the cyclists into the road. I would like to 
express my strict objections to this proposed order.  

I state my reasons for objection as follows:

The main problem with this whole area is Fairfield General Hospital and the surrounding 
residential areas. I work full time at the Hospital and have both a car and a bicycle. 
Unfortunately due to severe parking problems with both obtaining a staff car parking 
permit and actually finding a space to park on Hospital grounds due to lack of car 
parking spaces; a number of staff, including myself, have been forced to find alternative 
places to park. Bury council enforce a strict street resident parking permit system in the 
surrounding areas of the Hospital which is forcing staff, patients and visitors further 
away from the Hospital to find places to park. Most days I cycle to work so parking is 
not an issue for me; however there are occasions when I have to drive to work. On 
these occasions I have to park in the affected area as this is the nearest place to the 
Hospital available which is not affected by parking restrictions such as permits and 
double yellow lines. I can personally say having first-hand experience of parking in this 
area that the cars parked here do not obstruct the flow of traffic. Cars do not park in 
proximity to the pedestrian refuge island and always leave a large gap where this is 
located so that there is not an obstruction. The cars parked her do not obstruct the 
pavement. Yes the cars are parked on the pavement but there is always a more than 
significant space for pedestrians to pass; the pavement on the south side of Bury and 
Rochdale Old Road is extremely wide. With regards to the concerns expressed about 
cyclists being forced into the road; this is simply not the case. As a cyclist who actually 
uses this area frequently, the cycle lanes are not fit for purpose and split in 2 places just 
before the bus only turning facility so cyclists are forced into the road before Elbut Lane 
anyway. On most occasions there are too many cars for any cyclist to be forced into the 
road and most times as traffic is built up no excess speeds can be achieved. Most 
cyclists break the law anyway by riding on the pavement. I think that these concerns 
that have been expressed only arise between the hours of 9-5 Monday to Friday when 
the Hospital is at its busiest. The 15 or so cars that park on the south side of Bury and 

Page 38Page 37



Rochdale Old Road after the junction of Elbut Lane up to the Bury boundary are not 
obstructing any residents whom wish to park there as there is only a field that runs on 
that side of the road. If this order gets approval then you will just force more and more 
people to park further down the road. This could include vulnerable members of society 
who cannot get a parking spot at the Hospital. If these people are forced to park further 
away then accidents could happen when walking the further distance to their car; 
especially as more wintry conditions set in, pavements could be icy and people could 
slip. This might not have happened had they not been forced to walk further to their car. 
As a member of the public who occasionally parks in this area I honestly do not see any 
problems with allowing people to continue to park there. I draw particular attention to 
the paragraph within the statement of reasons which reads as follows: “There have 
been no recorded injury accidents in the last three years in the area under 
consideration” I would appreciate it if my objection could be taken into account. I would 
like to be kept informed with this case and receive any feedback from the outcome.

Thankyou

            .                         .

Page 39Page 38



 APPENDIX D

Equality Impact Assessment

What are you assessing?  Please tick the appropriate box below.

Function Strategy Policy Project          Other, please specify below

Objection to a 
proposed Traffic 
Regulation Order

Service:

Neighbourhoods, Place

Section:

Highways, Network Management

Responsible Officer:

Paul Wotton 01706 924593

(paul.wotton@rochdale.gov.uk)

Name of function/strategy/ policy/ project assessed:

Consideration of an objection to a proposed Traffic Regulation 
Order – Bury and Rochdale Old Road (Norden Ward and North 
Heywood Ward).

Date of Assessment:     20 January 2020

Officers Involved:     Paul Wotton (paul.wotton@rochdale.gov.uk)

1.What is the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project assessed?

(Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project)

The purpose of the proposed Traffic Regulation Order is to introduce ‘no waiting at any time’ restrictions on 
parts of Bury and Rochdale Old Road.

The scheme proposals are intended to prevent parked vehicles obstructing the free passage of traffic, 
obstructing the junction with a side road, reduce instances of footway parking, improve junction visibility and 
highway safety.

2.Who are the key stakeholders?

Rochdale North Township Delegated Sub Committee as successors to Rochdale Township Action and Resources 
Delegated Sub Committee who had commissioned the proposed Traffic Regulation Order.

Heywood Township Committee in whose area part of the proposed TRO falls.

Page 40Page 39



3. What is the scope of this equality impact assessment? That is, what is included in this 
assessment.  

Strengthening restrictions in the area described in Section 1 above.

4.Which needs is this function/strategy/ policy/ project designed to meet?

To improve

 traffic flow
 traffic circulation at a junction
 the pedestrian’s ease of use of footways by reducing instances of vehicles which may presently park on 

footways
 the pedestrian’s ease of use of an uncontrolled pedestrian crossing situated close to a bus stop by reducing 

instances of vehicles which may presently park on footways, and improving intervisibility between such 
pedestrians and passing traffic

 access for all to public transport by reducing the scale of any footway parking
 reducing the number of instances where vehicles park in cycle lanes 
 highway safety by improving visibility at junctions for both pedestrians and drivers

To meet the aspirations of Rochdale Township Delegated Sub Committee.

5.Has a needs analysis been undertaken?

No.

6.Who is affected by this function/strategy/ policy/ project?

Vehicular users of the highway

Pedestrian users of the highway

7.Who has been involved in the review or development of this function/strategy/ policy/ project and 
who has been consulted?  State your consultation/involvement methodology.

Rochdale North Township Delegated Sub Committee as successors to the scheme promoter.

Traffic Management Unit’s members as statutory consultees.

Ward members in both of Norden Wards and North Heywood Ward.

The public in respect of the statutory process to advertise the traffic order proposal, one of whom has chosen to 
make the objection now being considered.

8.What data have you considered for this assessment and have any gaps in the data been identified.  
What action will be taken to close any data gaps?

Have followed usual required process much of which is statutory to promote a Traffic Regulation Order.

9.Are there any other documents or strategies which are linked to this assessment? If so, please 
include hyperlinks to these documents below, where available.

None.

Page 41Page 40



10.What impact will this function/strategy/policy/project have on all the protected groups?  This 
includes both positive and potentially negative impacts.

Race Equality 

None.

Disabled People

The objection does not mention disability issues.

Disabled and all other pedestrians may benefit from the ability to cross roads more easily by removal of 
some parked vehicles from the kerbside, and a reduction in possible instances of vehicles being parked on 
the footway restricting available widths.

Users of wheel chairs and similarly sized powered mobility aids at a disadvantage because of their 
comparatively low line of sight will be assisted by the removal of parked vehicles improving their visibility 
distances which is of particular importance when crossing roads to see traffic more clearly and also to be 
seen. 

Blue ‘disabled’ badge holders may park on the proposed restrictions for up to 3 hours. There are no 
proposals to restrict loading which would have prevented this.

There will be no restriction upon any motorist stopping on the proposed restrictions to allow a passenger to 
board or alight from a vehicle.

The restrictions are proposed to be installed either outside of properties with their own off street parking 
provision or alongside undeveloped land.

The writer is not aware if there are resident disabled badge holders directly affected by this proposal, and 
has no means of researching such details of individual residents for data privacy reasons.

The proposed restrictions would not prevent loading and unloading activity taking place.

Carers

See disabled people above.

Gender

None.

Age

The proposed restrictions could affect those with age related disabilities.

Disabled and all other pedestrians may benefit from the ability to cross roads more easily by removal of 
some parked vehicles from the kerbside, and a reduction in possible instances of vehicles being parked on 
the footway.

Blue ‘disabled’ badge holders may park on the proposed restrictions for up to 3 hours.

There will be no restriction upon any motorist stopping on the proposed restrictions to allow a passenger to 

Page 42Page 41



board or alight from a vehicle.

Armed Forces and Ex-Armed Forces Personnel

None.

Sexual Orientation

None.

Gender Reassignment

None.

Religion or Belief

None.

Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave

None.

Marriage or Civil Partnership

None.

11.What are your main conclusions from this analysis?

Affected groups are disabled persons, and those persons with age related mobility issues.

12.What are your recommendations?

To mitigate the potential impact on disabled people in originally preparing this scheme loading was not 
restricted which would otherwise have prevented parking by disabled motorists and therefore disabled 
motorists are allowed to make use of their ‘up to 3 hours’ parking concession.

13.What actions are you going to take to address the findings of this assessment?  Please attach an 
action plan including details of designated officers responsible for completing these actions.

No further action is proposed.

Signed (Completing Officer):       Paul Wotton Date:   20th January 2020.

Signed (Head of Service):      _______________ Date:   _____________

Page 43Page 42



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting 21 September 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Climate Change and 
Sustainability 

Report Author Nicola Rogers 

 Public/Private Document Public 
 

GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 
recommendations report 

 
 

Executive Summary 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



1. 
 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.7 
 
 
 

Background 
 
Around 2,000 hackney vehicles, approximately 11,500 private hire vehicles 
and upwards of 18,600 drivers are currently licensed across the ten Greater 
Manchester Authorities. Whilst there are many similarities in terms of policy 
standards and licence conditions, there are also significant differences, 
particularly when it comes to policies relating to the licensing of vehicles, the 
calculation of licensing fees and the approach to proactive compliance. 
 
In 2018, Greater Manchester’s ten local authorities agreed to collectively 
develop, approve and implement a common set of minimum licensing 
standards (MLS) for taxi and private hire services.  
 
At that time, the primary driver for this work was to ensure public safety and 
protection, but vehicle age and emission standards in the context of the Clean 
Air and the decarbonisation agendas are now also major considerations. In 
addition, by establishing standards around common livery and colour, MLS is 
an important mechanism that permits the systematic improvements to taxi 
and private hire service across Greater Manchester and their visibility. 
 
This approach stands to benefit drivers and the trade more widely as public 
confidence in a well-regulated and locally licensed taxi and private hire 
services grows and will contribute directly to better air quality and lower 
carbon emissions. By establishing and implementing Greater Manchester-
wide minimum licensing standards, we can help to ensure that all residents 
and visitors see these services as safe and reliable, and preferable to those 
not licensed by Greater Manchester local authorities. 
 
Ultimately the collaborative approach that the MLS represents will help 
achieve the vision of a strong, professional and healthy taxi and private hire 
sector providing safe and high quality services to residents and visitors across 
the whole of Greater Manchester. This vision sees Taxis and Private Hire as 
a crucial part of the overall transport offer, that can consistently deliver safe 
and high-quality services for the public.  The proposed MLS, together with 
funding from the GM Clean Air Plan, will help deliver improved safety, 
customer focus, higher environmental standards and accessibility. 
 
This collaborative approach seeks to establish a basic and common minimum 
in key areas, whilst allowing Districts to exceed these minimums where they 
consider this to be appropriate. As licensing is a local authority regulatory 
function, the Standards have been devised by the GM Licensing Managers 
Network who work in partnership across Greater Manchester to drive 
innovation, partnership and change agendas.  
  
MLS is also related to other key Greater Manchester priorities, most notably 
the GM Clean Air Plan and decarbonisation strategies, hence TfGM has been 

Page 44



 
 
 
1.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2 
 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 
 
 
2.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

supporting the development of MLS ensuring it complements wider 
objectives.  
 
Local reform through MLS can deliver real improvements across Greater 
Manchester, but the growth of out-of-area operation undermines local 
licensing, and is a cause for real concern that vehicles and drivers licensed 
outside our conurbation (but carrying Greater Manchester residents and 
visitors) may not be regulated to the high standards we expect.  In this regard, 
it is important to recognise that Government reform of taxi and private hire 
legislation and regulation is urgently required. Further work to press the case 
to Ministers for reform is a key part of the overall approach. 
 

1.1 Minimum Licensing Standards 
 
The GM MLS were ready to be consulted on when the Department for 
Transport published Statutory guidance for taxi and private hire licensing 
authorities in July 2020. The MLS project has had regard for that guidance, 
which largely mirrors what is already proposed across GM, and reference is 
made in the report where appropriate.  
 
It should be noted however that the Statutory guidance firmly highlights the 
past failings of licensing regimes in putting public safety at the forefront of 
their policies and procedures.  
 
Taxis and Private Hire services are unique in the potential opportunity and 
risks they present to the travelling public. In no other mode of public transport 
are passengers as vulnerable or at risk to those who have mal-intent; risks 
that are increased for children and vulnerable adults. The sector itself is 
vulnerable to being used for criminal activity such as child sexual exploitation, 
county lines and other drug dealing/money laundering activity.  
 
The Casey Report (2015) made it clear that weak and ineffective 
arrangements for taxi and private hire licensing had left children and the public 
at risk. The Statutory guidance asks authorities to have due regard to 
reviewing its policies thoroughly and considering good practice in the 
implementation of robust standards that address the safeguarding of the 
public and the potential impact of failings in this area.  
 
It is with public safety in mind as our primary duty as Licensing Authorities 
that the MLS are proposed.  
 
Overall, the GM approach looks to provide: 
 
 the public with safe, visible, accessible and high-quality hackney and 

private hire services 
 the hackney and private hire trades with clarity over what the required 

standards will be over the long term, and through the GM Clean Air Plan, 
with unprecedented investment to help renew the fleet   

Page 45



 
 
 
 
2.7 
 
2.8 
 
 
 
2.9 
 
 
 
2.10 
 
 
 
2.11 
 
 
 
2.12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.13 
 
 
3 
 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 

 local authorities with the continued regulatory role in relation to driver, 
vehicle and operator licensing whilst retaining scope to exceed the MLS 
as agreed locally by elected members 

 
The MLS are divided into four distinct sections as follows: 
 
Licensed Drivers; including criminal records checks, medical examinations, 
local knowledge test, English language requirements, driver training including 
driving proficiency and common licence conditions.  
 
Licensed vehicles; including vehicle emissions, vehicle ages, common vehicle 
colour and livery, vehicle testing, CCTV, Executive Hire and vehicle design 
common licence conditions 
 
Licensed private hire operators; including common licence conditions, DBS 
checks for operators and staff every year, fit and proper criteria for operator 
applications and common licence conditions.  
 
Local Authority Standards: including application deadlines and targets, GM 
Enforcement Policy, Licensing Fee Framework, annual councillor training 
requirements and Officer delegations. 
 

1.2 Due to the breadth of proposals to be considered by Members, and the 
complexity of the vehicle standards (and their link to the Clean Air Plan), this 
report seeks to provide Members with detailed consultation feedback and 
officer recommendations on the Drivers, Operator and Local Authority 
Standard elements at Stage 1.  
 

1.3 A Stage 2 report outlining the proposed Vehicle Standard recommendations 
will be provided in the autumn. 
 
Link to the Clean Air Plan 

 
An important element of the overall approach is to provide clarity and long 
term certainty for vehicle owners, so that they are able to plan the upgrade of 
their vehicles in a way that meets and contributes positively to GM’s Air 
Quality, Carbon and other environmental obligations.   
 
This will also help ensure that applicants to the Clean Taxi Fund, secured as 
part of the GM Clean Air Plan, will have a clear understanding of what locally 
licensed vehicle requirements will be over the longer term, for example in 
terms of emissions, age and other criteria, so they can determine the best use 
of the available funds given their specific circumstances.  Note that only those 
vehicle owners who have licensed their vehicle with one of the GM local 
licensing authorities will be eligible for Clean Taxi Funds to support upgrade.   
 

As noted above a further report will be prepared outlining final proposals for 
vehicle standards, as part of Stage Two of the MLS. 

Page 46



 

Recommendation 
 
4.1 
 
 
4.2 
 
4.3 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
4.6 

Note the detail of and reasons for the proposed standards for licensed 
drivers, licensed private hire operators and local authorities. 
 
Note the consultation responses received at both GM and Rochdale level. 
 
Note the comments and considerations for each standard in response to the 
consultation responses received. 
 
Note that members of the Planning and Licensing Committee on 2 
September were supportive of the standards and their implementation. 
 
Note and approve the officer’s recommendations for each of the standards 
for licensed drivers, licensed private hire operators and local authorities. 
 
Note and approve the implementation of the standards for licensed drivers, 
licensed private hire operators and local authorities with a go live date of 1 
December 2021 

 
Reason for Recommendation 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 

The Department for Transport published Statutory guidance for taxi and 
private hire licensing authorities in July 2020. This Statutory guidance firmly 
highlights the past failings of licensing regimes in putting public safety at the 
forefront of their policies and procedures.  
 
The Statutory guidance asks authorities to have due regard to reviewing its 
policies thoroughly and considering good practice in the implementation of 
robust standards that address the safeguarding of the public and the potential 
impact of failings in this area. 
 
GM local authorities have a great history of collaborative working and strive 
for consistency of approach to regulatory matters. The introduction of 
consistent minimum standards ensures that the travelling public across the 
GM conurbation are protected equally irrespective as to which GM local 
authority issues the taxi or private hire licence. 

 
Key Points for Consideration 

 

Page 47



6 
 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3 
 
 
 
6.4 
 
 
6.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Consultation; 
 
A GM wide public consultation took place between 8 October and 3 December 
2020. The consultation yielded a total of 1683 responses broken down as 
follows: 

 1552 via online questionnaire 
 84 paper questionnaires 
 47 via email 

The split of respondents was as follows:1 
 

Respondent Category Questionnaire* Letter / 
email 

Total % 

General public 974 25 999 59% 

Hackney drivers 221 11 232 14% 

Private hire vehicle drivers 350 3 353 21% 

Private hire operators 30 2 32 2% 

Vehicle leasing companies 10 0 10 1% 

Businesses 18 1 19 1% 

Representatives  31 5 36 2% 

Base 1,634 47 1,681 100% 

 
In addition, and concurrently, a qualitative phase of four online focus groups 
and 40 in-depth interviews took place to gain greater understanding of 
stakeholder views on the proposed changes 
 
For a full breakdown of demographics and to view the complete GM 
consultation report please visit www.gmtaxistandards.com 
 
The response breakdown for Rochdale BC was as follows: 
 

Respondent Category  Questionnaire Letter / 
email 

Total % 

General Public  73 0 73 50% 

Hackney Drivers  15 1 16 11% 

Private Hire Vehicle Drivers 54 0 54 37% 

Private Hire Operators 3 0 3 2% 

Vehicle Leasing companies 0 0 0 0% 

Businesses  1 0 1 1% 

Organisations 0 0 0 0% 

Elected Representatives  0 0 0 0% 

 
1 Two respondents did not complete the ‘respondent type’ question.  

Page 48

http://www.gmtaxistandards.com/


 
 
6.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.10 
 
 

Base 146 1 147 100% 

The following table provides a comparison of driver trade response levels 
across each of the 10 districts (with numbers on the left column and split 
shown between Hackney and Private Hire:  
 

 
 
As Members will see, the response rates were generally low across the board, 
particularly from members of the trades. This isn’t uncommon compared to 
Officers reflections on previous engagement with the trade. At a GM level, 
there are enough responses to draw conclusions, however, the number of 
responses in some sub-groups at district level is small and as such, the data 
should be treated with caution. 
 
Across GM there were monthly meetings with trade and union representatives 
to update and reflect on the work being undertaken. Twelve briefings sessions 
were held for representatives at GM level in MLS and clean air. There were 
also twenty five briefing sessions for all trade sectors affected by clean air and 
at local level a number of local briefings were held and various communication 
methods used to notify all affected that consultation was underway including 
emails, newsletters and contact via operator bases.   
 
It should be noted that the findings of the in-depth interviews and focus groups 
have been included alongside the findings from the questionnaire, expanding 
on the findings to provide deeper insight and examples in commentary form. 
The in-depth interviews enabled those who may be specifically impacted to 
provide additional detail and specific examples e.g. from a specific business 
sector. 
 
The Consultation questionnaire asked for views on each section of standard 
proposals; Drivers; Vehicles; Operators and Local Authorities. Within each 
section, respondents were asked two questions: 
 

61%

94%

93%

50%

20%

77%

86%

63%

52%

50%

56%

39%

6%

7%

50%

80%

23%

14%

37%

48%

50%

44%

All drivers licensed in GM (n=570)

Bolton (n=78)

Bury (n=29)

Manchester (n=105)

Oldham (n=74)

Rochdale (n=70)

Salford (n=22)

Stockport (n=62)

Tameside (n=44)

Trafford (n=28)

Wigan (n=71)

Private hire drivers Hackney carriage drivers

Page 49



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.12 
 
 
 
6.13 
 
 
7 
 
7.1 
 
 
7.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum 
licensing standards for [Drivers/Vehicles/Operators/Local Authorities] 
in Greater Manchester? 
 

2. Please use this space to provide any comments relating to the 
proposals for the minimum licensed standards for [Drivers/Vehicles/ 
Operators/Local Authorities] 

For question 1 on each section, response options were: 
- strongly agree 
- agree 
- neither agree or disagree 
- disagree 
- strongly disagree 
- don’t know 

Respondents were then asked a series of other questions to gain further 
insight into their views on implementation and impact of the proposals, 
including free text responses to gain more qualitative feedback.   
 
Copies of the Consultation Questionnaire and accompanying information 
booklet are available at www.gmtaxistandards.com  
 
Summary of Consultation responses; 
 
The following paragraphs provide a brief summary of the consultation 
responses at a GM level.  
 
Driver Standards  

 Extremely high levels of agreement from members of the public 
(94%) citing expectations that their safety and experience would 
improve from the proposals 

 Overall agreement with proposals from Trade (Hackney 58% and 
PH 57%) but substantial proportion did not agree (Hackney 28% 
and PH 29%) 

 Drivers saw the benefit in improving the customer experience but 
expressed concern at cost implications and felt the dress code was 
unnecessary. 

 
Vehicle Standards 

 High level of agreement from members of the public (88%) 
 Greater overall level of disagreement from Trade (Hackney 69% 

and PH 63%) 
 Trade mostly commented on age policy proposals; disagreeing 
 Concerns raised about the charging infrastructure for electric 

vehicles 
 Public liked the proposal of CCTV but concerns raised by the Trade 

with regards to cost and data privacy 
 Comments and disagreement across trade and public with regards 

to colour policy proposals 

Page 50

http://www.gmtaxistandards.com/


 
 
7.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.6 
 
 
 
7.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8 
 
8.1 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
9 
 
9.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Private Hire Operator Standards 
 Much broader agreement across both members of the public (94% 

agreed) and Trade (Hackney 67% and PH 65%) 
 Main comments were in support of DBS checks for Operator staff, 

whilst some concern was also raised about cost and frequency 
 Members of the public felt proposals could help improve customer 

service 
 

Local Authority Standards 
 High level of agreement again from members of the public (90%) 

and the Hackney Trade (72%) but Private Hire trade responses 
were split with only 51% agreeing 

 Many Hackney and PH respondents commented that the licensing 
fee should be more affordable 

 Members of the public were more in support of the licensing award 
than drivers who did not feel it would be beneficial 
 

Further detail for each Standard is provided in tables contained in Appendix 
1 for Driver Standards, Appendix 2 for Private Hire Operator Standards and 
Appendix 3 for Local Authority Standards. 
 
The table for each Standards details;  

- the proposed Standard and the rationale for the proposal 
- the current standard in district 
- feedback and comments made in the consultation in relation to the 

specific standard (both at a GM and local level),  
- outline of relevant points, considerations and risks in response to 

the consultation 
- Officer recommendation for that proposed standard. 

 
Timescales for Implementation 
 
It should be noted that as this and similar reports are going through District 
governance contemporaneously, the recommendations are also being 
outlined to Combined Authority for endorsement.at their September meeting. 
 
It is proposed that all the standards that are recommended to be implemented, 
are done so by 30th November 2021 for a go live date of 1st December 2021. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The “golden thread” of licensing is that of public protection. We have seen 
from the consultation that the public are overwhelmingly in support of the 
additional safeguards and protection these minimum licensing standards can 
deliver. As well as the local policy strengthening that minimum licensing 
standards will bring across Greater Manchester, the standards also deliver 
the implementation of the statutory standards on safeguarding that the 
Government have now introduced. 
 

Page 51



 
 
9.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.3 
 
 

The vision of Greater Manchester is to continue to work closely together, 
influence policy change and support the licensed trade by delivering on its 
promise to provide financial support to move to greener vehicles. This is the 
start of a journey to continue to deliver excellence in licensing regulation in 
Greater Manchester. However, we cannot underestimate the challenges the 
trade continues to face and the balance we must strike in continuing to 
support the trade whilst safeguarding the public; delivering a licensing regime 
that offers safe journeys in safe licensed vehicles, driven by safe licensed 
drivers. We will continue to work with the hackney and private hire trade to 
provide that ever important support and guidance whilst ensuring that public 
protection is at the forefront of our considerations. 
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
None, as alternatives to the GM minimum licencing standards undermines the  
vision as stated in paragraph 9.2 above.   
 

 
Costs and Budget Summary 

 
10.1 
 
 
 
10.2 

All taxi and private hire licensing charges are levied on a full cost recovery 
basis. Any decrease / increase in percentage on the uplift of fees and charges 
are approved by budget setting Council for adoption.  
 
Work is ongoing to develop a consistent fee formula however it is very likely 
that other GM districts are taking into account similar considerations for the 
setting of their fees and charges, albeit the fees and charges will not be 
identical.  

 
Risk and Policy Implications 

 
11.1 
 
 
11.2 
 
 
 
 

Taxi and private hire licensing is a statutory function delivered by the 
Licensing Team within the Public Protection Service. 
 
Local Authorities are expected to follow Government guidance when issued 
regarding the delivery of statutory functions. The minimum licensing 
standards delivers implementation of the recent guidance regarding 
safeguarding measures required by Local Authorities. 

11.3 An Equalities Impact Assessment has been conducted and this is included 
in Appendix 8.  
 

Consultation 
 

Page 52



12.1 
 
 
12.2 
 
12.3 

Extensive consultation was conducted during October to December 2020. 
The summary of responses are detailed in paragraphs 7.1 to 7.7. 
 
The detail of responses are provided in Appendices 1 to 3 inclusive. 
 
The report was considered by members of the Planning And Licensing  
Committee on 2 September 2021. Whilst there were some points requiring 
clarification; the ability to implement on 1 December, the title “proficiency 
test” and the inclusion of customer care standards including the requiring 
drivers to take the quickest route, members were supportive of the standards 
and their implementation in Rochdale Borough. 
 

 
Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 
8. None  

 

For Further Information Contact: Nicola Rogers, Tel: 01706 924124, 
nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 53



APPENDIX 1 – Driver Standards Proposals  

Key:  
Where the proposed standard is highlighted in blue this reflects that this standard is 
contained within the Department for Transport’s Statutory Guidance 
 
RAG Rating:  
Where the current standard text is highlighted in green this means that this standard 
is already being met 
 
Where the current standard text is highlighted in amber this means that this standard 
is already being partially met 
 
Where the current standard text is highlighted in red this means that this standard 
would be a new standard within that Authority 
 

Proposed Standard 1 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Enhanced Criminal Record Checks 
 
It is proposed that all drivers will be 
required to undertake an enhanced 
disclosure check through the DBS to 
include barred lists (such as details of 
unspent convictions and police 
cautions). Drivers must also register to 
the DBS Update Service and maintain 
that registration to enable the licensing 
authority to routinely check for new 
information every 6 months as a 
minimum.  
NB. If a licence has not been issued 
within 6 months of DBS certificate issue 
date, then a further enhanced DBS will 
be required (unless the applicant is 
registered with the Update Service) 
 
 
Licensing Authority to ensure sufficient 
background checks are conducted on 
applicants who have (from the age of 18) 
spent 3 continuous months or more living 
outside of the UK – this includes 
requiring a certificate of good conduct 
authenticated by the relevant embassy 
as necessary. 
 

 
Enhanced Criminal Record Checks  
 
All private hire and hackney carriage 
applicants and licensees are already 
subject to enhanced criminal record 
checks through the Disclosure Barring 
Service (DBS) including checks against 
the national barred list.  
 
It is an existing licensing condition that all 
new and currently licensed drivers 
subscribe to the DBS Update Service. It is 
the licence holders responsibility to keep 
the update service live by paying the 
annual amount to the DBS.  
 
 
Certificate of Good Conduct 
 
As part of the existing licensing application 
process, if an applicant has been living in 
the UK for less than 5 consecutive years at 
the time of application for a new licence, 
they need to obtain a Certificate of Good 
Conduct from the Embassy/High 
Commission in the Country or Countries in 
which they resided. The document has to 
be a certified translation, if the original 
Embassy Certificate is not in English. The 
document must also be under 3 months 
old from its date of issue. 

Page 54



(The MLS standard, however, proposes to 
apply to both new applicants and existing 
licences who have spent 3 continuous 
months or more living outside the UK and 
as such a certificate of good conduct 
would be required on each occasion).  
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
There is currently no legal requirement for licensing authorities to conduct an 
Enhanced DBS Check (including barred list) or to conduct interim checks on the 
Driver’s DBS status using the DBS Update Service.  
 
Whilst the GM authorities all currently require the enhanced check, not all require 
registration with the Update Service in order to facilitate interim checks during the 
currency of the licence. Without this requirement, the onus is on the driver to self-
report any criminal matters to the licensing authority or the Police to advise the 
licensing authority if they are aware of the driver’s occupation. 
 
Further, in 2015, licensing authorities were required by law to issue Driver licences for 
a standard length of 3 years (unless the authority thinks it is appropriate to issue for a 
shorter period in the specific circumstances of the individual case). This change meant 
that drivers who usually had a DBS check at the point of annual renewal, were now 
not having their DBS status checked (unless the local authority put procedures in 
place to do so) during the currency of the 3 year licence.  
 
Due to a number of different factors and scenarios (for example, an applicant could 
provide a certificate that was issued some months ago, or take a number of months 
to pass a knowledge test, or be referred to a hearing during their application process), 
and as all application processes vary by authority; it can sometimes be a number of 
months between the date of issue on the DBS certificate and the date the licence 
application is then determined. As such, the proposed policy is that the applicant must 
have a certificate that is less than 6 months old at the point the licence is issued (or 
be registered with the Update Service so that a check can be made prior to issue). 
 
This standard was proposed to ensure that all GM licensed drivers were being 
checked proactively, regularly and consistently by the licensing authority; and that the 
regime was not reliant on third parties reporting matters of concern to the authority. 
By ensuring that all drivers must register (and remain registered) with the Update 
Service, those checks can be conducted by the authority at least every 6 months. This 
in turn provides a greater level of confidence to the travelling public that the driver is 
being regularly and continuously monitored to ensure they remain a ‘fit and proper’ 
person to be transporting members of the public. 
 
The DBS cannot access criminal records held overseas (only foreign convictions that 
are held on the Police National Computer may, subject to disclosure rules, be 
disclosed). Therefore the DBS check may not provide a complete picture of an 
individual’s criminal record where there have been periods living or working overseas. 
 
 

Page 55



Consultation Response  
 
GM level summary: 
 
96 comments were made from general public respondents 
29 comments were made from trade respondents 
 
Of the 9 Driver related standards, this standard received the second highest number 
of comments. 
 
The following table shows a breakdown of the number of comments made for this 
standard by type of respondent: 
 

 

STANDARD 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operator

s 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent
-atives 

Enhanced 
Criminal Records 
Check (DBS) 

96 6 12 1 0 1 9 

 
This table provides more detail on the type of themes that came out in the comments 
made by respondent type: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent
-atives 

Enhanced DBS should 
be mandatory 

74 6 7 1 0 1 6 

DBS check would make 
passengers feel safer 

12 0 0 0 0 0 1 

All drivers should not 
have a criminal 
background / have 
enhanced DBS check 

5 0 2 0 0 0 1 

DBS check every six 
months is expensive 

1 0 3 0 0 0 0 

Concern checks don't 
cover convictions 
obtained abroad 

9 0 1 0 0 0 2 

Base 96 6 12 1 0 1 8 

 
Comments made in relation to criminal record checks were very supportive: 
“I feel it is appropriate for drivers to have an enhanced criminal record check – it would 
make me feel a lot safer allowing my disabled daughter (who also has a learning 
disability) to travel under their care. After all, all staff currently involved in her care 
have to have one. I feel it is appropriate.” (Public, age 45-54, Bury) 
 

Page 56



Very few comments were received from the trade, but those that did comment were 
also supportive of additional checks. All drivers spoken to in qualitative research felt 
that it was a positive standard which encouraged trust in drivers from users, especially 
if it is explicit to all users that this is a mandatory standard. The in-depth interviews 
with users, drivers and operators showed that most respondents assumed this 
standard was already in place and felt that if it wasn’t mandatory then it should be. 
 
Rochdale BC’s Response level summary: 
 
In total, 37 members of the public, seven (7) Hackney and 16 private hire drivers 
commented on the driver standards. Just over a half of comments were made about 
a specific part of the standards while others were more general. 
 
Standard  General 

Public 
Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

General comments without specifying a part of 
the Standard  

13 3 8 

Enhanced Criminal Record checks (DBS) 11 0 2 
Medical Examinations  0 0 2 
Knowledge Test 6 0 2 
English Language Test 5 1 3 
Driving Proficiency Test  5 1 3 
Driver Training  7 0 2 
Dress code 8 3 7 
Drug & Alcohol Testing  2 1 0 
Other Comments  1 0 1 
Base (all those who commented about this 
standard) 

37 7 16 

 
General comments: Most of the comments received from the public (n=13) reiterated 
their support for the standard in general. PHV drivers had a split opinion with three 
generally agreeing with the standards and two generally disagreeing. Four expressed 
concern the proposals will be detrimental to the industry. 
 
“I think what you are doing is great to improve safety of all pick ups and yes this should 
have been done earlier. Improvement get all taxi drivers to wear masks when on pick 
up as many do not” (Public, age 35-44) 
 
“In Rochdale the driving standard of taxi drivers is very low. I would welcome being 
able to get into a taxi and being assured of a higher standard of driving.” (Public, age 
55-64) 
 
Enhanced criminal records check standard: Members of the public (n=11) were 
very supportive of the enhanced DBS checks, feeling like they should be mandatory 
and would improve passenger safety. 
 
“Enhanced DBS checks are a brilliant idea. As a woman I can often feel a little 
intimidated getting in a taxi alone as the majority are male drivers. Knowing they have 
been through a DBS check would make me feel a lot safer.” (Public, age 25-34) 
 

Page 57



“I agree with anything that poses a risk to any travellers, enhanced DBS and child 
protection checks a must.” (Public, age 45-54) 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
The Statutory guidance issued in July 2020 advises that authorities should carry out 
an Enhanced DBS check including barred lists and require drivers to evidence 
continuous registration with the Update Service to conduct checks at least every 6 
months, and notes the particular high risks to passengers within this industry by the 
private nature of the mode of travel. The guidance advises that if drivers do not 
subscribe to the Update Service, they should still be subject to a check (by production 
of new certificate) every 6 months. 
 
Licensing Authorities should do all they can to minimise the risk to the public and be 
proactive in doing so. This standard ensures that in addition to the enhanced DBS 
certificates already required by all 10 authorities, that every authority also requires 
drivers to be registered with the Update Service and subsequent 6 monthly checks 
conducted on their DBS status, thereby ensuring consistency on the frequency of 
proactive checks and ensuring that authorities are not reliant on the honesty of licence 
holders declaring relevant issues and offences. 
 
This standard also has the added benefit of reducing the cost long term to the licensee 
as an enhanced DBS certificate costs a minimum of £40 and a new certificate would 
be required each time the authority wanted to check the status of the licensee’s DBS 
– however registration with the Update service is only £13 per annum, and the 
licensee need never obtain a further certificate at full cost should their DBS remain 
clear. 
 
There was overwhelming support from the consultation and strong public safety 
benefits of this proposed standard, as well as reduced overall costs to the licence 
holder.  
 
In relation to overseas background checks; due to significant concerns about the 
current system and the value of conducting these checks against the cost that would 
be reflected in the licence application fee, Officers will be reflecting further on the 
current system and engaging with the Government on the best way to conduct such 
checks going forward and will, if deemed necessary, prepare a further report.  
 
Lead Officer recommendation 
 
To implement the Standard on DBS certificates and checks as proposed. 
 
To reflect and engage with government further on the requirement for certificates of 
good conduct overseas and prepare a further report if necessary. 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 58



Proposed Standard 2 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Driver Medical Examinations 
It is proposed that: 
 Group 2 medical examinations are 

used to check drivers are medically fit 
to drive [the same examinations as 
applied by the Driver and Vehicle 
Standards Agency (DVSA) for lorry and 
bus drivers] 

 That the medical assessment is 
conducted by a registered GP or 
registered Doctor who has reviewed 
the applicant and has access to their 
full medical history 

 That the medical certificate is no more 
than 4 months old on the date the 
licence is granted 

 Medical certificates are required 
minimally (unless otherwise directed by 
a medical professional) on first 
application; at age 45; and every 5 
years thereafter until the age of 65 
when it is required annually 

 
 

 
Driver Medical Examinations  
 
The Council has already adopted the 
DVLA Group 2 licence medical standard 
for applicants and licensed drivers and 
has been in place for a significant length 
of time.  
 
The medical certificate required by the 
Council requests medical practitioners to 
have regard to the Group 2 guidelines 
issued by the DVLA on fitness to drive. 
 
Medical certificates must be issued by 
the applicant’s / licensee’s own general 
practitioner or by a doctor who has 
access to their full medical records. This 
rule is designed to ensure that full 
disclosure is made of their medical 
condition. 
 
An applicant / licensee is examined every 
seven years up to the age of 59. Upon 
reaching 60 years of age a medical is 
required upon every three years 
subsequently unless the medical 
practitioner considers that such less 
period (not less than 1 year) is advisable. 
 
(Please note the difference in periodic 
intervals as to when a medical 
examination would be required under the 
proposed MLS standard). 
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Taxis and private hire vehicles are public transport providers and it is important that the 
travelling public are assured with regards to the medical fitness of their designated 
driver. The medical standards for Group 2 drivers are substantially higher than Group 
1; not permitting various medical conditions deemed to be too high risk for driving 
occupations where the driver typically spends lengthy periods of time in the vehicle, 
has a responsibility to members of the public and need to be able to assist passengers 
with disabilities. 
 
Currently nine districts require the Group 2 medical assessment standard, but not all 
have a policy standard that requires the assessment to be made by a GP or Doctor 
who has access to the applicant’s full medical history, or a standard that the medical is 

Page 59



no more than 4 months old at the date the licence is granted. This proposal brings all 
10 pre-requisites on this element of the licence application process in to line, alongside 
the statutory frequency standard for medical certificates being renewed. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
This proposal perhaps unsurprisingly elicited very few comments as there are only 
minor changes to current the current policy standard across the board: 
 
17 comments were made from general public respondents 
18 comments were made from trade respondents 
 
Of those that did comment, most agreed with the standard. 
 
The following table provides a breakdown of the number of comments by respondent 
category: 
 

 

STANDARD 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Medical 
Examinations 

17 4 5 1 1 0 7 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent 
categories: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

The cost of the 
medical is 
expensive 

0 0 2 0 0 0 0 

Health check 
should include 
being able to 
handle wheelchair 
users 

1 0 0 0 1 0 0 

Driver medical 
examinations are 
not necessary 

5 0 2 0 0 0 0 

Agree with 
medical 
examination 

11 4 1 1 0 0 7 

Non-NHS 
organisations 
should be allowed 

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Page 60



to issue medical 
certification 

Base 17 4 5 1 1 0 7 

 
Two respondents mentioned that driver’s being physically unable to assist wheelchair 
users can be an issue, with some driver’s complaining they had a ‘bad back’ or that the 
chair was too heavy. 
 
A trade association made the following comment: 

“Something that is problematic however is the fact that individual licensing 
authorities have differing standards requirements for DVSA Group 2 medicals. 
Many ‘forward thinking’ licensing authorities are currently using DVSA medical 
providers that are approved by the Road Haulage Association (RHA)………. we 
implore the 10 Unifying TfGM Authorities to immediately utilise these service 
providers like the RHA does” (Organisation, LPHCA) 

 
Rochdale BC’s Response level summary: 
 
Driver Medical Examinations standard: No comments provided by stakeholders 
during consultation.  
 
Comments and considerations 
 
In the absence of a statutory standard, best practice guidance does advise on the 
application of the Group 2 standard but remains silent on whether a GP can conduct 
the assessment in the absence of the full medical records. From experience and 
following engagement with the Institute of Licensing and medical professionals, lead 
officers understand it is important that the GP assessing the applicant has access to 
their full records and not just a summary of the applicant’s medical records which could 
omit critical information.  
 
The cost of medical assessments is not within the jurisdiction of licensing authorities, 
but as long as the GP has access to the full medical records, authorities do not 
otherwise stipulate which GP can be used which allows applicant’s to search the 
market for what is most suitable to them at the time. Given the impact on the trade 
following the pandemic, and reports of ongoing delays accessing medical 
assessments, officers consider it best not to stipulate specific providers at this time, 
although this is something that could be considered in the future. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the Standard as proposed. 
 

 

 

 

Page 61



Proposed Standard 3 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Knowledge Tests 
It is proposed that applicants undertake a 
knowledge test. Authorities will be able to 
determine what is included in their local test 
but topics covered may include; local area 
knowledge, local conditions, licensing law, 
road safety, highway code, numeracy and 
safeguarding. 
 

 
Knowledge Tests  
 
All drivers must have a good working 
knowledge of the Borough of Rochdale. 
Therefore, to maintain high standards, the 
Council already expects of its drivers, a 
licence to drive a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle shall not be granted until 
the applicant has successfully passed the 
Area Knowledge test.  
 
The Area Knowledge Test consists of 
multiple choice questions which covers a 
driver’s knowledge of being able to identify 
where certain landmarks and places are 
located within the Borough; a series of 
questions to demonstrate of how to get from 
one route to another via the shortest and 
most direct route and asks questions 
relating to licensing conditions, customer 
care, disability awareness and 
safeguarding, etc.  
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Local area knowledge has long been considered an important feature and a strategic 
objective to licence a high-quality fleet of drivers that supports visitors and business 
growth in the region. This is not just proposed from a customer service perspective; so 
that passengers are not waiting unnecessarily due to driver confusion about 
buildings/stations/locations, or so they are not charged unnecessarily if the driver does 
not take the most direct route. More importantly than that, having sound and sufficient 
knowledge of the local area is widely considered essential for public safety, as in the worst 
scenarios, lacking a decent understanding of local routes can lead to passengers being 
in dangerous or vulnerable locations. 
 
All 10 authorities currently require a local knowledge test and this proposal seeks to 
protect and embed this standard within the suite of common standards. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
This standard elicited the second highest number of comments from respondents within 
the Driver standards section. 
 
123 comments were made from general public respondents 
 47 comments were made from trade respondents 

Page 62



 
 

STANDARD 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Knowledge Test 123 12 22 4 0 2 7 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

The local knowledge test 
is not needed as most 
people use sat nav 

15 5 8 1 0 2 3 

The local knowledge test 
is needed - issue with 
drivers’ poor local 
knowledge 

108 7 9 3 0 0 4 

Knowledge test is only 
required for new drivers 

0 0 6 0 0 0 0 

Base 123 12 22 4 0 2 7 

 
As the table shows, the most commonly held view was that the knowledge test was 
needed and that drivers’ poor local knowledge was an issue for the general public. Those 
public respondent cited cost of travel and concerns for safety as the main reasons for their 
view: 
 

“I have pre-booked taxis within the borough I live in (Oldham) and in Manchester 
and have found that ….. the driver does not have local knowledge of the borough. 
As I often travel alone, I find this disconcerting and have found myself anxious on 
many a journey.” (Public, age 35-44, Oldham) 

“Knowledge Test: This is very important. One in every three that I have travelled 
with asks me for directions.  When my daughter, with special needs, travels alone 
and is asked for directions she is unable to do that. This has caused a long 
unnecessary journey.” (Public, age 75+, Oldham) 

“Knowledge tests- too often we are asked to provide directions to the location we 
are travelling or spend minutes at the start of each journey trying to explain.  I think 
a basic understanding of the areas in Greater Manchester is a must.” (Public age 
25-34, Stockport) 

“Knowledge tests should be required every five years to ensure drivers are aware 
of changes in the Highway Code and reminded of best practice. They should also 
be required after a driver is convicted/fined or reported for any breach of the 
Highway Code or other offence.” (Public, age 65-74, Manchester) 

One user respondent in the qualitative focus groups gave this example: 

Page 63



“Driver pulls up at the side of the road to ask me where a certain place was. It 
wasn’t far away but because of the diversions in place due to roadworks, his sat 
nav was useless as it wasn’t picking it up or giving him an alternative route. So, I 
ended up getting in with him and showing him the way as he was struggling, didn’t 
know the area and his passenger was getting quite irate. I shouldn’t need to do 
that though. (User, Group 16).  

Trade respondents’ comments mostly supported the standard: 

“I once had one driver pull up and ask me where Old Trafford was, when working 
in Trafford. I get you might not know little places, hard to reach, but Old Trafford 
stands out and is well signposted and this driver was clueless. Had no idea. That’s 
not good enough in my eyes.” (Hackney Driver, Trafford) 

"Now, part of the stipulation for your badge, hackney badge employees, you take 
the shortest direct route. Unless instructed by the customer.  They’ve got Google 
maps, everything they do is app based, Uber is app based and its app based on 
Google maps.  Google maps is not the shortest, it’s the fastest.  If there’s a 
motorway anywhere near where you’re going or you’re coming from, he’ll jump on 
it and the customer has to pay, because it’s all done on distance.  That is going 
against the bylaws of the town.  The bylaws state that if you’re an operating service 
it’s got to be shortest, most direct route." (Hackney Driver, Stockport) 

Although 5 Hackney drivers and 8 private hire drivers did not feel the knowledge test was 
necessary due to the widespread use of Sat Nav technology: 

“Knowledge test not essential since today technology can find and direct driver to 
any destination” (Hackney Driver, Manchester)  

“Knowledge tests are not as needed as it once was. Most jobs undertaken via some 
sort of Sat Nav and many with the journey already mapped out before the customer 
even enters the vehicle.” (Vehicle lease company, Stockport) 

 
Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Knowledge Tests standard: Most of the comments received from the public (n=5) 
supported this standard; only one person stated that drivers use Sat Nav so it’s 
unnecessary. One Private Hire Vehicle driver stated it’s unnecessary and one suggested 
only new drivers should be required to do the test. 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
Whilst most responses support the standard that is already in place, a minority of 
respondents disagree citing the use of satellite navigation technology, and this assertion 
is often made on and off by trade groups to local authorities. There are many examples 
of when Sat Nav technology cannot be relied upon, including a well-publicised example 
that took place in April 2021 in Eccles in Salford, where an ‘out of town’ private hire driver 
drove a passenger in his vehicle into the Bridgewater Canal, telling police he was following 
his Sat Nav. 
 

Page 64



It is much more preferable that locally licensed drivers have a sound local knowledge of 
their area as technology can fail, or signal can be lost, and passengers (who may be 
children and/or vulnerable) should have the confidence that the driver is able to transport 
them to their destination regardless of whether they have access to technology or not.  In 
short, Sat Nav should be seen as a supplement to, not a replacement for, local knowledge.  
 
A risk that should be noted, is the cost implication of delivering (whether in house or via a 
third party) local knowledge tests and therefore ultimately the cost to the applicant. This 
will generally only apply to new applicants rather existing licence holders. Whilst other 
local authorities outside of the region choose not to require this element in their licensing 
of drivers, this could remain a motivation for drivers to seek their licences elsewhere. As 
all authorities currently have the standard within their fee structure, it is considered best 
to retain the standard and continue to make this point to the DfT. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the Standard as proposed 
 
 
 
 
 
Proposed Standard 4 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
English Language Test 
 
It is proposed that new drivers undertake an 
assessment to ensure they are able to 
communicate in spoken English and in writing 
to a standard that is required to fulfil their 
duties, including in emergency and 
challenging situations. 
 
Whilst the standard is not specified further 
and will be for authorities to determine, the 
expectation is that that all authorities have a 
test requirement that can demonstrate the 
ability to communicate effectively to: 
- Establish the passenger(s) destination 

and provide answers to common 
passenger queries or requests 

- Be able to provide customers with correct 
change 

- Be able to provide a legibly written receipt 
upon request 

 
 
 
 

 
English Language Test  
 
Whilst the Council reasonably expects 
applicants and licensee’s to be able to 
communicate in English with their fare-
paying passengers, a formal assessment 
of their verbal and writing English skills is 
not currently undertaken.    
 

Page 65



Reason for Proposal 
 
It is essential in providing a safe experience that licensed drivers are able to communicate 
effectively with passengers to establish their needs, and provide accurate information with 
regards to journey time, fare and the operation of the vehicle, and provide legible receipts 
upon request. It remains a common complaint to authorities that some drivers lack the 
ability to communicate effectively. 
 
Licensed drivers also have a key role to play in the public transport network, often driving 
vulnerable individuals (on schools’ contracts for example), or visitors who are unfamiliar 
to the area. It is important that passengers are able to communicate effectively in all 
situations (particularly in an emergency) with their driver to ensure their needs are met, 
particularly those with disabilities, SEND or additional needs. We also know from various 
reviews that the sector can play a critical role in the identification of exploitation and 
criminal activity, including county lines; so drivers must be able to identify and clearly 
report harm and risk through their understanding of spoken English.  
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
94 comments were made from general public respondents 
39 comments were made from trade respondents 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent
-atives 

English 
Language 
Test 

94 13 18 2 0 1 5 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Agree with 
language 
requirements 

72 10 14 1 0 0 4 

The enforcement 
of language tests 
will be 
controversial 

3 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Only a speaking / 
listening test is 
required, writing 
is not important 

11 0 0 0 0 1 2 

Page 66



English and 
maths test are 
discriminating 
people with 
disabilities who 
are already a 
hackney / PHV 
driver 

3 1 0 1 0 0 0 

Language 
requirement is 
not necessary 

7 2 4 0 0 0 0 

Base 94 13 18 2 0 1 5 

 
As Members will see, the majority of those who made an additional comment on this 
standard made positive remarks in support of the proposal: 
 

“I believe that an English test is crucial as many passengers have told me they’ve 
had drivers who are unable to speak a word of English. Just imagine you’re in a 
private hire and you tell the driver you have cut yourself. You need a plaster. And 
the driver tells you he doesn’t understand. There’s many other scenarios I could 
give you.” (PHV Driver, Manchester) 

“Having good communication skills is essential so that the passenger can feel 
confident and secure, knowing that they have been understood and can 
understand what the driver is saying to them.  I know this because I work with 
people who have dementia and need this extra care” (Public, age 55-64, 
Manchester) 

However, a small number of comments were made raising concerns about this 
standard: 

“The English language tests. I feel like this will alienate a lot of drivers and tests 
like these are biased against immigrant taxi drivers. Most councils have these 
enhanced checks” (Public, age 25-34, Manchester) 

“All of the above already exist in my council but it is stupid that someone with a 
PHD who is of an age where they cannot find their O levels from 50 years ago 
still has to take an English/Math test because councils currently say if you don't 
have GCSE, GCE or equivalent O level you have to take an English test even 
though English is first language and far superior qualifications have been gained 
over a career.” (Operator, Bury) 

“English language test- since when has this ever been a problem before? I think 
there are unconscious biases at play here you need to address. Really unfair to 
suggest current taxi drivers can't speak or write English. When has this ever been 
an issue?  Speaking a language and writing it are two very different things. I don't 
think you need to be able to write to drive taxis. Having these criteria will exclude 
those who probably already struggle to get work elsewhere e.g. people with 
learning disabilities, people whose second language is English. They can speak 

Page 67



English but can't write.  Really disappointed with these criteria.” (Public, age 35-
44, Rochdale) 

Aecom noted that there was no significant difference in the number of comments 
received by district or ethnic origin. 

 

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
English Language Test standard: PHV drivers (n=2), the public (n=3) and one hackney 
driver agreed with the standard. Two PHV drivers suggested it was unnecessary, one 
member of the public felt that only speaking and listening was required, i.e. writing isn’t 
important and another comment provided felt it may be discriminatory. 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
Whilst the comments against the standard are few, it is still important to address concerns 
raised that may be based on misconceptions about the rationale for having a licensed 
driver fleet proficient in the use of both written and oral English. The primary purpose of 
licensing is always public safety and it is with this in mind that most GM authorities already 
have this requirement in their regime. 
 
Whilst it is understood that the sector does attract newly migrant workers, it is important 
that users and licensees understand the important role licensed drivers play as a public 
transport provider and their responsibilities to passengers. Authorities strive to licence a 
driver fleet that plays an active role in safeguarding matters. As stated in the Statutory 
Guidance; “A lack of language proficiency could impact on a driver’s ability to understand 
important documents, such as policies and guidance relating to the protection of children 
and vulnerable adults. Oral proficiency will also be of relevance in the identification of 
exploitation through communicating with passengers and their interaction with others”.  
 
A risk that should be noted, is the cost implication of delivering (whether in house or via a 
third party) language proficiency tests and therefore ultimately the cost to the applicant. 
Whilst some local authorities outside of the city region choose not to require this element 
in their licensing of drivers, this could remain a motivation for drivers to seek their licences 
elsewhere. As most GM authorities currently have the standard within their fee structure, 
it is considered best to retain the standard and continue to make this point to the DfT. 
Officers will be looking at joint procurement of providers going forward.  
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the standard as proposed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



  

Proposed Standard 5 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Driving Proficiency Tests 
It is proposed that all new drivers will be 
required to pass a taxi/private hire on-road 
assessment with a GM approved supplier. 
 

 
Driving Proficiency Tests  
 
This proposed MLS standard is not 
currently in place. 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Driving a licensed vehicle does require additional skills to those assessed in a standard 
driving test. Taxi and PH driving proficiency tests are conducted by DSA test examiners 
and require the driver to demonstrate a level of driving skill and ability associated with that 
of an experienced driver as well as a sound knowledge of the highway code. The test 
takes into account that drivers have additional road safety responsibilities to their 
passengers, and the safe conveyance of passengers. Some manoeuvres tested include: 

 Safe turning of the car around in the road 
 Safe stopping at the side of the road (a safe distance from the kerb and ensuring 

there are no instructions for passengers) 
 A wheelchair exercise (loading/unloading and securing safely) 

 
Authorities regularly receive complaints from customers who feel their driver lacked safe 
driving skills, or sufficient knowledge of the highway code and this proposal seeks to 
improve the overall quality of driver licensed within the region. 
 
Currently half the GM authorities have this requirement in policy, and the proposal is that 
all new drivers will  be required to pass a taxi or private hire on-road assessment with a 
GM approved supplier (those that currently require have a list of approved suppliers at 
present). 
 
Due to some drivers who have migrated from Europe being able to convert to a UK licence 
it is highly likely that they will not have been tested against UK standards including the 
highway code.   
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
53 comments were made from general public respondents 
28 comments were made from trade respondents 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Driving 
Proficiency 
Test 

53 10 10 3 0 0 5 

 
 

Page 69



This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Support proficiency 
tests proposals 

39 7 3 1 0 0 5 

Proficiency training / 
test should be live not 
virtual 

3 0 0 1 0 0 0 

A driver proficiency test 
would not serve any 
purpose for experienced 
drivers. 

6 3 7 1 0 0 0 

Driving proficiency 
should be constantly 
tested 

6 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Base 53 10 10 3 0 0 5 

 
This proposal didn’t elicit as many comments are other standards, but of those comments 
made, most were in general support and felt that it should be compulsory.   
 

“Driving proficiency tests - most drivers are ok, but I have come across several 
that I wonder how they ever passed a driving test. Some have total ignorance e.g. 
doing a 3 point turn on a busy main road at a blind junction is stupid, this 
happened to us in a taxi - nearly caused an accident -the taxi driver started 
shouting at the other innocent drivers calling them stupid.” (Public, age 65-74, 
Trafford) 

“Driver proficiency test. Driving standards need to be improved, there are 
currently many private hire vehicles driven badly, with seemingly little awareness 
of traffic laws, and a lack of consideration for other road users.” (Public, age 35-
44, Bury) 

“Drivers need to be taught how to drive a Taxi, not just a vehicle.  It is a customer 
service industry. Poor local knowledge and a reliance on technology has severely 
lowered standards.” (Hackney Driver, Wigan) 

“Driving proficiency should be constantly tested. Perhaps every 3 years or after 
complaints on their driving conduct.” (Public, age 25-34, Stockport) 

“Driving proficiency tests. Applicants must have held a UK licence for a minimum 
of two years. Foreign and EU countries licences not acceptable to drive a PHV or 
taxi in the UK. A minimum of 45 minutes’ drive on a variety of road types plus 
several stops to alight as if requested by passengers.  A safe reversing 
manoeuvre and three-point turn. Questions on the highway code, and some road 
signs. Must demonstrate ability to remain calm and focused whilst being 

Page 70



questioned en route. No serious or dangerous faults allowable.” (Operator, 
Manchester) 

However, some drivers (10 in total) did comment that they did not feel the test was 
necessary: 

“With the use of Sat Nav is the knowledge test a necessity, especially considering 
most drivers reside within the vicinity. Driver proficiency is just unnecessary 
especially if a driver has more than 5+ years of driving experience” (PHV Driver, 
Trafford and outside Greater Manchester) 

“Driving proficiency tests not ness just another pain in neck current driving licence 
enough.” (Hackney Driver, Wigan) 

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Driving Proficiency Tests standard: Most of the comments received from the public 
were supportive (n=5) and one said it should be constantly checked. One hackney driver 
also supported the proficiency test whereas three Private Hire Vehicle drivers stated “it 
won’t serve any purpose.” 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
As this proposal is for new applicants only, Members have raised that the majority of the 
existing fleet of over 18,000 GM licensed drivers will not have undertaken this assessment 
and benefited from the knowledge provided in training. Members also highlighted that 
such courses should be repeated at intervals (akin to other transport sectors) to realise 
the benefits for the travelling public but recognise the additional cost burden this would 
present to licensees at this challenging time. It is noted however that a proposal to 
implement the standard for existing fleets has not been consulted upon at this time and 
so due consideration will have to be given to this in the future if this is proposed. 
 
However, as is the case currently, where a driver’s proficiency is called into question 
(through complaints, officer observations and/or traffic related offences), it remains an 
option for authorities upon review of the driver’s licence, to determine that the driver 
undertake a relevant proficiency course and assessment.  
 
Fees for these tests average around £100 (for both theory and practical). Again, joint 
procurement is likely across GM for this policy area.  
 
It is noted that the introduction of this standard across the board at this uncertain time for 
the trade may also further deter new and renewal applicants to GM authorities; who 
instead seek to find the easiest and cheapest route to being licensed elsewhere. As well 
as further risking licensing services cost recovery models; under the current national 
system, such drivers would continue to work and operate within GM anyway (thereby GM 
residents and visitors would not benefit from this standard in any event). Again, continued 
lobbying of government can seek to highlight and address this risk. 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the standard for new drivers at an agreed date in 2022, and utilise in licence 
reviews as appropriate with immediate effect. 
 
To consider the implementation for existing drivers at a later date. 
 

 

 

Proposed Standard 6 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Driver Training 
It is proposed that all authorities require drivers 
to undertake training in the following areas as a 
minimum: 
- Safeguarding  
- Child Sexual Exploitation 
- Human Trafficking and County Lines  
- Disability and dementia awareness 
- Licensing Law 

 
 

 
Driver Training  
 
All applicants for a private hire or 
hackney carriage licence must 
undertake a “Licensing Coaching 
Session” prior to sitting the Area 
Knowledge Test.  
 
The “Coaching Session” covers training 
/ information about the Area Knowledge 
Test, licensing conditions, equality / 
disability awareness, safeguarding 
matters around CSE and County lines, 
awareness of domestic violence and 
hate crime.  
 
Existing drivers were offered 
safeguarding training in 2014. If driver 
standards fall below than what is 
expected, drivers are also then required 
to attend another Coaching Session. 
Drivers may also voluntarily attend 
Coaching sessions for further refresher 
training.   
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
The primary purpose of any training required for a licensed driver is to improve public 
safety. By ensuring that licence holders are aware of important issues related to their 
occupation as a public transport provider; ensuring they understand their responsibilities, 
the licensing regulatory regime, the requirements of their licence conditions and what role 
they play in identifying and reporting safeguarding issues and criminal activity. 
 
As front facing services to the public, licensing authorities recognise the significant and 
positive role that licensees can play in supporting regulators to protect members of the 
public, by identifying and reporting concerns relating to safeguarding and criminality.  

Page 72



Driver training builds on this recognition to ensure licensees are well placed in identifying 
relevant issues, knowing how to report and in turn supporting the public safety objective. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
70 comments were made from general public respondents 
29 comments were made from trade respondents 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Driver 
training 

70 9 7 1 2 0 10 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Additional training 
subjects should be 
included 

26 2 2 0 1 0 5 

Any Driver Training 
should be optional 5 5 4 1 0 0 1 

Safety needs improving 
for vulnerable groups 

23 0 1 0 0 0 2 

Driver behaviour needs 
improvement 13 0 0 0 1 0 0 

Agree with driver 
training 11 3 0 0 0 0 4 

Base 70 9 7 1 2 0 10 

 
Those making comments on this standard were mostly supportive or had additional 
suggestions to make with regards to improving the training. Safety, vulnerability, 
disabilities and additional needs were common threads.  
 

“Driver training to make drivers aware of peoples disabilities that should be obvious 
and treated as such. Basic driver courtesy of exiting the vehicle and assisting 
passenger with alighting the vehicle and also to any baggage that may be carried.” 
(Public, age 55-64, Tameside) 

“Knowledge tests should also include the use of facilities and technology within 
vehicles as they relate to disabled people. This is absolutely crucial and should 
include the use of ramps and the level of gradient which should be as shallow as 
possible, how to provide assistance to disabled passengers to access the vehicle, 

Page 73



how to secure passengers within the vehicle, including all types of wheelchairs and 
scooters and non-standards cycles, sometimes used by disabled people and 
provision of information to passengers about the licensing information of the drivers 
and vehicle.” (Organisation, Manchester Disabled People's Access Group) 

“In driver training it should include training regarding impact on pedestrians of 
pavement parking.” (Public, age 35-44, Stockport) 

“Driver training regarding vulnerable road users such as cyclists. I'm nearly hit daily 
by taxi drivers in Manchester while commuting.” (Public, age 25-34, Manchester) 

“I was just going to say that disability covers so many different impairments and 
people can have multiple impairments, some of which are not obvious, as well as 
mental health and all these may be challenging for the driver. The driver’s mental 
health should also be identified in there. It is also important to do training around 
speech impediments as a lot of drivers could identify somebody as drunk so yes, I 
think driver training is very important.” (User, Group 1) 

Amongst trade respondents, comments were very low again but those that did comment 
mostly felt the training should be optional: 

 
“I really don’t think there is any need for existing drivers to have driver training, when 
you have been driving a taxi for a number of years, and dealing with challenging 
road users, and the safety of your passengers, as you do as a professional driver, 
and the longer you have done this profession, I really don’t think there is any need 
for any other driver training, it would be a waste of resources.” (Hackney Driver, 
Wigan) 

“It is waste of time to do all this on regular basis, people have been driving for years 
and they do not need any more training for driving a taxi, all they need is a driving 
licence and good record as a citizen.” (Hackney Driver, Oldham) 

Other comments made on the standard were: 
 

“Pretty much, yeah, I think they do like a day’s training when you apply for a new 
badge, but they didn’t apply it to existing badge holders, so I think now if you were 
applying you have to do like a half a day course of some kind. But when they brought 
it in, they didn’t apply it to existing badge holders who have never done it. (PHV 
Driver, Rochdale) 

“We’ve never heard of it.  So, none of my drivers have had child safeguarding 
training.  I’ve never had it.  Yet in the new minimum standards proposals I’m 
supposed to be doing a DBS every single year, because I’m an operator.” (Operator, 
Trafford) 

 “The whole strategy for driver training should be centred around motivation to do 
well at the job and each training experience should leave a driver feeling positive 
and valued. Spending that bit extra finance if needed will be well worth it if these 
outcomes can be achieved. To raise standards in private hire in Greater Manchester 
I implore you to use the carrot as well as the stick. If drivers are attending training, 
whatever the subject, it can be made an enjoyable and attractive experience.” 
(Councillor, area not provided)  

Page 74



 
Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Driver Training standard: No comments from stakeholders during consultation.  
 
Comments and considerations 
 
Most of the GM authorities already require driver training for all new applicants, and some 
have retrospectively delivered safeguarding training to their existing drivers. The proposal 
seeks to ensure a fully consistent approach for new applicants, embedding the key 
elements of safeguarding, exploitation and disability awareness into the requirements for 
a licensed driver in the region. 
 
Whilst there is inevitably a cost associated to this requirement (whether delivered in house 
or by a third party provider), for most authorities it wouldn’t be additional to their current 
costs which already include this standard. There is again the risk that it may deter some 
applicants, but the risk of not requiring this training is considered to be much more 
significant to the travelling public. If delivered in house, this can be provided at a lower 
cost than some external courses on the market. The proposal did not elicit many 
comments from respondents and the majority made were in support. 
 
Authorities are at liberty to consider if and how they may wish to introduce the standard 
for existing licence holders. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the standard as proposed. 
 

 

 

Proposed Standard 7 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Dress Code 
 
It is proposed that a dress code is introduced 
to promote an improved and positive image 
of the licensed trade across the region. A 
proposed code is attached as Appendix 4 
 

 
Dress Code 
 
Council’s current licensing conditions refer 
to drivers having to be appropriately 
dressed, but does not specify what 
clothing / footwear is deemed as 
acceptable or not. 
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Licensing Authorities receive numerous complaints annually with regards to driver dress 
standards and related personal hygiene. In the worst examples, passengers have 
reported that drivers wearing shorts have had their private parts on display.  
 
Authorities are striving to achieve a higher standard of licensed driver fleet, and positive 
driver image for resident and visitor passengers is part of that standard of professionalism 

Page 75



we aim to achieve. It is merely about drivers considering and reflecting on what they wear 
as a licensed driver and not about uniform. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
102 comments were made from general public respondents 
91comments were made from trade respondents 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Dress Code 102 27 49 4 0 1 10 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Agree with dress code 21 2 2 1 0 0 2 

A designated uniform is 
uncomfortable to drive 
in all day 

9 9 8 0 0 0 3 

Disagree with a uniform 
(dress code) 70 17 39 2 0 1 5 

Cultural / religious attire 
should be permitted 

2 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Dress code should be 
decided by the firm 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 

Base 102 27 49 4 0 1 10 

 
This proposal received a relatively high number of comments compared to some of the 
other standards. The majority of those that made comments (among both public and trade) 
disagreed with the idea of a ‘uniform’ stating it wasn’t necessary or was uncomfortable. 
Comments made included: 
 

“Dress code as we are self-employed it is up to us what we wear as long as it is 
appropriate and not offensive” (PHV Driver, Tameside) 

“I don't think there is need to change the dress code as long as the driver is dressed 
appropriately.” (Hackney Driver, Manchester) 

“I am worried about dress code because we the private hire drive or hackney 
drivers spend many hours sitting and driving so we wear a dress who we feel 

Page 76



comfortable if there is dress code, I am afraid it can make us uncomfortable.” (PHV 
Driver, Manchester) 

“Dress code is very subjective and could put pressure on drivers who are already 
scrutinised and looked down on by the general public.” (Public, age 25-34, Bolton) 

“I don't really think dress code is that important. Taxi drivers should be allowed to 
wear whatever they want as long as it isn't offensive or inflammatory.” (Public, age 
18-24, Bury) 

“Agree with all proposal except for Dress Code, which will have little benefit to the 
public.” (Organisation, Brandlesholme Community Centre) 

“I couldn’t care less what my driver wears, if I’m honest. as long as it’s not kind of, 
they look like they’ve just rolled out of bed, kind of thing.” (User, Group 15) 

38 of the trade respondents that commented and disagreed with the proposal were from 
an Asian background. 
 
Other comments received included: 
 

“Dress code; would make drivers look professional to visitors to the area plus I 
would be more confident in the driver.” (Public, age 55-64, Manchester) 

“Well, I support the dress code.  I think it’s broad enough, so if somebody’s 
wearing jeans it’s not a big issue, but if their personal hygiene is not good, then it 
would be an issue, so yeah.” (User, Group 1) 

“It’s illegal to drive a private hire vehicle wearing shorts which are not below the 
knee. So, they’ve got to be knee length shorts.  I know the licensing laws, it’s 
illegal to drive a taxi in flipflops.  Yeah, half these drivers wouldn’t know, I’ve told 
drivers that in the past, being a manager, I’ve pulled people in saying you can’t 
wear that.  You’re not meant to wear a football shirt when you’re driving a private 
hire vehicle either.” (Operator, Trafford) 

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Driver Dress Code standard:  PHV drivers (n=7) disagreed with the dress code stating 
that they should be able to wear whatever they wish since they are self-employed. Five 
members of the public also disagreed with the dress code whereas three agreed. 
 
“We are self employed unless within the current costs you provide a uniform why should 
we. We are self employed not employed otherwise will take legal action on anything thats 
is proposed as employed type status” (PHV driver). 
 
“The dress code I am against since I am self employed, why should I wear a uniform” 
(PHV driver). 
 
“My only concern is the dress code. As long as the drivers and their clothes are clean that 
should suffice. They shouldn’t have to wear the same uniform or anything over the top like 
a tie. On hot days or any other time they should be allowed to wear shorts if desired.” 
(Public, age 55-64) 
 

Page 77



The majority of hackney driver’s comments were in agreement with the driver standards 
with a few stating many of them are already in place in Rochdale; although they also 
disagreed with the proposed dress code. 
 
“We already have some of these proposals in Rochdale. When I first became a 
Hackney Carriage Driver I had to do a Knowledge test and Driver training. A dress 
code should be implemented within reason i.e. smart casual.” (Hackney driver) 
 
An operator also commented: 
“We already have all of these and putting more red tape will not change anything 
As an operator, we always keep an eye on our drivers as we cannot afford to get a bad 
publicity from a bad driver so every customer is valued deeply and drivers know that 
customers will come first” (PHV Operator) 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
Some of the comments elicited in the response suggest the respondents did not refer to 
the Appendix in the accompanying information booklet that outlined the proposed dress 
code, as there is reference to disagreeing with a ‘uniform’ and some respondents seem 
to be under the impression the dress code is prescriptive.  
 
On the contrary, the outline dress code proposed does not seek to introduce a uniform or 
be overly prescriptive, but instead simply aims to make clear both for drivers and 
compliance officers what is deemed acceptable and what isn’t in a broad sense, to provide 
consistency across the board whilst respecting, for example, religious dress.  
 
Therefore despite the fact that most of the comments made were in general disagreement 
with this standard, it is considered the concerns raised by those respondents are already 
addressed by the broad way in which the dress code is already proposed. Having said 
that, alterations to the draft dress code are proposed in response to provide even further 
flexibility on what would be deemed as acceptable as follows: 
 
*shirts can include t-shirt or polo shirt 
*tracksuits to be removed from the list of unacceptable sportswear (tracksuits will 
be acceptable as long as they adhere to the other conditions i.e. don’t contain 
words or graphics that could be deemed as offensive, and clean, free from holes, 
rips or other damage) 
 
Dress code policies are not unique in GM and a number of Authorities already have them. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the standard as proposed. 
 

 

 

 

Page 78



Proposed Standard 8 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Drug and Alcohol Testing 
 
It is proposed that a policy is developed to 
introduce testing for drivers based on 
complaints or intelligence received. 
 

 
Drug and Alcohol Testing  
 
This proposed MLS standard is not 
currently in place in an GM district. 
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Driving under the influence of drugs and/or alcohol poses a significant risk to the public 
and other road users. Other driving professions undergo testing in this regard and 
following discussions, the GM authorities felt this was an important policy area to consult 
upon in principle at this stage.  
 
It should be noted that Greater Manchester Police already act on concerns observed in 
the course of their general engagement with road users at large, but that this proposal will 
strengthen partnership working and ensure that any intelligence relating to substance 
misuse by licensees is acted upon consistently across GM as per the policy.  
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
31 comments were made from general public respondents 
18 comments were made from trade respondents 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Drug and 
Alcohol 
Testing 

31 7 5 0 0 0 6 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Agree Drivers should be 
regularly tested for 
drugs and alcohol 

29 6 3 0 0 0 5 

Disagree with drug and 
alcohol testing 

0 1 1 0 0 0 1 

Concern about abuse of 
the system 

2 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Base 31 7 5 0 0 0 6 

Page 79



 
Few comments were received about this proposal in principle, but those that did comment 
were mostly in favour of the standard:  
 

“These are all good subjects. The drivers already go through these checks. The 
only one that is new is drink and drugs test which should be necessary and a 
must. A very good and positive step.” (PHV Driver, Bury) 

“I agree with all these points. For a woman getting into a vehicle with someone 
she does not know is very risky and some people have taken advantage of 
women when they could perhaps be travelling home late at night. Taxi drivers 
should not have a criminal background and should be regularly tested for drugs 
and alcohol as they are providing a public service.” (Public, age 55-64, Trafford) 

The small number of negative views however raised concerns that the proposal was 
duplication of existing arrangements and about possible abuse of the system: 

 “Drivers are already subject to drug and alcohol testing by the police. It is not 
acceptable for the trades to be subject to LA roadside drug and alcohol checks.” 
(Hackney Driver, Manchester) 

“Drug and alcohol testing- DISAGREE the GM hackney trade is already subject 
to such testing by GMP.” (Unite the Union - Manchester Hackney Carriage) 

 “Drug and alcohol testing - what are the circumstances when this will be 
enforced? I hope it will not be just at the whim of a customer that makes a 
complaint, there would need to be clear guidance or policy.” (Public, age 35-44, 
Manchester) 

“Drugs and alcohol testing for drivers, it's a good idea but can be open to abuse 
if only on complaint or anonymous report by people and passengers who have 
a personal issue with a driver due to other reasons can use this as a tool to 
abuse and cause unnecessary problem for that driver so I don't agree with this 
proposal as bus drivers/tram drivers  don't get tested.” (PHV Driver, Manchester) 

During the qualitative in-depth interviews a handful of users expressed surprise the 
standard wasn’t already in place, but also suggested it may be difficult to enforce: 

 “I’m quite shocked that the drug and alcohol one isn’t in place. Because that 
makes you kind of question whether or not, well should I be questioning now 
(the driver’s behaviour) when I get in the taxi.” (User, Group 2) 

 “It seems sensible to have a consistent policy in place for all involved, know 
what the process is for complaining etc.” (User, Group 2) 

 “I think it’s more problematic around drug testing. because, you know, it’s 
difficult enough to know whether somebody’s been taking certain kinds of 
drugs and you know, I mean there’s so many different effects of different kinds 
of drugs that can produce inappropriate behaviour of dangerous behaviour, but 
I think the police have difficulty in themselves, you know, if you’re on 
amphetamines, you know, that could have a bad effect, not just cannabis.  It’s 
not just cannabis these days, is it, it’s other things.” (User, Group 1) 

Page 80



Some drivers were open to increased monitoring and policing of this amongst drivers, but 
felt it was difficult when there are drivers from outside of the region.  

“If they brought back spot checks and just did, you know, I’d imagine drug and 
alcohol might be police rather than council, but if they just did a pull over at the 
side of the road, breathalysed you and did whatever you have to do for a drugs 
test, I think it’d be quite, you know, if they do it random or like you said, if the 
customer reports a driver thinking they smell alcohol and followed it up.  Yeah, 
but I think the only problem is, a lady was once saying to me she wanted to 
make a complaint and I said, it was an out of area town, you know, I’ll use the 
example of Wolverhampton again, this lady, you know, they’re working in 
Trafford, so she contacted Trafford Council only to find that it was 
Wolverhampton she had to contact.” (PHV Driver, Trafford) 

Most drivers and operators felt this was a positive step and would encourage it to be 
monitored whilst a fair and clear process could be introduced.  

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Drug & Alcohol Testing standard: No comments from stakeholders during consultation. 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
This is an area that licensing authorities and Members have considered due to general 
feedback from members of the public and complaints concerning drivers who may be 
using or under the influence of drugs whilst driving.  
 
Other driving professions such as train, bus and HGV drivers already undergo regular 
drug and alcohol testing as part of the annual medical examination as well as random 
testing, and there is a clear argument that due to the public safety responsibility of licensed 
drivers there should be a similar policy in place.  
 
The Statutory guidance issued last year does not refer directly to random or targeting 
testing of existing fleet but does suggest that authorities should consider requiring new 
applicants who have had previous convictions for drugs related offences (that are outside 
of the conviction policy guidelines and therefore is eligible to be considered for a licence), 
to undergo drugs testing for a period at their own expense to demonstrate that they are 
not using controlled drugs. 
 
Any such policy would have to ensure it complied with HSE and ICO guidance on risk and 
data collection, and consider the following issues: 

 How testing will be targeted ensuring fairness and transparency 
 Frequency of testing 
 Who will deliver the testing  
 How data will be collected and held 

 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To develop a full policy proposal to be brought back to Members in 2022. 
 

 

Page 81



Proposed Standard 9 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Private Hire Driver Licence Conditions  
 
A set of proposed licence conditions for 
Private Hire Drivers are set out at Appendix 5.  
The conditions cover a comprehensive set of 
expectations with regards to driver behaviour, 
including customer service and requirements 
on reporting. 
 

 
Private Hire Driver Licence 
Conditions 
 
The Council is permitted to impose such 
conditions, as it considers reasonably 
necessary, on Private hire drivers 
licences. The Council already has a suite 
of its own licensing conditions which are 
broadly similar in content and context to 
those proposed by the MLS standard of 
conditions. 
 
(The intention of the MLS proposed 
conditions are to make the conditions  
identical, consistent and harmonious 
throughout all of the GM districts).    
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Each local authority already has licence conditions for their private hire drivers, but they 
vary across the conurbation. The Licensing Managers Group reviewed their own 
conditions and collectively proposed a set of updated and revised conditions, with an 
enhanced focus on the expectations on drivers with regards to dealing with passengers, 
assisting those with disabilities and proactively reporting relevant matters to the licensing 
authority. 
 
Specific new conditions were also proposed to tackle and deter the high volume of private 
hire drivers and vehicles (mirrored in the proposed Private Hire Operator and Vehicle 
licence conditions) seen in busier districts and town centres. Recent years have seen a 
proliferation of private hire drivers and vehicles at these locations as technological 
advances and business models mean that private hire vehicles can now be booked 
‘almost instantly’. Whilst legislation still makes a clear distinction between Hackney 
Carriages that can be hailed for immediate hire on the street, and private hire vehicles 
that still require that a pre-booking to be made via a licensed Operator; the general public 
often have no awareness of the difference or requisite process … as such we now often 
have an environment where private hire drivers plot and circle around busier locations 
pre-empting demand, but also taking advantage of the often chaotic conditions created 
by high levels of congestion and confusion as passengers just want to get home. Pre-
pandemic, the private hire sector saw high levels of over supply with numerous operators 
and drivers competing for the same finite business; an environment in itself creating an 
impetus for illegally plying (drivers offering fares outside of the booking process to 
undercut competitors) and often creating unsafe driving conditions in heavily 
pedestrianised and congested areas as private hire vehicles often double park and stop 
and wait in contravention of traffic orders in order to get as close as possible to prospective 
customers. In addition, the high volume of plotting and circling around districts and town 
centres creates more unnecessary emissions. 
 

Page 82



Without substantial proactive compliance, private hire drivers can be present in busier 
areas, appearing available for hire, and effectively plying their trade as such. This has had 
a significant impact on the Hackney Trade in recent years who (in most districts) pay a 
premium for purpose built accessible vehicles and the ability to ply their trade on ranks 
(depending on the authority’s fee model, costs associated with providing for the Hackney 
rank provision and marshalling can be added to the costs used to calculate the relevant 
fee). Many less scrupulous drivers take advantage of this environment, illegally plying for 
hire and picking up un-booked fares. Furthermore, in busier areas and particularly busy 
night-time economies, this also creates an environment where drivers with ill intent or 
unlicensed drivers are more easily able to pick up vulnerable people. 
 
In the absence of national legislative reform on this issue, the proposed conditions seek 
to help alleviate some of the harm and risk caused by this behaviour, by requiring drivers 
who do not have a booking to plot or wait away from busy and high footfall locations and 
away from designated ranks. It has been previously determined that it is not possible to 
require private hire drivers and vehicles to return to base on completion of a job, and 
authorities recognise that private hire operators will reasonably wish to ensure that their 
customer base are better serviced by having drivers and vehicles available in fairly close 
proximity to expected demand. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
5 comments were made from general public respondents 
4 comments were made from trade respondents 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Private Hire 
driver 
conditions 

5 1 2 0 0 0 1 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Agree with PHV 
conditions 

3 1 0 0 0 0 1 

It is unfair to 
standardise hackney 
and PHV drivers but 
have their work 
classified differently 

2 0 2 0 0 0 0 

Other  25 2 4 1 1 0 1 

Comments about CAP 1 1 2 0 0 0 1 

Page 83



Base 31 4 8 1 1 0 3 

 
Very few comments were received about the proposed Private Hire licence conditions. 
 
One organisation feared if conditions were too onerous then drivers would leave Greater 
Manchester. 
 

“Private hire driver conditions - AGREE but fear that if PHV driver standards 
are too restrictive they will shop elsewhere under cross-border legislation.” 
(Unite the Union -Manchester Hackney Carriage) 

 “All of these changes are welcome, however there needs to be parity between 
taxis and private hire vehicles. It is unfair to standardise them but have their 
work be classified differently. I pay more in a Hackney cab and they can use 
the bus lane, however whilst in a private hire they cannot charge waiting time 
but cannot use the bus lane. There needs to be standardisation across the 
travel industry. Private hire taxi drivers should be allowed to use bus lanes in 
the same way as in other cities such as Sheffield.” (Public, age 25-34, Salford) 

 
Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Private Hire Driver Licence conditions standard: No comments from stakeholders 
during consultation. 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
There is a risk as raised by one respondent that stricter conditions will motivate private 
hire drivers to get licensed outside of GM but continue to work in the area anyway. This 
is the case for many of these proposals as identified at the beginning of the report, and 
will require strong representations to be made to government to highlight this risk to 
authorities seeking to raise the bar in taxi and private hire licensing. 
 
Many of the licence conditions proposed already exist in one form or another across the 
conurbation with regards to driver conduct and administrative responsibilities. It is 
considered that those that don’t already exist are critical to assisting authorities tackle the 
negative impacts of sub-contracting. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the standard as proposed. 
 

 

Page 84



APPENDIX 2 PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR STANDARDS; 

 

Proposed Standard 1 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Private Hire Operator Licence Conditions 
 
A set of proposed licence conditions for 
Private Hire Operators are set out at 
Appendix 6.  
The conditions set out expectation and 
responsibilities with regards to how records 
should be kept in relation to booking, vehicle 
and drivers working for their company. 
 

 
Private Hire Operator Licence 
conditions 
 
The Council is permitted to impose such 
conditions, as it considers reasonably 
necessary, on Private hire operator 
licences. The Council already has its 
suite of own licensing conditions which 
are broadly similar in content and context 
to the proposed MLS standard of 
conditions. 
 
(The intention of the MLS proposed 
conditions are to make them identical, 
consistent and harmonious throughout 
all of the GM districts).    
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Each local authority already has licence conditions for their private hire operators, but they 
vary across the conurbation. The Licensing Managers Group reviewed their own 
conditions and collectively proposed a set of updated and revised conditions, with an 
enhanced focus on the expectations on Operators with regards to records and staff 
vetting.   
 
Specific new conditions were also proposed to make it clearer and easier for licensing 
authorities to scrutinise records and bookings that have been sub-contracted. Due to the 
high level of bookings being subcontracted, local standards have been undermined and 
the travelling public lack awareness of the implications for their safety. The proposed 
conditions require operators to make it clear to passengers which authority the vehicle 
and driver they are dispatching is licensed by. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
Less than a fifth of respondents in each category chose to comment on the Operator 
standard proposals (19% of member of the public, 12% of Hackney respondents and 11% 
or PHV respondents). Those that provided a comment gave a significant number of 
general comments:  
 
 

Page 85



 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

General 
Comments 

 

80 13 17 6 0 1 4 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 
General Comment on 
Operator Standards 

General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Agree with the 
proposals (general) 67 8 6 3 0 1 4 

Disagree with the 
proposals (general) 3 3 6 0 0 0 0 

Concerns of illegal 
activities 

8 2 0 2 0 0 0 

Proposals are already 
in place 

3 1 5 1 0 0 0 

Base 80 13 17 6 0 1 4 

 

Almost half of all comments received gave a general comment about proposal and the 
response was varied: 

General public: generally expressed agreement with the proposed standard: 

“These are important measures to make sure every journey is safer for 
everyone.” (Public, age 25-34, Bolton) 

Hackney drivers: generally expressed agreement with the proposed standard, however, 
three disagreed: 

“I believe that this is a good idea which will help to protect the public and make 
them feel safe to know and should be their right as a minimum” (Hackney Driver, 
Tameside) 

PHV drivers: expressed a very mixed view with six giving a positive comment and six a 
negative one about the proposed standard. 

“Because either a driver or operator we all are providing public service and we 
all should go through same procedure.” (PHV Driver, Oldham) 

“They already keep records of bookings, driver and vehicles details.” (PHV 
Driver, Oldham) 

Page 86



Concern about illegal activities: There was some concerns raised by hackney drivers 
(n=2) and members of the public (n=8) with the current enforcement and emphasised the 
need for this to be addressed.  

“A severe crackdown on non-complying drivers/operators will need to be carried 
out as I think the requirements will be extremely onerous to them and illegal 
companies will be set up” (Public, age 55-64, Bolton) 

“Too many stories of taxi drivers getting a licence then 3 drivers driving the 
vehicle on same licence. It’s not fair or safe” (Hackney Driver, Wigan) 

 
This table shows the breakdown of responses where comments were made specifically 
about the licence conditions showing only 9 members of the trades commented on the 
conditions: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Common 
licence 
conditions 

39 1 7 1 0 0 0 

 
The following are a selection of the concerns raised in the comments about conditions: 
 

“Please can it be considered to make it compulsory to allow guide dogs and other 
assistance dogs in all vehicles and that a text or similar system should be installed 
to help deaf or hearing-impaired people communicate.” (Public, age 45-54, 
Salford) 

“The drivers cancelling jobs should be controlled, I’ve been stranded at work a 
number of times when taxi companies cancel the jobs after accepting it!” (Public, 
age 35-44, Manchester) 

“Common licence conditions: Answering phone calls courteously, clearly, 
providing relevant information asked for by the user. Providing taxi when called 
for, not absconding / avoiding a call / not having a taxi that does not show up. 
Clear information about fares and timeframe - time of arrival, approximate time to 
destination.  Criminal record checks: same as before, further protection of female 
passengers, especially in Rochdale area.” (Public, age 25-34, Rochdale) 

“With the advent of technology, it should be simple of the driver to be able to give 
a cost of the journey before it begins.  This creates transparency for all and stops 
differing fares for the same journey.” (Public, age 35-44, Bolton) 

 “Please bring some kind of checks where all local authorities should be able to 
check/monitor the way work gets distributed as many drivers don't get same work 
but when it comes to radio money everyone pays same but some get more work 
in terms of favouritism.” (PHV Driver, Bury) 

“I’ve had a few racist remarks made to me by taxi drivers in Manchester, the 
operators don’t take complaints seriously.   Drivers should have to have ID visible 

Page 87



at all times and operators should be required to have some complaints process 
which can be reviewed by Greater Manchester councils.” (Public, age 25-34, 
Salford) 

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Private Hire Operator licence conditions standard: No comments from stakeholders 
during consultation. 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
There was no strong opposition overall to the Operator licence conditions, with comments 
from within the trades minimal in number and the vast majority of those that responded 
supporting the proposal. Members of the public overwhelmingly agreed with the Operators 
standards in general.  
 
There was strong opposition voiced by one Operator both about the conditions in general 
and with regards to a number of individual conditions as referred to above and these have 
been fully considered, resulting in some amendments. The proposed conditions seek to 
protect the integrity of the standards within each of the 10 GM authorities, and assist 
officers to more effectively address and tackle issues that undermine public safety. 
 
A number of the concerns made in the comments fall outside the remit of the proposed 
standard (it is already compulsory in law for example for drivers to allow assistance dogs 
to be carried in the vehicle unless the vehicle is exempt, or the way Operators distribute 
work to their employees), but overall there was a keenness that Operators should be more 
robustly monitored and scrutinised through effective compliance, which begins with clear 
and robust licence conditions. 
 
As with the private hire driver licence conditions, there is a risk that stricter conditions will 
motivate private hire operators to simply obtain Operator licences in other authorities and 
use drivers and vehicles licensed by those authorities to fulfil bookings taken by the 
Operator based within GM. This is the case for many of these proposals as identified at 
the beginning of the report and will require strong representations to be made to 
government to highlight this risk to authorities seeking to raise the bar in taxi and private 
hire licensing. 
 
Many of the licence conditions proposed already exist in one form or another across the 
conurbation. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the Standard as proposed. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



Proposed Standard 2 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Criminal Record Checks for Operators 
and Staff 
 
To introduce a condition on the Operator 
licence requiring operators and their staff 
(paid or unpaid) who have access to bookings 
to be DBS checked annually to ensure that 
only safe and suitable people have access to 
operator records. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Criminal Record Checks for Operators 
and Staff  
 
Applicants or existing licensee’s for a 
Private Hire Operators Licence are 
already subject to a standard DBS check 
(the level that is only permitted for this 
particular cohort of licensed individuals), 
unless they have undertaken an 
Enhanced DBS check due to being the 
holder of a private hire / hackney carriage 
driver’s licence.  
 
The MLS proposed standard around DBS 
checks for staff working at operators 
places of business is not currently in 
place.   
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
It has been an identified gap in the licensing regime for a while that Operator staff are not 
required to be vetted in any way in relation to their character and criminal record.  
 
The Statutory Guidance makes it clear that although Operators and their staff have 
minimal if any direct contact with passengers, licensing authorities should be assured that 
those granted Operator licences and their staff, also pose no threat to the public and have 
no links to serious criminal activity. For example, an Operator base dispatcher decides 
which driver to send to a user, a position that could be exploited by those seeking to exploit 
children and vulnerable adults. As licensing authorities we must be satisfied that these 
individuals (as well as drivers) are safe and suitable individuals to have access to such 
information and opportunity. The guidance goes on to specifically state: 
 
“Operators should be required to evidence that they have had sight of a basic DBS check 
on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch staff”.  
 
It also goes on to state: 
“Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions, but they cannot pass on the 
obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should be required to 
evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company to which they outsource 
these functions.” 
 
Whilst the guidance does not go wider than those staff, the GM MLS proposes that all staff 
employed either in a paid or unpaid capacity should be subject to these checks. As 
practitioners we are aware of the opportunity than any staff member within an Operator 
company has access to sensitive or personal information that could be misused to take 
advantage of or exploit passengers or their possessions, and consider it reasonable to 
require Operators to ensure their staff have the basic DBS check at least annually. 

Page 89



Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
A fair number of comments were made by members of the public in relation to this 
proposal alongside 40 comments from trade respondents: 
 

 
Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Criminal record 
checks for 
operators and 
staff 

76 13 16 6 0 2 3 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

 Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Agree with all operators 
and staff having criminal 
record checks 

59 9 8 1 0 0 1 

Agree because 
operators hold a lot of 
private information 

3 0 0 0 0 0 1 

The operator should not 
need DBS check 

8 2 2 3 0 1 0 

Concerns about data 
protection with DBS 
checks / amount of 
details operators keep 

3 0 3 0 0 1 0 

DBS checks should be 
less frequent / less than 
annually 

2 2 3 2 0 0 1 

DBS checks should be 
more frequent / every 6 
months 

2 0 1 0 0 0 0 

Base 76 13 16 6 0 2 3 

 
Most comments expressed agreement with the proposed checks: 
 

“Don’t have an issue with operators having CRB checks done.” (Operator, 
Rochdale) 

“Anyone who has close dealings from the public should have a criminal 
record check, including the people mentioned here. Also, checks must be 

Page 90



made to make sure the person who is the driving licence holder is actually 
the person who took the test.” (Public, age 65-74, Salford) 

“Criminal record check for all operators and their staff should be mandatory 
every six months, and enforcement checking conducting frequently” (Public, 
age 55-64, Bolton) 

“Ensures a level playing field across private hire drivers and operators as 
there are many who currently don’t have to go through the same processes 
as drivers yet they play an equally as important role especially with regards 
to having DBS checks. It would also be better for the authority to implement 
annual enhanced DBS checks, similar to what is used by healthcare 
professionals - this will help maintain the integrity of drivers and whittle out 
any drivers who don’t conform to their licence conditions.” (PHV Driver, 
Bolton) 

“Criminal records checks for operators are crucial and should be taken more 
seriously.  Operators have access to sensitive information and making sure 
that information doesn't fall in the wrong hands is paramount for the safety 
of the public.” (Public, age 25-34, Bolton) 

 
A relatively small number (8 members of the public and 8 trade respondents) were in 
disagreement with the checks on operator staff: 
 

“I see no reason for a DBS check to be mandatory for call handlers. Only 
drivers need any sort of check.” (Public, age 18-24, location not provided) 

“Why should staff in the office be required to have DBS checks. It’s a private 
business and by law we are allowed to employ anyone who is hard working 
and will be good on the phones. Is everyone working in hotels or shops have 
a DBS check. In our society, if one has served their time, then they are 
allowed to interact with normal society Staff in the office have to adhere to 
strict data protection laws and GDPR so this is again an extra burden on small 
businesses with extra costs.  Why don’t you check Uber and see who their 
directors and staff are. They have been charged with data breaches and you 
have given them operators licence again and again.  So, this is a totally 
draconian measure in our opinion.” (Operator, Rochdale) 

“Criminal record checks for staff working in a taxi base, so if there was 
conviction a long time ago for fighting or ex ex etc. is it fair for them not to get 
a job as a phone staff.” (Hackney Driver, Bolton) 

Some comments expressed concern about the frequency of check and suggested 
a lack of understanding about the DBS Update Service facilitating frequent checks 
online simply using the certificate number (without the requirement to apply for a 
new certificate each time): 

“DBS checks every year would be impossible to monitor and control for 
large firms, no other industry does this.” (Public, age 55-64, Bolton) 

“DBS checks every year? This is ridiculous. Even teachers only have 1 
DBS throughout their professional career, providing they do not have a 

Page 91



break for longer than 3 months. Some schools actually do a 3 yearly DBS, 
but it is not needed by law or a requirement. Why do you think it’s a good 
idea for operators to require a yearly DBS?” (Operator, Trafford) 

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Criminal Record Checks for Operators and Staff standard: Six members of the public 
and one PHV driver stated they agreed with all operators and staff having criminal record 
checks. Two PHV drivers suggested that operators shouldn’t need DBS check. 
 
“Criminal record checks: same as before, further protection of female passengers, 
especially in Rochdale area.” (public, age 25-34) 
 
“No need for staff to have crb they don’t come into contact with the public” (PHV driver) 
 
One PHV Operator commented: 
 
“Why should staff in the office be required to have DBS checks. It’s a private business 
and by law we are allowed to employ anyone who is hard working and will be good on the 
phones. Is everyone working in hotels or shops have a DBS check. In our society, if one 
has served their time, then they are allowed to interact with normal society Staff in the 
office have to adhere to strict data protection laws and GDPR so this is again an extra 
burden on small businesses with extra costs. Why don’t you check Uber and see who their 
directors and staff are. They have been charged with data breaches and you have given 
them operators license again and again. So this is a totally draconian measure in our 
opinion” (PHV Operator) 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
Whilst most respondents were supportive, those that weren’t seemed to lack 
understanding of the specific risks within the sector. 
 
There will be additional cost burdens to Operators and their staff to carry out these checks 
initially, but once conducted an annual DBS Update fee can be utilised to reduce the 
annual cost to £13 per individual. Given the serious risks identified to children and 
vulnerable adults, this is considered to be a relatively low cost to mitigate the risk as a 
responsible employer within the industry. 
 
Whilst it could be considered further risk to impose stricter requirements on GM Operators, 
driving them to turn to other authorities, this risk is relatively low considering the 
recommendation in the statutory guidance is for all local authorities to require checks be 
conducted by their licensed Operators. The rationale for these checks is clearly made and 
supported in principle by the DfT’s latest guidance. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the standard as proposed. 
 

 

Page 92



APPENDIX 3 LOCAL AUTHORITY STANDARDS 

 

Proposed Standard 1 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Timescales for applications  
 
It is proposed that authorities ensure 
processes are in place to allow customer 
licence holders to submit renewal 
applications up to 8 weeks prior to licence 
expiry; and to ensure that once any 
application has been determined, the licence 
will be issued to the customer within a 
maximum of 5 working days. 
 
 

 
Timescale for applications 
 
Licences, identification plates and / or 
badges will be issued as soon as 
reasonably practicable.  
 
Pre-pandemic, existing licensees were 
expected to submit their renewal 
applications at least a month before the 
expiry of their licence to ensure timely 
renewal and receipt of licences.  
 
Since the pandemic, we have advised 
licensees to make applications for renewal 
at least 8 weeks prior to their licence 
expiry.   
 
Following determination of licence, 
licences are more often than not issued on 
the same day and well within any 5 
working day period as proposed by the 
MLS standard. 
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Licensing Authority processes and related timescales can understandably prompt 
complaints from licence holders when backlogs or delays are encountered within the 
licensing service. By setting some minimum standards to ensure a better customer service 
for licence holders and new applicants, authorities will also need to ensure that their 
relevant services are efficient and adequately resourced to provide value for money.  
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
Very few comments were received about this standard across the board: 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Timescales 
for 
applications  

5 0 13 0 0 0 3 

Page 93



This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Timescale for 
application should be 
less than 8 weeks 

3 0 4 0 0 0 3 

More or no time 
restrictions for 
application 

0 0 6 0 0 0 0 

Time scale needs 
improvement 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 

Base 5 0 13 0 0 0 3 

 
Comments noted that there are other issues related to the application process that can 
affect adherence to timescales: 
 
Six PHV drivers felt extra time should be allowed due to potential delays outside of their 
control such as DBS checks 
 

“Things take an age when waiting for things like DBS checks, medicals etc at 
no fault of the applicant, I think licences should be granted on long term renewal 
applicants of good character and in no way should he be suspended from 
earning a living. But if an applicant has lied about convictions etc his badge 
should be revoked and the driver be deemed untrustworthy to be a license [sic] 
holder.” (PHV Driver, Wigan) 

Three PHV drivers and two members of the public felt there were issues outside their 
control that affected the time taken to approve their application which negatively impacted 
their ability to work. 

“The applications are not a problem getting them in to the Licensing department 
within eight weeks. The problem is the DBS checks coming back in time which 
is not always the case and if they do not arrive on time the drivers cannot work. 
This is unacceptable this is our livelihood and cannot sit at home without work 
and no other income to feed our families. The drivers should be given extensions 
in these cases.” (PHV Driver, Oldham) 

“Timescales got applications is definitely one that needs overhauling. Covid has 
delayed applications which should never happen as plans should be in place for 
all eventualities of this stops a drivers from providing for his/her family.” (Public, 
age not provided, Bolton) 

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
General comments: PHV drivers had a split opinion on the local authority standards 
some supporting them (n=3) and others stating that no change is required (n=2). Two 

Page 94



members of the public felt change is not required. One member of the public generally 
agreed with the standards and one suggested taxi licensing should be centralised. 
 
“Leave as it is the way it’s run there are drivers that will be out of work because they can’t 
afford the new car” (PHV driver) 
 
“About time the council are accountable” (PHV driver) 
 
“I support these measures” (Public, age 45-54) 
 
Timescales for applications standard: No comments from stakeholders during 
consultation.   
 
Comments and considerations 
 
The few comments that were made tended to reference delays with DBS checks, which 
would be minimised on renewals if drivers register and stay registered to the DBS Update 
service (DBS checks are online and instant if registered). 
 
There is little risk to authorities in introducing this standard, and in a commercially 
competitive market, every benefit to outlining a minimum best practice for this element of 
the administration process to deter applicants seeking out authorities who have invested 
in efficient business systems and resources to deliver a timely service to customers. 
 
As licence fees should be calculated to cover the reasonable costs of this administration 
service, these standards are not affected by wider council budget constraints. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the standard as proposed. 
 

 

 

Proposed Standard 2 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
An agreed common enforcement approach 
 
It is proposed that a common enforcement 
approach is developed and adopted to ensure 
that standards are adhered to in practice. 
 

 
An agreed common enforcement 
approach 
 
The Council already has an existing 
proactive team of Senior Licensing 
Officers undertaking compliance checks 
throughout the Borough on licensed 
individuals and businesses (not only 
during the working day but also on 
evenings and weekends too on a rota 
basis). All compliance activities and any 
subsequent action are taken in 
accordance with the Service’s 

Page 95



Enforcement policy / Enforcement 
concordat. 
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Licence holders often refer officers to the fact that different decisions can be taken by 
different authorities when it comes to conduct and breach of licence matters. For any of 
these standards to be meaningful, it is important that they are implemented fairly and 
consistently both in decisions by officers and Members when reviewing licences at 
hearings.  
 
Some authorities also take a much more proactive approach to monitoring and ensuring 
that licence policies and conditions are adhered to in practice, a further disparity also often 
highlighted by licensees who comment about the lack of frequency of on street checks in 
some areas compared to others. Risks associated with taxi and private hire licensing are 
not informed by the size of fleet or size of district. The most common and serious risks 
(for example drivers or vehicle licence holders allowing unlicensed individuals to drive 
their vehicle or use their badge) exist regardless of geographical or other factors. 
Passengers travelling in vehicles licensed by one authority should be able to expect that 
the same level of proactive checks are conducted if they get in a vehicle licensed by a 
neighbouring authority.  
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
Very few comments were made about the proposed common enforcement approach.  
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Common 
Enforcement 
Approach 

6 2 2 0 0 0 3 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

 Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Different licensing fee 
for different Local 
Authorities 

3 2 0 0 0 0 0 

One fee across the 
county / General 
Agreement 

0 0 3 1 0 0 2 

Page 96



Licensing fee is very 
costly, and it should be 
affordable 

2 6 9 0 1 0 1 

Base 5 7 12 1 1 0 3 

 
Those that commented, noted the benefits of a standard approach across Greater 
Manchester: 
 

“Strongly agree. The need for common enforcement is of paramount importance 
given taxi drivers will operate across the GM boroughs. Councillors of course 
need training for this, though I would have thought these kind of approvals would 
be better suited to council officers than political members.” (Public, age 25-34, 
Salford) 

Just one representative and one member of the public expressed concern: 

“Enforcement Approach Each district has its own demands and as such some 
districts have little or no 'out of office enforcement'. How will this be addressed to 
ensure Manchester drivers are not the only drivers being subjected to full 
compliance.” (Organisation, Anonymous)  

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
An agreed common enforcement approach standard: No comments from 
stakeholders during consultation. 
 
Comments and considerations 
 
Whilst few comments were received, one highlighted above makes a particularly pertinent 
point; to ensure the integrity of MLS we need to avoid a scenario where private hire drivers 
consider it more preferable to choose to be licensed by any particular authority within the 
conurbation on the basis that they conduct relatively few proactive checks compared to 
other authorities. 
 
Considering that the level of compliance resource attributed to the licensing regime can 
be funded through the licence fees and ultimately affects and determines the licence fee, 
implementing this standard should also help ensure that the fees are more even and 
comparable across the board. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the Standard as proposed. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



Proposed Standard 3 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
A Common Fee Setting Framework 
 
It is proposed that a common methodology for 
setting the costs and calculating the taxi and 
private hire fees is agreed and adopted  
 

 
A Common Fee Setting Framework 
 
All taxi and private hire licensing charges 
are levied on a full cost recovery basis. 
Any decrease / increase in percentage 
on the uplift of fees and charges are 
approved by budget setting Council for 
adoption.  
 
It is very likely that other GM districts are 
taking into account similar 
considerations for the setting of their fees 
and charges, albeit may not be identical.  
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Alongside standardised administration processes and a common enforcement approach, 
adopting an agreed common methodology for setting the costs and calculating the licence 
fees will ensure fairness and parity across all 10 authorities. Currently there are various 
models in use, and alongside variance in standards, this provides a fairly wide variance 
in fees currently. It is important to ensure the integrity of the proposed standards work as 
a whole, and that authorities are consistent in their approach to fees so as not to 
undermine each other and to deter the very problem we are lobbying government to 
address. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
A total of 29 comments were made about the proposed common fee setting framework.  
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Licensing 
Fees 

5 7 12 1 1 0 3 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

 Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Different licensing fee 
for different Local 
Authorities 

3 2 0 0 0 0 0 

Page 98



One fee across the 
county / General 
Agreement 

0 0 3 1 0 0 2 

Licensing fee is very 
costly, and it should be 
affordable 

2 6 9 0 1 0 1 

Base 5 7 12 1 1 0 3 

 
A few hackney (n=6) and PHV (n=9) drivers felt the licensing fee is very costly 
and needed to be made more affordable for drivers.  

“Licensing fees should be reduced because mostly all forms are online so 
less manpower needed to process applications.” (PHV Driver, Bolton) 

“Licensing fees are already high for vehicles to be plated in 
Manchester...that is why a lot of private hire drivers have gone to different 
councils and got their vehicles plated” (Hackney Driver, Manchester) 

A handful of conflicting comments were received with some suggesting licensing 
fees should be different for different local authorities (2 hackney drivers). 

 “I don’t agree with licensing fees being the same across Greater 
Manchester as different areas will have different costs to run these 
departments but I think the discount we receive in Wigan for compliant 
vehicles should stay in place and also the fees should come down as admin 
is cut through doing more online.” (Hackney Driver, Wigan) 

 “Licensing fees should be same as they are all over the country, why there 
is such a big difference! …. hope someone can bother to look that massive 
difference!” (PHV Driver, Oldham) 

Whereas three PHV drivers and two representatives thought licensing fees should be 
same across the country. 

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
A Common Fee Setting Framework standard: No comment from stakeholders during 
consultation.  
 
Comments and considerations 
 
This proposal is not about having a ‘common fee’ as this is impossible with difference 
service models having different direct processing costs and overheads; but it is important 
that the fees are calculated in a fair and transparent way.  
 
As taxi and private hire licence fees are set on a cost recovery basis, there is no risk to 
local authority budgets. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the Standard as proposed. 
 

Page 99



Proposed Standard 4 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Councillor Training 
 
Most Councillors already receive training, but 
this proposal ensures that this is embedded as 
a consistent standard and confirms that those 
with responsibility for taxi and private hire 
licensing, receive relevant training prior to 
sitting on any hearing panels. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Councillor Training  
 
In accordance with the Council’s existing 
constitution and scheme of delegation, 
decisions around the “fit and properness” 
of applicants of licences and existing 
licensees lies with the Head of Public 
Protection and the intention is that this 
remains to be the case. 
 
The Head of Public Protection attends 
regular refresher training seminars both 
externally and in-house to be able to 
discharge this function appropriately, 
ensuring that the Council’s interests are 
always maintained and risks mitigated. 
Referrals are also made to Service 
Director should the need arise.  

Reason for Proposal 
 
This proposal seeks to ensure consistency of practice and the application of relevant safe 
and suitable / conviction policies, as well as a fairer system for licence holders who can 
be more assured of consistent decisions across the conurbation. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
Once again, a relatively small number of comments were made about this standard: 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Councillor 
Training 

19 1 5 2 0 0 6 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

 Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

General Agreement 
regarding councillor 
training 

15 1 3 1 0 0 4 

Page 100



Additional subject 
suggestions for 
councillor training 

2 0 0 1 0 0 1 

Customer service 
provided by the councils 
needs improvement 

3 0 3 2 0 0 1 

Base 19 1 5 2 0 0 6 

 
Fifteen members of the public, one hackney and five PHV drivers expressed general 
agreement with this standard. 
 

“Councillor Training Should be mandatory and also standardised to ensure 
consistency. Also, useful if Councillors from other areas were involved to avoid 
any problems with approving or refusing drivers.” (Councillor / Elected official, 
Stockport) 

A comment was received suggesting how the training could be made more useful for 
councillors. 

“The training councillors receive should include training in 'what would a fair 
hearing look like', 'what would an unfair hearing look like'. Training should not 
just be focussed on 'we will train councillors in licensing policy matters they will 
likely not know about'. Process is important as it is people attending who may 
need to lose their licence.” (Councillor / Elected official, area not known) 

Some additional comments made were: 
 

“Councillor training? great idea. Could we also have child safeguard training 
and wheelchair access training? I'm fed up of seeing manual wheelchairs, 
pushed in sideways and not restrained in black cabs. If we had Enforcement, 
this bad practise may of been reduced.” (Operator, Trafford) 

“Training the councillors is a good idea but they should have the right attitude 
and must treat drivers with respect and value the taxi trade.” (PHV Driver, 
Oldham) 

Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Councillor Training standard: No comments from stakeholders during consultation.  
 
Comments and considerations 
 
The few comments that were made supported the proposal and/or made suggestions for 
other service improvements.  
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To retain and continue with the Council’s existing standard.  
 

 

Page 101



Proposed Standard 5 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Delegated powers for Licensing Managers 
 
It is proposed that appropriate delegated 
decision making powers will be in place for 
Licensing Managers and Heads of Service to 
suspend or revoke licences on the grounds of 
public safety when an urgent need arises. 
 

 
Delegated Powers for Licensing 
Managers 
 
In accordance with the Council’s existing 
constitution and scheme of delegation, 
decisions around the “fit and properness” 
of applicants of licences and existing 
licensees already lies with the Service 
Manager - Head of Public Protection.  
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
There are currently variances in the delegation schemes for suspension and revocation 
powers across the conurbation, meaning that if an immediate risk is identified with a driver, 
that driver could find themselves suspended or revoked by a Senior Officer with immediate 
effect that same day by one authority, but if licensed by another within GM, could wait 
several days (and therefore continue driving under that authority’s licence) for a 
Committee to be convened to consider the same decision whether to suspend or revoke. 
This provides an imbalance for public safety and this proposal seeks to address that by 
ensuring consistency for the travelling public. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
Extremely few comments were made with regards to this proposal: 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Appropriate 
delegated 
power for 
Licensing 
Managers 

3 3 7 3 0 0 2 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

 Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Disagreement with 
appropriate delegated 
powers for Licensing 
Managers. 

1 3 7 2 0 0 0 

Page 102



General Agreement - 
delegated powers 

1 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Concern Regarding the 
abuse of delegated 
power 

1 0 0 2 0 0 1 

Base 3 3 7 3 0 0 2 

 
Those comments that were made, expressed concern: 
 

“Revoke licence power must be in hand of committee or licensing cabinet 
member. At least drivers should have properly investigated before his 
licence revoked.” (PHV Driver, Rochdale) 

“Appropriate delegated powers for Licensing Managers: thorough training 
and monitoring needed for this to ensure this is not open to abuse.” 
(Operator, Wigan) 

 
Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Delegated powers for Licensing Managers standard: No comments from stakeholders 
during consultations.  
 
Comments and considerations 
 
Any decisions taken by an appropriate level Officer needs to be reasonable, evidence and 
risk based and just. All decisions are open to appeal and Officers must be satisfied that 
any decision made can resist such challenge.  
 
Only very minimal concern was raised in response to this proposal, and it should be noted 
there is a much more significant risk to the public if a driver who has been identified as 
posing an immediate risk, is not suspended or revoked in a timely manner. 
 
Lead Officers recommendation 
 
To implement the Standard as proposed. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



Proposed Standard 6 Rochdale BC’s Current standard 

 
Excellence in Licensing Award 
 
It is proposed that a scheme is introduced to 
allow members of the public to nominate 
drivers and companies who they wish to be 
considered for an ‘Excellence in Licensing 
award’. 
 

 
Excellence in Licensing Award 
 
The MLS proposal wishes to provide 
positive recognition to both drivers and 
businesses by way of an award, 
something which currently isn’t provided 
in the proposed format.   
 

Reason for Proposal 
 
Whilst the majority of the proposed standards are rightly concerned with matters of public 
safety and mitigating identified risks within the industry, this proposal seeks to recognise 
that the majority of licence holders are compliant, safe and suitable individuals, many of 
whom take pride in their work and seek to provide a safe, comfortable and quality 
customer service to their passengers. The scheme seeks to award these individuals and 
encourage all in the industry to strive to deliver excellence at all times. 
 
Consultation Response  
 
GM level response: 
 
Of all the Local Authority Standards, this proposal had the highest number of comments, 
whilst still remaining low in relativity to the wider consultation. 
 

 

Standard 

General 
public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators 

Business Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Excellence in 
Licensing 
Award 

27 4 3 0 0 0 1 

 
This table breaks those comments down thematically across the respondent categories: 
 

 Comment Theme General 
Public 

Hackney 
Drivers 

PHV 
Drivers 

PHV 
Operators Business 

Vehicle 
Leasing 

Company 

Represent-
atives 

Concern about the 
authenticity of the award 

8 0 1 0 0 0 0 

It is a good Idea to 
appreciate drivers 

14 1 0 0 0 0 1 

Doesn't think as a good 
idea, i.e. waste of time 
and money 

6 3 3 0 0 0 0 

Base 27 4 3 0 0 0 1 

 

Page 104



Members of the public commented far more than the trade here, and were generally 
positive and keen to show appreciation of drivers: 

 
“An excellent approach, and one we very much welcome, it is about time 
there was some way to publicly reward the drivers or indeed operators for the 
service they provide, so anything that encourages such approaches is very 
highly encouraged and supported.” (Organisation, National Private Hire and 
Taxi Organisation) 

“I think the Excellence in Licensing Award is a really good incentive for hard 
working and compliment drivers / operators, much like the Best Bar None 
awards for licensed premises.” (Public, age 35-44, Trafford) 

A small number of concerns were expressed as follows: 
 

“The award is a good idea but larger firms such as metro in Bolton only need 
to ask all their passengers to put them forward and would win every time.” 
(Public, age 55-64, Bolton) 

“An excellence award seems to be one that can so easily be abused, even 
down to the point where a driver may say, “Vote for me and you get £1.00 off 
the fare."  Disagree strongly with this suggestion.” (Public, age 65-74, location 
not provided) 

“Excellence in Licensing award. I think this is a BAD idea! A recent innovation 
at the firm I work for is a star rating and comment from the passenger about 
the driver. Passengers are leaving 1-star ratings and making crappy 
comments out of spite for any perceived slight. (differing opinions on Brexit 
between driver and passenger? This may result in a 1-star rating and "a 
racist" in the comments option). At the 5-star end of the ratings, drivers may 
pick up a passenger who happens to be a mate of his or her. The passenger 
will the lush in the comment option about what a wonderful experience was. 
If drivers wish to go above and beyond what is expected of them - great, just 
be humble about it.” (PHV Driver, Wigan) 

“I always give good customer service I don’t need a meaningless award to 
make me do it.” (Hackney Driver, Trafford) 

 
 
Rochdale BC Response level summary: 
 
Excellence in Licensing Award standard: No comments from stakeholders during 
consultation.   
 
Comments and considerations 
 
Whilst the detail of how this scheme would be implemented needs to be developed 
(including how the scheme would be funded), in principle most of the comments supported 
the idea, whilst accepting there were some concerns expressed.  
 
 

Page 105



Lead Officers recommendation 
 
That further time is needed to reflect on how a scheme would be operated, funded and 
be seen to be fair.  
 

 

 

Page 106



Appendix 4 

Licensed Drivers Dress Code 
The purpose of the dress code is to set a standard that provides a positive image of 
the licensed hackney carriage and private hire trade in Greater Manchester, promoting 
public and driver safety. 

Dress Standard 

 All clothing worn by those working as private hire or hackney carriage drivers must 
be in good condition and the driver must keep good standards of personal hygiene. 

 As a minimum standard whilst working a licensed driver, males should wear 
trousers and a shirt/t-shirt or polo shirt which has a full body and short/long sleeves. 
Knee length shorts are acceptable. Exceptions related to faith or disability are 
accepted.  

 As a minimum standard whilst working as a licensed driver, females should wear 
trousers, or a knee length skirt or dress, and a shirt/blouse/t-shirt or polo shirt which 
have a full body and a short/long sleeve. Knee length shorts are also acceptable. 
Exceptions related to faith or disability are accepted. 

 Footwear whilst working as a licensed driver shall fit (i.e. be secure) around the toe 
and heel. 

 

Examples of unacceptable standard of dress 

 Clothing that is not kept in a clean condition, free from holes, rips or other damage. 

 Words or graphics on any clothing that is of an offensive or suggestive nature which 
might offend. 

 Sportswear e.g. football/rugby kits including team shirts or beachwear (tracksuits 
are accepted) 

 Sandals with no heel straps, flip flops or any other footwear not secure around the 
heel. 

 The wearing of any hood or any other type of clothing that may obscure the driver’s 
vision or their identity. 

Uniforms 

The Council recognises the positive image that uniforms can create. This dress code 
does not require a licensed driver to wear a distinct uniform. The Council 
acknowledges that many private hire and hackney carriage companies do require 
licensed drivers to wear appropriate corporate branded uniform and this is a practice 
that the Council would encourage licensed drivers to support. 

Page 107



 

Appendix 5 

PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER CONDITIONS 
 The licensee shall at all times comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the conditions hereinafter 
provided. 

 

Definitions 

In this licence: 

"the Act" means the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

"the Council" means xxxx Council 

"the Operator" means a person holding a licence to operate private hire vehicles issued 

 pursuant to Section 55 of the Act. 

"private hire vehicle" has the same meaning as in Section 80 of the Act. 

"the proprietor" has the same meaning as in Section 80 of the Act. 

"the meter" means any device for calculating the fare to be charged in respect of any journey 
in a private hire vehicle by reference to the distance travelled or time elapsed since the start 
of the journey or a combination of both.  

“authorised officer” has the same meaning as in section 80 of the Act. 

“licensee” means the person who holds the private hire drivers’ licence. 

‘”hirer” means the customer that has made the booking, who could also be the passenger 

“passenger” means the person(s) travelling in the booked vehicle. For the avoidance of doubt, 
all children (including babies) count as individual passengers. 

‘Sexual Activity’ includes but not limited to touching, kissing, inappropriate comments or 
conversation or propositioning. 

“Owner” means a person to whom any lost property belongs to 

“Drivers badge” has the same meaning as in Section 80 of the Act. 

Words importing the masculine gender such as "he" and "him" shall include the feminine 
gender and be construed accordingly. 

Where any condition below requires the Licensee to communicate with the Council, all 
communication must be to the Council’s Licensing Department unless otherwise stated. 
Reference to the Council’s email address means the email address of the Council’s Licensing 
Department. 

 

 

 

Page 108



 

1. Licence Administration 
 

1.1 The licensee shall notify the Council in writing of any change of their address and contact 
details during the period of the licence within 7 days of such change taking place. 

1.2  The licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of commencing work with a 
private hire operator. 

1.3  The licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 7 days of any subsequent change 
of operator. 

1.4  The licensee shall provide a copy of his private hire driver's licence with the Operator 
through which the Private Hire Vehicle is being used. 

1.5  The licensee shall ensure that relevant documentation (including DBS certificate/status, 
Medical Certificate, and right to work documentation) required by the Council to assess 
their fit and proper status, is kept up to date and remains ‘valid’ in line with the Council’s 
policies. 

1.6  For the duration of the licence, the licensee shall attend (as required) and pay the 
reasonable administration charge or fee attached to any requirement for training or to 
produce a relevant certificate (i.e. new medical certificate), assessment, validation check 
or other administration process. 

1.7  The licensee will register and remain registered with the DBS Update Service to enable 
the Council to undertake regular checks of the DBS certificate status as necessary. 

 

2.  Convictions and Suitability Matters 

 

2.1 The licensee shall notify the Council immediately in writing (or in any case within 24 
hours) if they are subject to any of the following: 

 arrest or criminal investigation, 

 summons,  

 charge,  

 conviction,    

 formal/simple caution,  

 fixed penalty or speed awareness course,  

 criminal court order,  

 criminal behaviour order or anti-social behaviour injunction,  

 domestic violence related order,  

 warning or bind over  

 any matter of restorative justice   

Page 109



 and shall provide such further information about the circumstances as the Council may 
require. 

 

3  Notifications of Medical Conditions 

3.1 The licensee shall notify the Council of any newly diagnosed or change to a current 
medical  condition which may restrict their entitlement to a driver’s licence requiring a 
DVSA Group 2 medical standard. Notification must be sent to the Council’s email 
address immediately (or in any case within 48 hours) of the relevant diagnosis or change 
to medical condition.  

3.2 The licensee shall at any time (or at such intervals as the Council may reasonably 
require) produce a certificate in the form prescribed by the Council signed by an 
appropriate Doctor/Consultant who has access to the driver’s full medical records to the 
effect that he/she is or continues to be fit to be a driver of a private hire vehicle. 

 

4        Driver Badge 

4.1 The licensee shall at all times when driving a private hire vehicle wear the driver’s badge 
issued to them by the Council so that it is plainly and distinctly visible and show it to any 
passenger(s) if requested.  

4.2 The badge shall be returned to the Council immediately upon request by an Authorised 
Officer (i.e. the licence is suspended, revoked or becomes invalid for any reason). 

4.3 The licensee must wear any lanyard, clip or holder issued to them by the Council.  

 

5     Driver Conduct and Dealing with Passengers 

5.1 The licensee shall behave and drive in a civil, professional and responsible manner to 
passengers, other road users, members of the public Council officers and other 
agencies. 

5.2  The licensee shall comply with any reasonable request made by an Authorised Officer, 
Testing Mechanic or Police Officer. The licensee will also comply with any reasonable 
request  of the passenger regarding their comfort during the journey (e.g. 
heating/ventilation). 

5.3  The licensee shall, unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually 
attend with the private hire vehicle at the appointed time and place as required by the 
operator booking or as instructed by an Authorised Officer.  

5.4  The licensee shall stop or park the private hire vehicle considerately and legally (not in 
contravention of any road traffic orders) and shall switch off the engine if required to wait 
(no idling). 

5.5 The licensee shall not use the vehicle’s horn to attract customer attention.  The horn 
must only be used in an emergency. 

5.6  The licensee shall comply with the Council’s Licensed Drivers Dress Code.  

5.7  The licensee shall provide reasonable assistance to passengers as required by the hirer 
(e.g. mobility assistance and loading/unloading luggage). The licensee shall not provide 
mobility assistance to passengers by physically touching without consent to do so. 

Page 110



5.8  The licensee shall ensure that luggage (including shopping and other large objects) are 
safely and properly secured in the vehicle. 

5.9  The licensee and passengers are not permitted to smoke in the vehicle. The licensee 
also must not: 

a) vape or use an e-cigarette in the vehicle 
b) drink or eat whilst driving 
c) use any hand held device whilst driving or allow themselves to be distracted in any 

other way 
d) display any moving images or have any form of visual display screen fitted to the 

licensed vehicle other than satellite navigation 
e) conduct lengthy telephone conversations whilst driving passengers 
f) play a radio or sound reproducing instrument or equipment in the vehicle (other than 

for communicating with the operator) without the express permission of the 
passenger(s) 

g) cause or permit the noise emitted from any radio or sound reproducing instrument 
or equipment in the private hire vehicle to cause nuisance or annoyance to any 
person 

 

5.10 The licensee when hired shall, (subject to any directions given by the passenger), take 
the shortest route bearing in mind likely traffic problems and known diversions and 
explain to the passenger any diversion from the most direct route. Alternative routes 
must be discussed with the passengers before being taken.  

5.11 The licensee shall at all times when a vehicle is hired take all reasonable steps to 
ensure the safety of the passengers within, entering or alighting from the vehicle. 

5.12 The licensee shall report immediately to the operator any incident of concern including 
accidents where hurt or distress has been caused, customer disputes or passenger 
conduct concerns.  

5.13 The licensee shall be vigilant regarding vulnerable passengers and safeguarding 
concerns when carrying out his duties and shall report any concerns immediately or in 
any event within 24 hours in accordance with Council guidance.  

5.14 The licensee shall report (on the conclusion of the booking) to the operator any 
complaints a passenger/member of the public has made to the licensee regarding their 
conduct or the conduct of other personnel/drivers. 

5.15 The licensee shall not engage in any sexual related activity in a licensed vehicle, even 
if consensual.   

5.16 The licensee shall not, except with the express consent of the hirer/passenger or 
approved ride share journey, carry any person (other than the hirer/passenger) in the 
private hire vehicle. 

5.17 The licensee shall not carry a greater number of passengers than is prescribed on the 
vehicle licence and shall not allow any unaccompanied child to be carried in the front 
seat of the vehicle.  

 

5.18 The licensee will ensure that the vehicle is clean for passengers and the plate clearly 
visible at all times he is on control of the vehicle.  

5.19 The licensee will ensure that he is aware of all the workings and mechanics of the 
vehicles before undertaking bookings.  

Page 111



5.20 The licensee shall report any accidents involving a licensed vehicle they are driving 
within 72 hours to the Licensing Department and must comply with any requests 
thereafter by an Authorised Officer.  

5.21 The licensee shall ensure that a daily vehicle check log has been completed (either by 
himself or the vehicle proprietor) at the beginning of each shift. The checks to be 
carried out are as follows: 

 lights and indicators 
 tyre condition, pressures and tread 
 Wipers, washers and washer fluid levels 
 Cleanliness inside and out 
 Bodywork – no dents or sharp edges 
 Licence plates present and fixed in accordance with these conditions 
 Any internal discs on display and facing inwards so customers can see 
 Door and bonnet stickers on display 
 Tariff sheet on display 
 Horn in working order 

 

The licensee shall ensure a record of the above information is kept in the vehicle at all 
times and will ensure the information is available to an Authorised Officer or Police 
Officer upon request. 

 

6 Assistance Dogs 

6.1 The Licensee shall carry a disabled passenger’s assistance dog with the passenger. 
The licensee will follow the advice of the passenger as to the exact position and 
location for the assistance dog to travel, to best suit their needs. 

6.2  Where the licensee has been granted a medical exemption so as to exempt them from 
any requirement under the Equality Act 2010; the notice of exemption must be 
displayed in the vehicle so that it is visible by fixing it in an easily accessible place (for 
example on the dashboard) or as prescribed by the Council.     

6.3  The licensee must notify their operator of any medical exemption they hold in relation 
to the requirements under the Equality Act 2010.  

 

7 Fares 

7.1 If the vehicle is fitted with a meter the licensee shall ensure it is always visible. The 
licensee shall ensure it is not cancelled or concealed until the passenger has paid the 
fare.  

7.2 The licensee shall ensure a copy of the current fare table is always displayed and 
visible in the vehicle. 

7.3 The licensee shall not demand from any passenger a fare in excess of that previously 
agreed, displayed on a fare card, or if the vehicle is fitted with a meter the fare shown 
on the face of the taximeter. 

7.4 The licensee shall, if requested by the passenger, provide a written receipt for the fare 
paid. 

 

Page 112



8  Conduct relating to illegally plying or standing for hire  

8.1 The licensee shall ensure that the passenger(s) entering the vehicle is/are the correct 
person(s) for whom the vehicle has been pre-booked.   

8.2 The licensee must take precautions against behaviour that may be deemed to be 
standing or plying for hire, by not plotting or waiting without a booking: 

a) in high footfall /high visible locations 
b) outside busy venues/businesses or in close proximity to events 
c) at the front or back of designated hackney ranks 
d) in groups or lines that present as a ‘rank’ 
e) in contravention of road traffic orders 

 

8.3  The licensee shall not while driving or in charge of a private hire vehicle: 

(a) Tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle. 

(b) Cause or allow any other person to tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried 
for hire in any private hire vehicle. 

 (c) Offer any Private Hire vehicle for immediate public hire (whether the journey 
was undertaken or not) 

(d) Accept, or consider accepting, an offer for the immediate hire of that vehicle, 
including any such hire that is then communicated to the Operator to be 
recorded on the Operator’s booking system. For the avoidance of doubt, 
bookings can only be undertaken when first communicated to the licensee by 
the operator.  

 

9.  Responsibility for lost property 

9.1  The driver must immediately after the end of every hiring or as soon as is practical 
thereafter, search the vehicle for any property which may have been accidentally left 
there. 

9.2  If any property accidentally left in a private hire vehicle is found by or handed to the 
licensee then all reasonable steps must be taken to return the property to its rightful 
owner. If the property cannot be returned to the owner, then the property should be 
reported to the Operator through whom the passenger booked the vehicle at the earliest 
opportunity and handed to the Operator as soon as is practical and in any case within 
24 hours of the property being found.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113



 

1 | P a g e  

APPENDIX 6 
 

PROPOSED PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR 
CONDITIONS 
The Operator shall at all times comply with the provisions of Part II of the local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the conditions 
hereinafter provided.  

1. Definitions 

For a legal definition of these terms, see the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976.  You can get a copy online. 

"Authorised Officer" any Officer of the Council authorised in writing for the 
purposes of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 

"The Council” means (insert name of Council) 

"The Operator / PHO" a person who makes provisions for the invitation and 
acceptance of bookings/hiring for a Private Hire Vehicle. 

"The Private Hire Vehicle" a motor vehicle constructed to seat fewer than nine 
passengers, other than a hackney carriage or public service vehicle which is 
provided for hire with the services of a driver for the purpose of carrying 
passengers 

“District” means the area within the Licensing Authority boundary 

Words importing the masculine or feminine gender such as ‘his’ and ‘her’ shall 
include a company and be construed accordingly. 

Reference to the Council’s email address means the email address for the 
Council’s Licensing Department. 

Where any condition below requires the Licensee to communicate with the 
Council, unless otherwise stipulated, all communication must be to the 
Council’s Licensing Department. 
 
 

2. Premises & Equipment 

2.1 The Operator shall obtain any necessary planning permission required for his/her 
premises and shall comply with any conditions imposed. 

2.2 The Operator shall provide adequate communication facilities and staff to provide 
an efficient service to the public using the operator’s facilities. 

2.3 The Operator’s premises shall be kept clean and tidy, and adequately heated, 
ventilated and lit. 

Page 114



 

2 | P a g e  

2.4 The Operator shall ensure that any waiting area for the use of prospective hirers 
shall be provided with adequate and comfortable seating. 

2.5 The Operator’s radio/electrical equipment where installed shall be regularly 
maintained in good working condition and any defects shall be repaired promptly. 

2.6 The Operator shall at no time cause or permit any audio equipment to be a source 
of nuisance, annoyance or interference to any other person. In addition, all 
reasonable precautions are to be taken to ensure that activities within the 
Operator’s office and from licensed vehicles do not create a nuisance to others. 

2.7 The Operator shall obtain and maintain in force at all times a public liability 
insurance policy in respect of his/her premises and produce the same to an 
Authorised Officer or Constable on request.  

2.8 The Operator must display the following at all times, at any premises that the 
general public have access to and/or on online booking sites and applications:  

a) A copy of the current Operator licence 

b) A schedule of fares 

c) A notice which provides information on how to complain to the Licensing 
Authority including email and phone number 

d) A copy of the public liability insurance policy certificate 

The above shall be displayed in a prominent position within  the relevant premises 
where it can be easily read; or clearly marked on the relevant online site/app 
where it can be easily accessed. 

2.9  If the Operator has a website and/or uses Application based technology to attract 
bookings, the notices listed at 2.8 above must also be available to view on the 
relevant web pages or application menu.   

2.10 The Operator shall not allow their Licensed Operator Premises to be used to 
conduct business relating to licensees of other non-Greater Manchester local 
authoritues. 

 

3. Booking Fares 

3.1 When accepting the hiring, the Operator shall, unless prevented by some 
sufficient cause, ensure that a licensed private hire vehicle attends at the 
appointed time and place. 

3.2 When accepting the hiring, the Operator shall, if requested by the person making 
the booking, specify the fare or the rate of the fare for the journey to be 
undertaken and, in every case, the Operator shall immediately enter all the 
details of the hiring legibly as required, by Condition 3.3. 

3.3 The records of hiring accepted by the Operator as required under Section 56 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, shall contain the 
following detail: 

Page 115



 

3 | P a g e  

 Time and date booking received (using 24-hour clock) 
 Name and contact details (phone number or address) of person making 

the booking 
 How the booking was made e.g. Telephone/Online etc 
 Time and detailed pick up location 
 Specific destination (the use of the term ‘as directed’ or similar term should 

only be used exceptionally). 
 ID of dispatched driver (i.e. name and call sign) 
 ID of dispatched vehicle (Licence/fleet number) 
 ID of person taking booking (excludes electronic bookings)  
 Any special requirements e.g. wheelchair accessible or disability 

assistance 
 Details of any subcontracting to or from another PHO (Inc. any other 

Operator owned by the Operator subject to these conditions) 
 Any fare quoted at time of booking, if requested by the person making the 

booking. 

3.4 The Operator shall not allow drivers to pass a booking on to the Operator on the 
passenger’s behalf and will take all reasonable steps to ensure their drivers are 
aware that such practice is illegal. 

3.5 Where a booking is sub-contracted the customer must be so advised and 
informed as to the sub-contracted Operator who will be undertaking the booking. 

3.6 If a non - (insert name of Council) licensed driver and vehicle are being 
dispatched to fulfil the booking, the Operator must communicate the following 
message to the person making the booking (whether via telephone, automated 
booking or booking App) before the booking is made (allowing the requester the 
opportunity to confirm the booking or not): 

The driver and vehicle you are about to book are not licensed by (insert name of 
Council) to (insert name of Council) standards and (insert name of Council) 
Council are not empowered to take licensing action in the event of a complaint. 
Your driver and vehicles are licensed by {insert name of Council} and customers 
will have to deal with that authority in the event of a complaint. 

3.7 The despatch, by an Operator, of a passenger carrying vehicle (PCV) and the 
use of a public service vehicle (PSV), such as a minibus, is not permitted without 
the express consent of the hirer.  

3.8 Where the hirer is being given the option of one of the above mentioned vehicles 
being despatched, they should be notified that the driver is subject to different 
checks than a private hire driver and are not required to have an enhanced DBS 
check.  

3.9 The Operator must advise the authority of the booking system it uses, and advise 
in writing when the booking system is changed. The operator must demonstrate 
the operation of the system to an authorised officer upon request. Only the 
confirmed booking system (whether that be an electronic or manual system) can 
be used to record journeys taken for and carried out by vehicles licensed by 
(insert name of Council) (or a Public Services Vehicle, operating under a licence 
from the Vehicle and Operator Services Agency). 

 

Page 116



 

4 | P a g e  

4. Record Keeping & Responsibility  

4.1 The Operator must keep detailed, up to date, records of every driver and vehicle 
operated by him (whether licensed as private hire or hackney carriage) and no 
matter which Council licensed the driver/vehicle. The records must include: 

a) Name and home address of the driver  

b) The dates the driver commenced fulfilling bookings from the PHO and the 
date the driver ceased taking bookings from the PHO (where applicable).  

c) A copy of the driver’s current private hire or hackney carriage driver licence 
including the expiry date of that licence and that Licensing Authority that 
issued it.  

d) Name and home address of the proprietor of every vehicle 

e) A copy of the current vehicle licence including expiry date, the licensing 
authority that issued it.  

f) The date the vehicle was first used by the PHO to fulfil bookings and the date 
the PHO ceased using the vehicle to fulfil bookings (where applicable) 

g) The vehicle registration number 

h) A list of unique radio/call sign allocated to the driver and vehicle  

i) A copy of the valid insurance in place for the driver and vehicle  

4.2 The Operator must ensure that booking records are: 

a) Kept electronically 

b) Are available for immediate inspection by an Authorised Officer or Police 
Officer 

c) Able to be printed onto paper or downloaded in an electronic format  

d) Continuous and chronological 

e) Not capable or retrospective alteration or amendment 

f) Kept as one set of records. Cash and credit account bookings can be 
separately identified but must not be in separate sets of records. The 
name of the person compiling the records must be detailed on the records. 

g) Are clear, intelligible, kept in English and retained for a minimum of 12 
months from the date of the last entry or for such other period as required 
by an Authorised Officer. 

4.3 The Operator must retain records for a minimum period of 12 months and make 
available any GPS data and any voice recording system for inspection upon 
request by an Authorised Officer or Police Officer.  

Page 117



 

5 | P a g e  

4.4 The Operator must implement a robust system to ensure that drivers and/or 
vehicles do not operate when their licence or insurance has expired. This must 
be documented and approved by an Authorised Officer. 

4.5 The Operator must conduct a check of the Council’s public register (where it 
exists) when contracting a driver to carry out bookings. 

4.6 The Operator must take all reasonable steps to ensure that its drivers and 
vehicles, when plotting or waiting without bookings around the district, do not do 
so: 

a) in high footfall / high visible locations 
b) outside busy venues/businesses or in close proximity to large events 
c) at the front or back of designated hackney ranks 
d) in groups or lines that present as a ‘rank’ 
e) in contravention of road traffic orders 

Operators will upon request by an Authorised Officer or Police Officer 
demonstrate how they monitor and control this behaviour. 

4.7 The Operator must have an approved process in place to ensure that the 
individual carrying out a booking is the licensed driver they have contracted for 
this purpose. 
 

4.8 The Operator will ensure registration with the Information Commissioner’s Office 
for Data Controller, CCTV and other relevant purposes. Where the Operator is 
exempt from registration with the Information Commissioner’s Office, they will 
notify the Council within 7 days of the commencement of these conditions. 
 

4.9 Where the Operator agrees sub-contracting arrangements with other non-(insert 
name of Council) licensed Operators, it must have due regard for the 
comparative licensing policies and standards of the relevant licensing authority 
their partner Operator is subject to, and take steps not to undermine the Council’s 
licensing standards which have been set in the interests of promoting high levels 
of public safety. 
 
 

5. Complaints 

5.1 The Operator must notify the Council immediately by email (or in any case within 
24 hours) of receiving or otherwise becoming aware of any complaint/allegation, 
police enquiries, or notification of convictions involving any driver that is 
registered to carry out bookings for the operator, which relates to matters of a 
sexual nature, violence/threats of violence or substance misuse. 

The Operator must notify the Council within 72hrs of any complaint/allegation, 
police enquiries, or notification of convictions involving any driver that is 
registered to carry out bookings for the operator, which relates to matters 
involving dishonesty or equality. 

The Operator is required to provide at the time of notification to the council the 
identity of the driver involved and the nature of the complaint/enquiry including 
the complainant’s details. This notification to the Council must take place 

Page 118



 

6 | P a g e  

regardless of whether the Operator ceases any contractual arrangement with the 
driver. 

5.2 The Operator must record every complaint received against its service (against 
any driver operated by him, including those licensed by other authorities carrying 
out a sub-contracted booking on the Operator’s behalf) and, if unable to resolve 
the complaint within 7 days (from the date of the complaint) the Operator must 
provide the complainant with the relevant Licensing Authority contact details 
within 10 days (from the date of complaint).  

5.3 Where a complaint not covered by section 5.1 above is received against a driver 
and it remains unresolved after 7 days (from the date of complaint), the operator 
must notify the Council within 10 days (from the date of complaint). The Operator 
is required to provide at the time of notification, the identity of the driver involved, 
the nature of the complaint/enquiry including the complainant’s details. 

5.4 The Operator must keep all complaint records for at least 12 months (including 
against drivers carrying out sub-contracted bookings) and ensure these records 
are available for inspection at any time an authorised officer may request to 
review them. 

 
6. Convictions and Staff Vetting  
 

6.1 The licensee shall notify the Council immediately in writing (or in any case within 
24 hours) if they are subject to any of the following: 

 arrest or criminal investigation, 
 

 summons,  

 charge,  

 conviction,    

 formal/simple caution,  

 fixed penalty,  

 criminal court order,  

 criminal behaviour order or anti-social behaviour injunction,  

 domestic violence related order,  

 warning or bind over  

 any matter of restorative justice   

 and shall provide such further information about the circumstances as the 
Council may require. 

 

6.2 The Operator must keep up to date records of all individuals working in any 
capacity (paid or unpaid) and who have access to booking records for the 
business as follows: 

Page 119



 

7 | P a g e  

 Full Name 

 Address 

 Date of Birth 

 Contact details (phone and email) 

 DBS issue date and certificate number 

 Start and finish dates of employment 

 Job Title 

6.3 The Operator must ensure that all individuals (non-drivers) working in any 
capacity and have access to booking records (paid or unpaid) have obtained a 
basic DBS Certificate from the Disclosure and Baring Service before 
commencing employment. The DBS certificate must be dated within one month 
before the commencement of employment.  

6.4 The Operator must ensure that DBS checks are carried out for all existing 
relevant staff (as per condition 6.3) within one month of the commencement of 
these conditions.   

6.5  The employee should be registered with the DBS Update Service to enable the 
Operator to conduct regular checks (six monthly as a minimum) of the 
individual’s DBS status.  

6.6 The Operator must have a policy compatible with the Council’s suitability policy 
or adopt the Councils suitability policy and implement this policy in relation to 
the recruitment of all staff (paid or unpaid) and the recruitment of ex-offenders. 
This must be produced upon request. 

 
6.7 The Operator must be able to evidence that they have had sight of a basic DBS 

by maintaining a register. The register should be a ‘living document’ that 
maintains records of all those in those employed for at least 12 months, being 
the duration of how long booking records are to be kept and allows cross 
referencing between the two records. A record that the operator has had sight 
of a basic DBS check certificate (although the certificate itself should not be 
retained) should be retained for the duration that the individual remains on the 
register. Should an employee cease to be on the register and later re-entered, 
a new basic DBS certificate should be requested and sight of this recorded. 

 
6.8 Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions, but they cannot pass 

on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should be 
required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company 
to which they outsource these functions. 

 
 
7. Advertisements 

7.1 The Operator shall not cause or permit to be displayed in, on or from his/her 
premises or to be published in relation to the Operator’s business any sign, notice 
or advertisement which consists of or includes the words “Taxi” whether in the 

Page 120



 

8 | P a g e  

singular or plural or the words “For Hire” or any other word or words of similar 
meaning or appearance whether alone or as part of another word or phrase or 
any other word or words likely to cause a person to believe that any vehicle 
operated by him/her is a hackney carriage.   

7.2 All advertisements by the Operator should first be approved by the Council to 
ensure they comply with conditions and do not breach the Codes of Practice of 
the Advertising Standards Authority or those of the Portman Group relating to 
alcohol advertising. 

7.3 The Operator must not dispatch any vehicle that has been licensed by another 
Authority, which uses, displays or exhibits any literature, documentation, 
advertising or which displays any signage associated to the Private Hire 
Operator or the Council which suggests, indicates, misleads or might lead to a 
misunderstanding that the vehicle is licensed by this Council.  

 

8. Notifications and Licence Administration 

8.1 For the duration of the licence, the licensee shall pay the reasonable 
administration charge or fee attached to any requirement to attend training, or 
produce a relevant certificate, assessment, validation check or other 
administration or notification process. 

8.2 The Licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 14 days of any transfer of 
ownership of the vehicle. The notice will include the name, address and contact 
details of the new owner. 

8.3 The Licensee shall give notice in writing to the Council of any change of his 
address or contact details (including email address) during the period of the 
licence within 7 days of such change taking place. 

 

9. Duty to Co-operate 

9.1 The Operator and his/her staff shall co-operate fully with any Local Authority 
Authorised Officer or Police Officer in respect of any enquiries or investigations 
carried out relating to drivers or vehicles currently connected to the business or 
formerly connected to the business. 

9.2 The operator will provide the Council with details of appropriate members of 
staff (whether at the base or via telephone) to be contactable during the times 
of operation (day or night) in relation to compliance/enforcement related 
matters. Where the aforementioned contact details change, the Operator shall 
inform the Council of the new contact details within 24 hours. 

9.3 The Operator shall grant access to the licensed premises to any Local Authority 
Authorised Officer or Police Officer upon request.  
 

10. Lost Property 

10.1 The Operator must keep a record of lost property that is handed to him by 
drivers or passengers. The record must include the date the item is handed to 

Page 121



 

9 | P a g e  

the Operator, details of where it was found and a description of the property. 
The log must always be available for inspection by an Authorised Officer or 
Police Officer and any information entered onto the record must be kept for a 
period of 12 months from the date of entry. 

10.2 Any lost property held by the Operator must be stored securely by him for 6 
months after it was found. 
 
 

11. Operator Policies 

11.1 Operators are required to adopt, implement, review, update as is necessary 
and submit to the Council the following policies: 

 Safeguarding Policy 

 Customer Service and Complaints Policy which includes conduct of 

drivers and the timeframe for responding to complaints 

 Equality Policy (Equality Act 2010) including disability awareness and 

the carrying of assistance animals. 

 Data Protection Policy 

 Recruitment / Suitability Policy 

 

12 Training 

12.1 Operators should ensure that they have attended any licensing training required 
by the Council within one month of a licence being granted or as otherwise 
directed by the Council. 

12.2 The Operator must ensure that training is provided to relevant staff (paid or 
unpaid) on licensing law, Licensing policy, the policies listed at paragraph 11.1 
and how and when to accept bookings. This training must be undertaken within 
one month of the commencement of these conditions or employment and 
thereafter, at least every two years.  The Operator must keep a record of the 
aforementioned training which has been signed by the operator and the member 
of staff.  

 

 

 

Page 122



 

1 | P a g e  

APPENDIX 7 

Proposed amendments to Operator Conditions 
CONDITION CURRENT WORDING PROPOSED CHANGE COMMENT 
 
2.8 The Operator must display the 

following at their premises at all 
times:  

a) A copy of the current Operator 
licence 

b) A schedule of fares 

c) A notice which provides 
information on how to complain to 
the Licensing Authority including 
email and phone number 

d) A copy of the public liability 
insurance policy certificate 

The above shall be displayed in a 
prominent position, where the public 
have access and, where it can be 
easily read. 

 

The Operator must display the following at 
all times at any premises that the general 
public have access to and/or on online 
booking sites and apps:  

a) A copy of the current Operator licence 

b) A schedule of fares 

c) A notice which provides information on 
how to complain to the Licensing 
Authority (including email and phone 
number) 

d) A copy of the public liability insurance 
policy certificate 

The above shall be displayed in a 
prominent position within a premises, 
where it can be easily read; or clearly 
marked on the relevant online site/app 
where is can be easily accessed. 

 

Made clear that this only applies if 
have a base that is used to deal with 
members of the public – and 
includes requirement to ensure 
displayed online. 

P
age 123



 

2 | P a g e  

 
2.10 The Operator shall now allow their 

Licensed Operator Premises to be 
used to conduct business relating to 
another non (insert name of Council) 
Licensed Operator. 

 

 
The Operator shall not allow their Licensed 
Operator Premises to be used to conduct 
business relating to licensees of other non-
Greater Manchester local authorities. 

 
This condition is designed to prevent 
the undermining of the local 
licensing regime and public safety  
 
It is submitted that the Deregulation 
Act when drafted, worked to the 
assumption that all districts outside 
of London and Plymouth were 
‘governed by the same legislation’ 
(Deregulation Act 2015 Guidance 
notes) – which they are, but this 
clearly ignores that there is a wide 
variance in public safety policies, 
procedures, practice and licence 
conditions between districts, and 
there remains a lack of mandatory 
minimum standards nationally with 
regards to important safeguarding 
matters. As such, it is proposed that 
the condition should remain to 
protect and uphold local licensing 
regimes, but has been amended to 
include all of GM in recognition that 
following the completion of this first 
phase of harmonisation by the MLS 
project, these regimes will not serve 
to undermine each other. 

P
age 124



 

3 | P a g e  

 
4.5 The Operator must conduct a check of 

the Council’s public register before 
allowing a driver to carry out bookings. 

 

 
The operator must conduct a check of the 
Council’s public register (where it exists) 
when contracting a driver to carry out 
bookings. 

 
Makes the condition clearer that the 
requirement is only at the outset of 
the contractual relationship and 
acknowledges that this is only 
possible where the Council provides 
a public register. 
 

 
4.6 The Operator must take all reasonable 

steps to ensure that its drivers and 
vehicles, when plotting or waiting 
without bookings around the district, 
do not do so: 

a) in high footfall / high visible 
locations 

b) outside busy 
venues/businesses or in close 
proximity to events 

c) at the front or back of 
designated hackney ranks 

d) in groups or lines that present 
as a ‘rank’ 

e) in contravention of road traffic 
orders 

Operators will upon request by an 
Authorised Officer or Police Officer 
demonstrate how they monitor and 
control this behaviour. 

 
No change, save for adding the word 
‘large’ before ‘events’ at point b)  

 
Submission has been fully 
considered. It is thought that a 
common sense and practical 
approach has been taken with 
regards to defining locations and 
scenarios in which private hire 
vehicles are required not to wait 
when they don’t have a booking so 
as not to give the impression that 
they are available for immediate 
hire; not to encourage illegal ply for 
hire; and not to create unnecessary 
congestion and unsafe conditions on 
the highway at busy times/locations. 
There is no expectation that PHVs 
should be available ‘immediately’ 
and the public should understand 
that when using a pre-booked 
vehicle there may reasonably be a 
wait time (however short) as 
vehicles cannot just be ready on the 

P
age 125



 

4 | P a g e  

street (as Hackneys are) 
immediately – this would further 
assist the public’s understanding of 
the two regimes. 
  
There is no requirement within this 
condition for drivers/vehicles to go 
out of the district or drive a 
substantial distance away from a 
location/district centre – it is 
considered that there are sufficient 
places to wait close to key locations 
that are out of general view, or on 
the edge of district centres and this 
will prompt operators to consider 
their own business models and 
booking demand to determine how 
many vehicles they reasonably 
require to plot or wait close to 
specific locations.  
 
This condition is mirrored within the 
PH Driver conditions and aimed 
primarily at them to take 
responsibility for their own behaviour 
– here we reasonably expect PH 
Operators to assist in the prevention 
of such behaviour (which we know is 
within their gift using their relevant 
systems).  

P
age 126



 

5 | P a g e  

 
4.7 

 
The Operator must have an approved 
process in place to ensure that the 
individual carrying out a booking is the 
licensed driver they have employed for 
this purpose. 
 

 
The Operator must have an approved process 
in place to ensure that the individual carrying 
out a booking is the licensed driver they have 
contracted for this purpose. 
 

 
Changed employed to contracted 

 
5.1 The Operator must notify the Council 

immediately by email (or in any case 
within 24 hours) of any complaints, 
police enquiries or notification of 
convictions involving any driver that is 
registered to carry out bookings for the 
operator which relates to matters of a 
sexual nature, dishonesty, indecency, 
violence or threats of violence, equality 
or drugs. The Operator is required to 
provide at the time of notification to the 
council the identity of the driver involved 
and the nature of the complaint/enquiry 
including the complainant’s details. This 
notification to the Council must take 
place regardless of whether the 
Operator ceases any contractual 
arrangement with the driver. 

 

The Operator must notify the Council 
immediately by email (or in any case within 24 
hours) of receiving or otherwise becoming 
aware of any complaint/allegation, police 
enquiries, or notification of convictions 
involving any driver that is registered to carry 
out bookings for the operator, which relates to 
matters of a sexual nature, violence/threats of 
violence or substance misuse 

The Operator must notify the Council within 
72hrs of any complaint/allegation, police 
enquiries, or notification of conviction relating 
to matters involving dishonesty or equality. 

The Operator is required to provide at the time 
of notification to the council the identity of the 
driver involved and the nature of the 
complaint/enquiry including the complainant’s 
details. For clarity, this notification to the 
Council must take place regardless of 
whether the Operator has been able to 
conduct further enquiries itself, or whether or 

 
After further consideration – have 
amended to just include the most 
serious safeguarding matters that 
would be more likely to result in 
immediate suspension (following 
relevant investigation) for 24hr 
reporting to the Council. 
 
It is considered appropriate for 
Operators to notify the Council 
immediately and agree with the 
Council how the investigation will 
proceed from there.  

P
age 127



 

6 | P a g e  

not it ceases any contractual arrangement 
with the driver. 

 
5.4 

 
The Operator must provide a report 
every six months to the council detailing 
all complaints received (including 
against drivers carrying out sub-
contracted bookings) and action taken. 
The report should be provided no later 
than one month after the end of the 
reporting period. The Operator must 
keep all records for at least 12 months. 
 

 
The Operator must keep all complaint records 
for at least 12 months (including against drivers 
carrying out sub-contracted bookings) and 
ensure these records are available for 
inspection at any time an authorised officer may 
request to review them.  

 
Considered submission that as 
drafted the condition was overly 
burdensome – have amended so 
that the records have to be kept 
(already reflected in other conditions 
that all complaints should be 
recorded) and must be available to 
view – removing requirement for 
formal report to be provided. 

 

P
age 128



 

Equality Impact Assessment - Initial Screening 

    
Title of the Assessment GM Common Minimum Licensing Standards  
Lead Officer for this initiative John Garforth 
Officer completing the 

analysis  Danielle Doyle 

Phone  07789 508546 
Email  danielle.doyle@manchester.gov.uk 

    

Question 1 
What is the main aim and purpose 
of the activity? 

The main purpose of the activity is to propose a set of taxi 
and private hire minimum licensing standards for adoption by 
Greater Manchester’s ten local authorities. The purpose of this 
is to standardise licensing conditions and policies across 
Greater Manchester (GM) so that the travelling public can 
have greater assurance with regard to the safety and risk 
assessments that have taken place for licensed drivers and 
vehicles, including the emissions standard of vehicles they are 
travelling in. The activity will also provide a valuable platform 
from which to raise public awareness about the variance in 
standards nationally and deter the use of non-GM licensed 
vehicles within the conurbation, thereby protecting business 
within GM.  

 

    

Question 2 
List the main elements of the 
activity? 

The project includes a set of standards split into 4 main 
categories: Drivers, Vehicles, Operators and Local Authority. 
The standards are a set of policy requirements or licence 
conditions by which licence holders and local authorities have 
to adhere to.   

    

Question 3 
What outcomes does the activity 
aim to achieve? 

The project aims to: 
1. Meet the requirements of the DfT’s Statutory 

Guidance for Taxis and Private Hire 
2. Improve public safety 
3. Improve the customer experience (both passengers 

customers and licensee customers) 
4. Support clean air objectives and emmision targets 

Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan 2019 
Reduce NO2 emissions on road links where modelling has 
identified exceedances beyond 2020 (152 stretches of road 
identified across GM)  
Greater Manchester Environment Plan 2019 
100% of all cars are zero emissions by 2035 
100% of all buses are zero emissions by 2035 

5. Deter GM residents and visitors from using non-GM 
licensed vehicles 

 

    

Question 4 

Page 129



Who are, or will be, the main 
beneficiaries of the activity? 

Passengers who use taxi/PH services, taxi/PH operators, 
proprietors and drivers, and licensing authorities themselves.  

    

Question 5 
Do you need to consult with people 
who might be affected by it directly 
or indirectly?  
Please justify your response 

Yes – a public consultation has already taken place, alongside 
targeted direct consultation with impacted groups. 

    

Question 6 
Having due regard for the equality duty involves: 
 
- Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected characteristics; 
- Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics where these are 
different from the needs of other people; 
- Encourage people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public life or in other 
activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 
 
Please complete the table below and give reasons, evidence and comment, where appropriate, to 
support your judgement(s). 
- Use the table below to record where you think that the activity could have a positive impact on any 
of the target groups or contribute to promoting equality, equal opportunities or improving relations 
within equality target groups. 
- Use the table below to record where you think that the activity could have an adverse impact on 
any of the equality target groups i.e. it could disadvantage them and impact is high.  
- Use the last column in the table below to give reason/comments/evidence where appropriate to 
support your judgement. 

Age 
Positive Adverse Comment or 

Target Group Impact Impact Evidence 

Children and Young People (aged 
19 and under) 

Highly 
likely 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Very low 
likelihood 

Children and Young people are by 
definition ‘vulnerable’ individuals. 
Improvements to the way licence 
applicants are assessed and 
monitored for compliance can only 
serve to improve the quality and 
safety of the licensed fleets, and 
reduce the risk of harm to the 
travelling public, particularly those 
classed as vulnerable. The MLS 
should also serve to raise greater 
awareness of the risks of travelling 
in vehicles licensed outside of GM to 
unknown standards, with little to no 
proactive compliance activity within 
GM 
 
There is a risk that the higher 
standards across GM will result in 
higher licence fees and improved 
compliance across the board, and 
this could mean that whilst they are 
able to, GM based operators could 
still choose instead to obtain licences 
outside of GM authorities. These 
operators may provide school 
contract based services, and this 
could be a risk if the processes and 
compliance monitoring of other 
authorities are not as robust as the 

Page 130



GM MLS. This risk could be mitigated 
by authorities amending their 
schools contracts to require the use 
of licensed vehicles in the area 
where the school is based only. 

Older People (aged 60 and over) Highly 
likely 

  
 
 
 
Medium - 
high risk 

Many older people are reliant on 
taxis and private hire vehicles to 
travel. Improvements to the way 
licence applicants are assessed and 
monitored can only serve to improve 
the quality and safety of the licensed 
fleets, and reduce the risk of harm 
to the travelling public. 
 
There is a risk of the activity causing 
a reduction in the Hackney licensed 
fleet (cost of vehicles meaning risk 
of individuals leaving this trade), 
and a risk of licensees going to 
authorities outside of GM to get 
licensed due to the applications 
criteria, standards, compliance and 
therefore cost being higher; so GM 
travelling public could be forced to 
travel in vehicles with drivers of a 
lower quality and assessment 
standard. 
 
The MLS (if adopted in full) will likely 
result in higher costs to some 
licensees as proposals include 
additional testing requirements (eg. 
enhanced driving test), additional 
processing/checking requirements in 
the application process (background 
checks), and in some areas 
additional compliance activity to 
ensure the integrity of the activity, 
which in turn will result in higher 
licence fees. Data we currently hold 
on the age profile of our licensed 
fleet of drivers shows that around 
40% of our licensees are over the 
age of 50, with 13% of licensees 
over the age of 60. 

Disability 
Positive Adverse Comment or 

Target Group 
Impact Impact Evidence 

Disability (people with physical 
impairments,  communication or 
sensory impairments, a learning 
disability or cognitive impairment, 
mental health problems, 
longstanding illness/health 
condition, other disability 
impairment). 

Highly 
likely 

 Medium 
- high 
risk 

Improvements to the way licence 
applicants are assessed and 
monitored for compliance can only 
serve to improve the quality and 
safety of the licensed fleets, and 
reduce the risk of harm to the 
travelling public, particularly those 
classed as vulnerable. The proposals 
also seek to increase the number of 
Wheelchair Accessible and 
Accessibility enhanced public hire 
vehicles (Purpose built Hackneys 
with sight and audio adaptations) 
across the conurbation which would 

Page 131



result in reducing the risk of people 
with disabilities not being able to get 
a suitable vehicle on a public rank. 
The MLS also seeks to improve the 
quality of training required of 
licensed drivers, including their 
awareness of their responsibilities 
towards passengers with disabilities, 
as well as improve the level of 
proactive compliance to ensure 
these standards are being adhered 
to and improve public confidence to 
report, as complaints from people 
with disabilities are traditionally low.  
 
The MLS should also serve to raise 
greater awareness of the risks of 
travelling in vehicles licensed outside 
of GM to unknown standards, with 
little to no proactive compliance 
activity within GM. 
 
However, the proposed MLS also 
carries a fairly high risk of reducing 
the licensed Hackney fleet, thereby 
conversely increasing the risk of 
people with accessibility needs not 
being able to access a suitable 
vehicle either by pre-booking or on a 
public rank. The MLS will also likely 
lead to increased licence fees, which 
in turn will result in increased fares, 
potentially affecting people with 
disabilities disproportionately if the 
individual is more reliant on 
accessible vehicles not widely 
available in the private hire 
industry.or for public hire. 
  

Gender 
Positive Adverse Comment or 

Target Group 
Impact Impact Evidence 

Men  Highly 
likely 

Medium - 
high risk 

The positive impacts of MLS will 
affect all members of the travelling 
public that use Taxi and Private Hire 
services, by providing a higher 
quality fleet of drivers and vehicles 
that will be assessed and monitored 
to be safe and minimise risk to the 
public. 
 
If there are any adverse implications 
of the MLS proposals for licensees, 
then this will affect men more than 
women, as 97% of our licence 
holders are male* (identified from 
their stated title on their licence 
application). 
 
 
There is a risk that if the proposed 
MLS drives growth of non-GM 

Page 132



licensed vehicles being used by 
operators within GM, then all 
passengers will be travelling in 
vehicles with drivers to unknown 
standards with minimal compliance. 

Women Highly 
likely 

Low  
/medium 
risk 

The positive impacts of MLS will 
affect all members of the travelling 
public that use Taxi and Private Hire 
services, by providing a higher 
quality fleet of drivers and vehicles 
that will be assessed and monitored 
to be safe and minimise risk to the 
public. 
 
There is a risk that if the proposed 
MLS drives growth or non-GM 
licensed vehicles being used by 
operators within GM, then all 
passengers will be travelling in 
vehicles with drivers to unknown 
standards with minimal compliance, 
and females are more vulnerable 
when travelling alone in that regard. 

Transgender People Highly 
likely Low risk 

The positive impacts of MLS will 
affect all members of the travelling 
public that use Taxi and Private Hire 
services, by providing a higher 
quality fleet of drivers and vehicles 
that will be assessed and monitored 
to be safe and minimise risk to the 
public. 
 
 
There is a risk that if the proposed 
MLS drives growth or non-GM 
licensed vehicles being used by 
operators within GM, then all 
passengers will be travelling in 
vehicles with drivers to unknown 
standards with minimal compliance. 

Race 

Positive Adverse Comment or 
Target Group 

Impact Impact Evidence 

Asian or Asian British Backgrounds 
(This includes Pakistani, Indians 
and Bangladeshi, Chinese or any 
other Asian background) 

Highly 
likely 

Medium - 
high risk 

Whilst race and ethnicity data is not 
collected or recorded as part of the 
licensing process, but we know from 
seeing our applicants in person and 
our daily interactions that the vast 
majority of our licensed fleet are 
non-white males (both British and 
non-British); therefore any impacts, 
both positive and adverse will likely 
affect this target group 
disproportionately.   
 
BAME licensees are also more likely 
to live in Lower Super Output Areas 
(LSOAs) with higher levels of 
deprivation and this is borne out in 
the postcode data of our licence 
holders where the overwhelming 
majority have postcodes identified 

Page 133



as LSOAs. It would be a reasonable 
inference that these licence holders 
are more likely to have socio-
economic pressures and live in 
housing that is less likely to have 
private parking and the ability 
therefore for at home EV charging; 
therefore requirements for more 
expensive fully electric vehicles 
carry an adverse risk to the viability 
of these individuals continuing in the 
industry. 
 
All sections of the travelling public 
should benefit from MLS. 

Black or Black British Backgrounds 
(This includes Caribbean, African or 
any other black background) 

Highly 
Likely 

Medium - 
high risk 

Whilst race and ethnicity data is not 
collected or recorded as part of the 
licensing process, we know from 
seeing our applicants in person and 
our daily interactions that the vast 
majority of our licensed fleet are 
non-white males (both British and 
non-British); therefore any impacts, 
both positive and adverse will likely 
affect this target group 
disproportionately.  
 
BAME licensees are also more likely 
to live in Lower Super Output Areas 
(LSOAs) with higher levels of 
deprivation and this is borne out in 
the postcode data of our licence 
holders where the overwhelming 
majority have postcodes identified 
as LSOAs. It would be a reasonable 
inference that these licence holders 
are more likely to have socio-
economic pressures and live in 
housing that is less likely to have 
private parking; therefore 
requirements for more expensive 
fully electric vehicles carry an 
adverse risk to the viability of these 
individuals continuing in the 
industry. 
 
 
All sections of the travelling public 
should benefit from MLS. 

Mixed /Multiple Ethnic Groups (This 
includes White and Black 
Caribbean, White and Black African, 
White and Asian or any other mixed 
background) 

Highly 
Likely 

Medium - 
high risk 

Whilst race and ethnicity data is not 
collected or recorded as part of the 
licensing process, we know from 
seeing our applicants in person and 
our daily interactions that the vast 
majority of our licensed fleet are 
non-white males (both British and 
non-British); therefore any impacts, 
both positive and adverse will likely 
affect this target group 
disproportionately. 
 
BAME licensees are also more likely 
to live in Lower Super Output Areas 

Page 134



(LSOAs) with higher levels of 
deprivation and this is borne out in 
the postcode data of our licence 
holders where the overwhelming 
majority have postcodes identified 
as LSOAs. It would be a reasonable 
inference that these licence holders 
are more likely to have socio-
economic pressures and live in 
housing that is less likely to have 
private parking; therefore 
requirements for more expensive 
fully electric vehicles carry an 
adverse risk to the viability of these 
individuals continuing in the 
industry. 
 
All sections of the travelling public 
should benefit from MLS. 

White British Background (This 
includes English, Scottish & Welsh, 
Irish and Gypsy or Irish Travellers) 

Highly 
likely  Low risk 

Whilst all sections of the travelling 
public should benefit from MLS, 
there is little to no evidence to 
suggest that this target group would 
be particularly adversely affected 
over any other. 

Non-British White Backgrounds 
(This includes Irish, Polish, Spanish, 
Romanians and other White 
backgrounds) 

Highly 
likely Low risk 

Whilst all sections of the travelling 
public should benefit from MLS, 
there is little to no evidence to 
suggest that this target group would 
be particularly adversely affected 
over any other. 

Arabs  -- -- 

Don’t have the data to specifically 
address the factor but would 
otherwise say would be impacted in 
the same way as other BAME 
groups. 

Any other background not covered 
by any of the above  __ __ Data on race and ethnicity not held 

so no data  
Religion/Belief 

Positive Advers
e Comment or 

Target Group 
Impact Impact Evidence 

Buddhists     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Christians     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Hindus     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Jews     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Muslims     Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 

Page 135



from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Sikhs     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Others     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Sexual Orientation 

Positive Advers
e Comment or 

Target Group 
Impact Impact Evidence 

Gay men     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Lesbians     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

Bisexual     

Data not held but all sections of the 
travelling public stand to benefit 
from the safety standards that MLS 
should deliver 

    

Question 7 
Have you identified two or more 
high adverse impacts in the table 
above? 

 Yes 

    

Question 8 
If you have identified one high 
adverse impact or any medium/low 
adverse impacts, what 
improvements to the activity could 
you make to mitigate high/medium/ 
low adverse impacts? Please give 
details of the improvements you 
plan to make. 

The highest cost risk is that around the requirements for 
vehicles. Mitigation has already been identified in the form of 
a substantial Clean Taxi Fund and discussions are ongoing 
with central government with regards to additional funding 
support in this area. Engagement with the trades continues in 
order to understand the ongoing impacts and risks, 
particularly in the recovery from the pandemic. 
 
Further mitigation is proposed by way of and extended 
exemption period for the CAP, for GM licensed Hackneys and 
Private Hire vehicles. 
 
In order to mitigate the risk of introducing MLS in the absence 
of wider and meaningful national reform, a public awareness 
campaign is essential to encourage residents and visitors to 
use only GM licensed vehicles (and drivers) when travelling. 
 

    

Question 9 
Have you set up equality monitoring systems to carry out regular checks on the effects your activity 
has on the following groups?  

Page 136



Equality Group 

Has an 
equality 
monitorin
g system 
been set 
up? (Y/N) 

Details 

Age  N 

Whilst we capture this data, we are not 
monitoring regularly. In order to monitor we’d 

have to change our Data sharing agreements to 
explain how this will be used.  

Disability  Y 

We currently monitor on a quarterly basis the 
number of complaints we get relating to a 

disability issue, so we can continue to monitor 
the impacts over the course of the activity.  

Gender  N 

 We would have to have a clear reason for 
capturing in our DSA and to begin to capture and 

monitor this information would increase 
processing (and therefore licence fee) costs. 

Race  N 

 We would have to have a clear reason for 
capturing in our DSA and to begin to capture and 

monitor this information would increase 
processing (and therefore licence fee) costs. 

 

Religion/Belief  N 

 We would have to have a clear reason for 
capturing in our DSA and to begin to capture and 

monitor this information would increase 
processing (and therefore licence fee) costs. 

 

Sexual Orientation  N 

 We would have to have a clear reason for 
capturing in our DSA and to begin to capture and 

monitor this information would increase 
processing (and therefore licence fee) costs. 

 
Other  N   

    

Question 10 
How will you measure the success 
of any equality monitoring systems 
identified in Question 9 above? How 
will you ensure that everyone 
involved in the activity knows and 
understands what improvements 
you intend to make and is able to 
put the activity into practice with 
those improvements? 

Regular engagement sessions with trade representatives have 
taken place throughout the activity. Feedback and information 
gathered from these sessions helps inform the assessment of 
the identified risks. Ongoing engagement will ensure that any 
adverse impacts are identified and responded to. 
 
 

    

Question 11 
Are there any elements within this 
activity that require a separate 
Equality Impact Analysis? 

 

    

Question 12 
Is a Full Impact Analysis needed?  
If in Question 6 you identified two 
or more adverse impacts then you 
should either  
 

  

Page 137



- abort the activity, or  
- carry out a full analysis  

    

Question 13 
List all of the information that you 
have taken into account in carrying 
out this Equality Analysis. 

Data held on the Council’s licensing business system. 
Information known by Service Managers through service 
delivery and daily interaction with customers. 

Page 138



Report to Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting 21st September 2021 

Portfolio Portfolio Holder for 
Highways and Housing  

Report Author Mark Robinson 
 

Public Document Public 

 

 

GM 2040 Transport Strategy – Streets for All Sub Strategy 
 

 
Executive Summary 

 

1. This report provides an overview of the GM Streets for All Strategy, which 
forms a sub-strategy to the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.   
Members are asked to review the content and objectives of the strategy and 
provide any comments prior to consideration by the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority.   

Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) have been working with the GMCA, 
the ten Greater Manchester Districts and the GM Mayor to prepare new and 
updated transport strategy documents that cover the entire city region in 
support of the GM 2040 Transport Strategy.  The Streets for All Sub Strategy 
will support the delivery of the Rochdale Local Transport Implementation Plan 
(DLIP) which sets out practical actions to achieve the ambitions of the strategy 
at a local level.   

 

Recommendation 
 

2. Members are asked to review and endorse the GM Streets for All Strategy 
prior to consideration by the GM Combined Authority in September.  
 

Reason for Recommendation 
 

Page 139

Agenda Item 10



3. To provide details of the content and publication arrangements for the GM 
Streets for All Strategy prior to consideration by the GM Combined Authority. 
The document will form part of the GM 2040 Transport Strategy 2040, Our 
Five Year Delivery Plan (2020-2025) and Local Implementation Plan and will 
be used to inform the design and implementation of highway schemes at the 
local level as well as support Council and GMCA bids for external funding.  
The report considers the documents alongside other planned strategic 
activities. 

Key Points for Consideration 
 

4. Updated Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 documents were 
approved by GMCA in January 2021, including: a refreshed version of the 
long-term, statutory local transport plan (LTP) - the Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040 (GM2040); a final version of Our Five-Year Transport 
Delivery Plan (2021-2026); and ten new Local Implementation Plans, 
including the Rochdale Local Transport Implementation Plan (DLIP) which 
was approved by Full Council in December 2020.  The Greater Manchester 
Transport Strategy 2040 documents support Greater Manchester’s ambition 
to be carbon neutral by 2038 
 
To support the overarching LTP documents a suite of GM2040 sub-strategies 
is being developed which set out more detailed policies, principles and 
guidance on how GM intends to deliver the 2040 ambitions.  These sub-
strategies will be crucial in helping to ensure we are focusing our finite 
resources on “doing the right things” (to achieve our 2040 vision); “doing 
things right” in terms of delivering against consistently high standards to 
maximise the impact of our transport interventions; and to ensure we are 
creating a coherent transport network for GM which is aligned with the 2040 
Network principles and delivers our Bee Network ambitions.  These sub-
strategies are at varying stages of development. 

Streets for All is planned to be one of the first GM 2040 sub-strategies to be 
approved and adopted by GMCA.  The Draft Streets for All Strategy is 
appended to this report.   

What is ‘Streets for All’?  

Streets for All is a new approach for everything we do on streets in Greater 
Manchester. Streets for All supports our place-based agenda as well as 
achieving our ambition for more travel by walking, cycling and public 
transport, which will help us to tackle our most pressing economic, 
environmental, quality of life and innovation challenges.   

Page 140



The ambition is to design more welcoming and greener streets which enable 
people to incorporate more physical activity into their daily lives; which have 
clean air; which are safe and secure for everyone; which provide good 
access to public transport; and which are accessible for those with mobility 
impairment. 

When published, the Streets for All Strategy will build on the policy direction 
set out in the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 and our Right Mix 
vision. It emphasises the importance of delivering active travel and public 
transport infrastructure and service improvements in a co-ordinated way and 
of supporting land use changes, which bring day to day services closer to 
where people live. Culture change around active and sustainable travel is 
also becoming more embedded across Greater Manchester, and this also 
forms a key part of the Streets for All Strategy.  

Streets for All offers a long term approach - rather than an overnight ‘quick 
fix’ - which will require changes over time to how streets are designed and 
managed. It will also involve changes to the role of some existing streets 
where, for example, place-making may be given greater emphasis than the 
movement of private vehicles. Political leadership will be required - alongside 
close dialogue with local communities – as we transition towards Streets for 
All across Greater Manchester, as part of our ambition for clean air and 
carbon neutrality, and our ongoing commitment to improving public health.   

For us to achieve all these important ambitions, our city-region needs to be 
much easier to get around by walking, cycling and using public transport, 
with streets which are more pleasant to spend time in. The purpose of 
Streets for All is to set out Greater Manchester’s progressive approach to 
making this happen, by putting people first as we shape and manage our 
streets.   

What kind of values underpin ‘Streets for All’?  

As shown in the graphic below, Streets for All will be guided by 7 ‘Essentials’ 
which are for us - GMCA, the 10 Greater Manchester councils and TfGM - to 
deliver in partnership with residents, businesses, transport operators, the 
NHS and emergency services all working together and doing our bit. 

Page 141



 

 

Our 7 Streets for All Essentials are our priorities and our promise. They 
support our people centred approach to streets across Greater Manchester. 
Each Essential is explained in the Streets for All strategy appended to this 
report. 

The Streets for All Approach 

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought the quality of our streets into sharp 
focus. People are spending more time in their local areas and high streets, 
and recognise the value of having safe places to walk and cycle, and to 
spend time in. Our residential streets have started to feel more like 
community spaces as people have been interacting more.  Now, more than 
ever, people understand the urgent need to improve streets in their local 
neighbourhoods and town centres to support better health, wellbeing and 
economic vitality.   

The Streets for All approach is about working at three levels to ensure that 
Greater Manchester’s roads can transition to deliver Streets for All: 

1. Spatial Planning;  

2. Network Planning; and  

Page 142



3. Street Design & Management. 

Central to the approach is reducing the distances people need to travel to 
reach everyday destinations such as work, healthcare, education, green 
spaces and leisure facilities. Shorter distances mean more trips that can 
easily be walked or cycled, and new developments can be designed to be 
easy and safe to travel by active modes and using public transport. The ‘15 
minute neighbourhood’ concept, whereby in urban areas residents can meet 
most of their needs within a short walk, cycle or public transport journey, is 
an example of this. 

Our streets have different roles (illustrated below). One objective of ‘Streets 
for All’ is to ensure the right movement is happening on the right kind of 
street. Some streets are ‘Destination Places’ or ‘Active Neighbourhoods’, 
which have low levels of moving vehicles. We need to make sure these kinds 
of streets are pleasant places to live and spend time in, where it is easy to 
access local facilities by walking and cycling. Active travel, alongside public 
transport, also plays an important role in supporting economically successful 
‘High Streets’. 

‘Connector Roads’ are important for moving buses and making sure that 
public transport is given enough priority to be reliable and attractive to users. 
They are also important for service and delivery vehicles accessing our city 
and town centres. ‘Strategic Roads’ should be carrying larger vehicles on 
longer journeys to ensure that the impacts of motorised traffic on local 
streets are minimised.  

 

 

A major benefit of this Streets for All approach is that it avoids pitting 
different transport users against one another (e.g., drivers vs. cyclists; bus 

Page 143



users vs. pedestrians) and instead starts with a consideration of all people 
and places, and then considers what sorts of movement need to be 
facilitated within a broad corridor or across a local area. It also helps us to 
take a more strategic and integrated view of the transport networks we are 
delivering (whether that is walking and cycling networks, bus networks, or 
networks for moving freight and general traffic) and makes sure we provide 
the right quality and capacity of transport and infrastructure to meet that 
need.  It also doesn’t require ring-fenced funding pots for different transport 
modes: for example, within a single Streets for All scheme, we can design 
the right facilities for public realm, walking and cycling, buses and general 
traffic.    

We are piloting elements of the Streets for All approach through a number of 
transport projects such as Quality Bus Transit, as we believe that these will 
make things better for people travelling in our local neighbourhoods, towns, 
and cities. We are clear, however, about the need to review and report 
progress on these different elements of Streets for All, as we aim to deliver 
our overall transport vision for the people of Greater Manchester.  We 
commit to keeping the Streets for All strategy and policies under regular 
review to ensure it meets the needs of the people of Greater Manchester. 

 Alternatives Considered 

 The 2040 Transport Strategy and Delivery Plans, alongside the likes of 
Places for Everyone, will help articulate to residents and Government how 
we will deliver sustainable economic growth.  It will also identify transport 
improvements which will need to take place to support these strategic growth 
locations.  Together, these documents offer an integrated approach to 
transport and land use planning, by identifying the transport interventions 
required to deliver the scale of growth being planned across Greater 
Manchester over the next couple of decades. 

 At a local level, the guidance will also help to develop the transport and 
minor interventions that will need to be delivered in the short term to support 
the likes of the Rochdale Borough Growth Plan, Rail Corridor Strategy and 
Town Centre Masterplans, as well as Right Mix and Carbon Reduction 
targets.  It will also be helpful when it comes to setting out a programme of 
priority local transport and minor works interventions for the next five years, 
and will help to provide a basis against which future local transport and 
minor works funding is allocated for local delivery, as well as support bids for 
other non GM funding. 

To not approve these sub-strategies could result in the loss of significant 
future external funding opportunities for the Borough.  

Page 144



Costs and Budget Summary 
 
5. There are no costs implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report.  It is considered that the document offers the opportunity to attract 
significant investment and external funding for future transport investment 
projects across the Borough.   

Please see Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-26) which includes 
a funding summary statement. https://tfgm.com/our-five-year-transport-
delivery-plan  

 

 
Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. Equalities Implications: 

The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 documents aim to 
contribute to delivering sustainable economic growth, improve quality of life 
and protect the environment.  The original GM Transport Strategy 2040 
was the subject of an Integrated Assessment which includes an Equalities 
Assessment. Streets for All has also been the subject of an Equalities 
Impact Assessment which is also appended to this report. 

 
 
Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 
8. 2040 GM Transport Strategy, 

Our 5 Year Transport Delivery 
Plan (2021 – 26) 

https://tfgm.com/Strategy  

 

 

For Further Information Contact: Mark Robinson 

Assistant Director (Economy) 

Mark.robinson@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Page 145

https://tfgm.com/our-five-year-transport-delivery-plan
https://tfgm.com/our-five-year-transport-delivery-plan
https://tfgm.com/Strategy


Streets for All 

1 

  
 

 

  

Final Draft for Approval

Version: 16/08/2021

Page 146



Streets for All 

2 

Table of Contents 
Table of Contents ...............................................................................................................2 

Foreword [to be added] .....................................................................................................4 

1. Introduction ...............................................................................................................5 

2. Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 .............................................................7 

3. Streets in Greater Manchester – Our New Approach ................................................15 

Street Types ........................................................................................................................15 

Examples of the different Street Types ...............................................................................16 

Our Three Levels of Delivery ...............................................................................................19 

Level 1 – Spatial Planning ....................................................................................................19 

Level 2 – Network Planning .................................................................................................21 

Level 3 – Street Design and Management ..........................................................................22 

4. The Streets for All Essentials  ....................................................................................24 

A. Green and vibrant streets that are welcoming places to spend time in .........................25 

Healthy, green streets .........................................................................................................25 

Economically vibrant places ................................................................................................26 

Streets and spaces that are safe .........................................................................................26 

B. An attractive and inclusive walking environment .........................................................27 

Walking is the natural choice for everyday journeys ..........................................................27 

Streets are welcoming places for everyone to walk ...........................................................28 

There is space on our pavements for everyone to walk in comfort ...................................28 

C. A safe and connected cycling experience ......................................................................30 

People can reach more everyday destinations easily and safely by cycle ..........................30 

People feel valued when they are cycling ...........................................................................30 

Cycling is widely considered to be a safe and secure travel option ....................................30 

D. A reliable, integrated, and accessible public transport network ...................................31 

Buses turn up, and arrive at their destinations on time .....................................................31 

Major centres are connected by “Quality Bus Transit” services .........................................32 

It will be easier to access public transport by walking and cycling .....................................32 

Taking the bus is seen as a safe and attractive option ........................................................33 

Bus Reform and the National Bus Strategy .........................................................................33 

E. Goods reach their destination on time with minimal impacts on local communities .....34 

Reliable freight routes are clearly defined ..........................................................................34 

Page 147



Streets for All 

3 

The negative impacts of freight movement, deliveries and servicing on local communities 
are minimised .....................................................................................................................34 

F. Streets that enable people to drive less ........................................................................35 

Giving more space to the most efficient and sustainable modes .......................................35 

Reducing levels of traffic on our roads ...............................................................................35 

Making productive use of kerb space .................................................................................36 

Fewer trips are being made in the most congested periods ...............................................36 

G. A future proofed network ............................................................................................37 

Good design makes maintenance easier ............................................................................37 

New mobility technologies help us to create a safe, sustainable streets which make better 
use of existing street space. ................................................................................................37 

5. Our new ways of working .........................................................................................40 
Investing in Streets for All - Funding ................................................................................41 

Appendices ......................................................................................................................43 

Appendix A: Streets for All Essentials and Street Type Requirements [to be updated] .....44 

Appendix B: (Interim) Street User Level of Service .............................................................49 

Appendix C: Measuring Success – [to be updated] .............................................................52 

Appendix D: Summary of Actions .......................................................................................55 

Glossary ...............................................................................................................................58 

References ..........................................................................................................................59 

Maps ...................................................................................................................................60 
 

  

Page 148



Streets for All 

4 

Foreword 
To be added.  

 

  

Page 149



Streets for All 

5 

 

Our Streets for All Vision: 

We will ensure that our streets are welcoming, green, and 
safe spaces for all people, enabling more travel by walking, 
cycling and using public transport while creating thriving 
places that support local communities and businesses. 
(Policy 20 – Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040)  
 

1. Introduction 
Greater Manchester’s streets make up the majority of our public space. We use these spaces 
not only to travel through, but for living, learning, working, relaxing, playing, socialising and 
exercising in. In the past, our streets were not always designed with people in mind. Instead, 
there was a focus on designing streets for high volumes of motorised vehicles. As in many 
places across the UK, people in Greater Manchester live with the legacy of decisions that 
have not put people first, and that have led to a high dependence on cars for day-to-day 
travel.  

This legacy means we need to improve the air we breathe, ensure our roads are safer for all 
people and that they support people to incorporate physical activity, such as walking and 
cycling, into their daily lives. It also requires us to address major roads dividing communities; 
parents worried about how to keep their children safe and active; and increased isolation for 
older people, those with mobility impairments and people without access to a car. People 
who live and work in Greater Manchester have told us that they want this to change.  

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought the quality of our streets into sharp focus. Residents are 
spending more time in their local areas and high streets, and recognize the value of having 
safe places to walk and cycle and to spend time in.  Our residential streets have started to 
feel more like community spaces as people have been interacting more. Now, more than 
ever, people understand the urgent need to improve streets in their local neighbourhoods 
and town centres to support better health, wellbeing and to enable local businesses to 
benefit from increased trade.  

We also need to meet the challenge of reducing carbon emissions. Greater Manchester aims 
to be carbon neutral by 2038.  As road transport generates nearly a third of all carbon 
emissions, we need to see significant changes in travel behaviour over the coming years.  
This will require a rapid transition to cleaner vehicles, a significant reduction in travel by 
private motor vehicles and a radical change in how people, goods and services move into 
and around our city-region.  

Page 150



Streets for All 

6 

For us to achieve all these important ambitions, Greater Manchester needs a more inclusive 
transport network that is more accessible to all people. That should include making it much 
easier to get around on public pathways, including for people with sensory impairments, 
wheelchair and scooter users, and those pushing prams, cycling and using public transport, 
with streets which are more pleasant to spend time in.  

The purpose of this Streets for All Strategy is to set out Greater Manchester’s progressive 
approach to making our streets easier for all to get around by putting people first as we 
shape and manage our streets.   

Whilst most people would agree with this ambition, it’s delivery will require some tough 
decisions to be taken which challenge the status quo. We have a finite amount of road space 
to allocate to different uses and, in certain streets, some of that space will need to be taken 
away from cars to provide more safe space for sustainable and active modes of transport, 
such as walking, cycling and public transport.  

These decisions need to be made through close dialogue and consultation with local 
communities and road users, and support will ultimately be needed for political leaders who 
will sometimes need to make tough decisions to deliver this Streets for All vision at a local 
level.  Achieving our Streets for All vision will not happen overnight. GM authorities’ ability 
to improve all our streets is constrained by things like funding availability which is frequently 
out of our control. Over time, however, we will progressively improve streets across GM in 
line with the vision and principles in this strategy. 

This Strategy will be supported by other more detailed plans, focusing on issues such as 
traffic and road danger reduction, bus service improvements, local cycling and walking 
improvements and electric vehicle charging infrastructure requirements, to help manage the 
transition to cleaner, greener and more inclusive travel across Greater Manchester. We 
commit to reviewing the Streets for All agenda initially over the next two years, and 
throughout the lifespan of the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040.  

 

 

  

Page 151



Streets for All 

7 

2. Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 
The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 aims to ensure that people who live, 
work, visit and do business in Greater Manchester benefit from - world class connections 
that support long-term, sustainable economic growth and access to opportunity for all.  

The four key elements of this transport vision - which represent the goals of our Greater 
Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 - are set out below.  

 

As we work towards this vision, we are guided by seven mutually reinforcing Network 
Principles (set out below) which we apply consistently to meet the needs of all people who 
use our streets:  

 

 Integrated – allowing people to move seamlessly between services and modes of 
transport on our streets;  

Page 152

https://tfgm.com/strategy


Streets for All 

8 

 Inclusive – designing and maintaining accessible and comfortable streets for people of 
all ages and abilities;  

 Healthy – promoting walking and cycling to improve activity levels; 
 Environmentally responsible – delivering lower emissions, create and sustain better 

places for nature and to achieve our commitment to be a carbon neutral city-region 
by 2038; 

 Reliable – giving people and those moving goods and providing services confidence in 
their journey times;  

 Safe and secure – people feel safe, and are safe, day and night;  
 Well maintained and resilient – ensuring our streets and urban public spaces are 

designed and maintained to a high standard, and can withstand unexpected events 
and weather conditions.  

Our ‘Right Mix’ vision is at the heart of our plans 

This means achieving the ‘right mix’ of transport types - public transport, walking, cycling, 
car and others - on Greater Manchester’s transport network. We aim to improve our 
transport system so that we can reduce car use to 50% of daily trips (or less) with the 
remaining 50% made by public transport, walking and cycling. This will mean one million 
more trips each day being made by active travel and public transport in Greater Manchester 
by 2040. 

Figure 1: Right Mix Targets by Journey Type (Spatial Theme)  

  

Half of all journeys will continue to be made by car, and we will continue to support those 
journeys, but if we want more people to spend more time on streets, travelling sustainably, 
we need to champion a people-centred approach to the decisions we make about how our 
streets are designed and managed. 

Through Streets for All we will see progress towards the Right Mix, particularly for 
Neighbourhood and Regional Centre trips. Figure 1 indicates our ambition for more active 
travel and public transport use for these key journey types. We will see this as we deliver the 
public transport and active travel infrastructure and services needed for people to leave 
their cars at home, and as we support land use changes which make it easier for people to 
access services from where they live. People should have access to local services that meet 

Page 153



Streets for All 

9 

their daily needs within a 15-minute walk of their front door. Culture change around active 
travel and public transport is also becoming more embedded across Greater Manchester 
through School Streets projects for example, which aim to improve conditions on 
surrounding roads and outside the school gates - and this will help us to achieve the Right 
Mix, too.  

 

Streets for All sets out how we will progress towards our Right Mix vision, recognising that 
the streets of Greater Manchester vary greatly: each is unique, and many of them change in 
character throughout the day, across the week and along their length. Our role is to nurture 
the distinct character of each street, based on a good understanding of what both local 
communities and people travelling want from different streets, and how we can make them 
more welcoming for all.  

Page 154



Streets for All 

10 

 

National policy developments 

Streets for All is well-aligned with national policy documents. In ‘Gear Change: A bold vision 
for Cycling and Walking’ report (2020) Government outlines its ambition to create better 
streets for people walking and cycling. In ‘Bus Back Better: National Bus Strategy for England’ 
(2021) there is an expectation that all Local Transport Authorities to ‘commit to significant 
improvements in traffic management, including bus priority measures and active travel 
measures’. The approach set out in Streets for All will also support our pathway to net zero 
transport, which is vital to the Government’s ‘Decarbonising Transport’ plan, alongside our 
local plans to reduce carbon and improve air quality.   

Why does Greater Manchester need Streets for All? 

Streets for All provides an overarching framework for everything we do on streets in Greater 
Manchester. Achieving our ambition for more travel by walking, cycling and public transport 
will help us to tackle our most pressing economic, environmental, quality of life and 
innovation challenges.  

This includes improving public health, safety and clean air and addressing urgent 
environmental concerns around carbon, climate change, noise pollution and biodiversity. 
Our Streets for All approach is also important when it comes to meeting the travel needs of 
a growing population, supporting our high streets and town and city centres (especially 
during the recovery from Covid-19) and reducing the undesirable impacts of congestion. 
Streets for All also helps us to focus on harnessing new technologies, including by using data, 
to gain better insight into how people travel and making best use of transport innovations to 
support the more flexible use of our streets. 

Page 155



Streets for All 

11 
  

Page 156



Streets for All 

12 
  

Page 157



Streets for All 

13 
  

Page 158



Streets for All 

14 
  

Page 159



Streets for All 

15 

3. Streets in Greater Manchester – Our New Approach 
Streets in Greater Manchester have many different roles and are used by a wide range of 
people.  They are places where people live, shop, work, learn, play, eat and drink, access 
medical services or simply spend time.  Our streets are also corridors for movement – to 
allow people to walk, cycle, drive and travel by bus or tram to a range of activities; and to 
move goods to where they are needed.  We therefore need to apply a new, more tailored 
and sensitive approach to meet these varied needs, developed through careful engagement 
with local communities, businesses and other people who use different streets, and 
balancing the need for movement, with our ambition to create great, people-friendly places. 

Our new approach is in line with the Department for Transport’s proposed revision of the 
Highway Code. New rules will mean that, when people are driving their cars, they will have a 
greater level of responsibility to ensure they reduce the danger they pose to more 
vulnerable road users (such as people walking or cycling).  

Street Types 

In Greater Manchester we have identified five main street types.  

 

Page 160



Streets for All 

16 

Examples of the different Street Types   

Destination Places – The area 
around Altrincham Market in the 
borough of Trafford is fantastic 
example of a Destination Place. 
People who live, work and shop in 
the area use the place to stop, 
relax and spend time together, and 
there are low levels of vehicle 
movement in the area.  There are 
many destination places across 
Greater Manchester, of different 
sizes, including in many of our 
iconic town and city centre squares. A further example of a Destination Place is the area 
around the Bridgefield Street Parklet in Stockport. The average time spent on Bridgefield 
Street increased - from 7 to 12 minutes - after the parklet was introduced. Local businesses 
can see up to a 40% increase in shopping footfall by well-planned improvements in the 
walking environment (Gear Change, 2021). 

Active Neighbourhoods: Active 
Neighbourhoods like the ones in 
Ashton (pictured) and Stalybridge 
in Tameside borough provide 
pleasant places for people of all 
ages to spend time. They enable 
people to access local facilities 
safely by walking and cycling. In 
this example, the planters allow 
people walking and cycling to move 
easily but prevent vehicle through 
movement.  

 

Page 161



Streets for All 

17 

High Streets: In Bolton, 
this High Street provides 
space for lots of people 
to walk, cycle and spend 
time in while shopping 
and accessing essential 
services. Lighting, 
benches and trees help 
provide a pleasant 
environment in which 
people want to dwell 
for longer, enabling the 
town centre to prosper. The main High Street in Denton (Tameside) is another example of a 
thriving street in which a high proportion of trips are made by walking and cycling.   

Connector Roads - This 
is an example of a 
Connector Road, in 
Wigan. There are fewer 
people here, and 
although the street 
clearly has an important 
role in making sure 
people can access town 
centres by walking and 
cycling, it also has a role 
to play in supporting the 
movement of buses and making sure they are given adequate priority to be reliable and 
attractive to users. As you can see, these streets are also important for service and delivery 
vehicles accessing our city and town centres. Broughton Cycleway in Salford, which provides 
2km of semi-segregated cycleway from Broughton to the city centre, is another Connector 
Road. Following its opening, numbers of people using it to cycle grew significantly. 

Motorways and 
Strategic Roads Finally, 
this is Regent Road on 
the Manchester/Salford 
boundary. It plays a key 
role in carrying 
motorised vehicles on 
longer journeys.  Whilst 
these are important 
movement corridors, we 
also need to make sure 

Page 162



Streets for All 

18 

that people walking and cycling can safely cross these roads to access other communities 
and facilities. A further example of this type of street is the A6 to Manchester Airport Relief 
Road scheme in Stockport, which bypasses heavily congested district and local centres and 
includes a shared pedestrian and cycle path alongside the road.  

It is also important to highlight Greater Manchester’s Key Route Network (KRN) which 
consists of 660 km of important roads linking our key centres and major employment areas 
and which provide links to the motorway network.  Whilst much of the KRN would be 
categorised as Connector or Strategic Roads, many of these corridors also pass through 
residential areas or local high streets and need to be sensitively designed and managed in 
these locations to allow people to cross them easily and to minimise the negative impacts of 
traffic.    

In future, each street type will be designed to offer a particular “level of service” for 
different user groups.  Appendix A and B set out the role of each Street Type in supporting 
the Streets for All Essentials, for each user group. These more detailed aspects will inform 
design principles and will guide what people can expect to experience on our future streets 
in Greater Manchester.  

Page 163



Streets for All 

19 

Map 1 – Current Street Types on the Key Route Network 

 

Map 2 – Street Types in Bolton Town Centre  

 

Page 164



Streets for All 

20 

Maps 1 and 2 show a classification of the Key Route Network and Bolton Town Centre. We 
will use the street typologies framework, illustrated below, to support shaping the future 
role of streets across Greater Manchester. This will help us to: 

 Assess the extent to which a street or network of streets are delivering against the 
Streets for All essentials and therefore meeting user requirements, as streets and 
areas change.  

 Highlight where there is a mismatch between street type and user requirements that 
is limiting a street or area from realising its potential.  

 Set priorities for different streets and networks and support decisions on balancing 
the user requirements. 

Our Three Levels of Delivery  

Many historic practices for designing and managing streets have been focused on increasing 
the ease and speed of motorised vehicles passing through them. This is appropriate for a 
small number of roads - where people do not live, shop, work or need to walk, cycle or 
spend time! On most streets, however, designing and managing streets in this way can lead 
to unhealthy, unsafe and unwelcoming environments for people.  

Most streets in Greater Manchester have many different roles and are used by a wide range 
of people for the different activities we have described above. We therefore need to apply a 
new, more tailored and sensitive approach to meet these needs, developed through careful 
engagement with local communities, businesses and other people who use the street.  

This is not simply a collection of street redesign projects, however. Our new approach is 
about working at three levels to ensure that Greater Manchester’s streets feel like, and are, 
Streets for All.  

 

Level 1 – Spatial Planning 

Considering the location and design of new developments is important. It provides the 
opportunity to reduce the distances people need to travel to reach everyday destinations 
such as work, healthcare, education, green spaces, and leisure facilities by locating these 
conveniently closer to where people live or in accessible town and city centre locations. 

1. Spatial Planning

2. Network Planning

3. Street Design & Management

Page 165



Streets for All 

21 

Shorter distances mean that more trips can easily be walked or cycled, and new 
developments can be designed to be easy and safe to access through active travel and public 
transport.  

The 15-minute neighbourhood concept - 
where people can access services that 
meet their daily needs (such as school, a 
GP surgery and a station or other public 
transport stop) within a 15-minute walk 
from home - helps to summarise the sort 
of approach we are trying to implement 
in Greater Manchester. We want people 
of all ages and abilities to benefit from 
this approach.  

Car ownership is the greatest influence on 
whether people choose to walk, cycle or 
use public transport. When it comes to 
trips that are just 1km in length, 30% are 
made by car. Of trips between 1 and 2km, 
62% are made by car. There is huge 
potential to switch many of these short 
trips to walking and cycling. How we plan 
and design our city-region will greatly influence people’s decision as to whether they need to 
own a car.  

In our city-region, the emerging Places for Everyone plan (and related updates to Local 
Plans) will focus on sustainable sites and priority development locations and provides an 
opportunity to prioritise walking, cycling and public transport over private vehicle use in the 
design of developments. The significant growth in Greater Manchester means we will need 
to move people more efficiently to ensure our city-region continues to function and doesn’t 
constrain economic growth or impact on quality of life or the environment. Planning a future 
that supports our Right Mix vision will enable us to achieve this.  All Greater Manchester 
local authorities will be encouraged to embed the Streets for All essentials in Local Plans 
where they are being reviewed.  

It is important that developers create safe and attractive cycle and walking routes through 
their sites and to key local destinations such as public transport hubs. Developers will need 
to consider access to public transport when designing new developments, for example by 
ensuring direct access to bus stops and making it easy for buses to pass through the 
development.  

We will also work with developers to ensure that while new buildings are being constructed, 
safe and direct cycle and walking routes are maintained around the site.  

As illustrated above, ‘Plan Melbourne’ sets out a 
similar concept for ‘living locally’ in that city. 
(Department of Environment, Land, Water and 
Planning, Victorian Government, 2017). 

Page 166



Streets for All 

22 

In addition, at employment locations and other major destinations, facilities to support 
active travel - such as showers, lockers, secure, covered cycle parking and changing facilities 
- should be provided. Employers should also promote alternatives to private car ownership 
by developing Travel Plans which support the use of active travel and public transport, and 
opportunities for car sharing, for example.  

 

Actions: 

To ensure that new developments are meeting our new standards we will: 

 Promote the 15-minute neighbourhood concept in our work on spatial and transport 
plans. 

 Develop a Streets for All check, proportionate and appropriate to the development, to be 
included in transport assessments and set out any mitigation measures to ensure the 
development aligns with streets for all essentials and design guidance. This can be 
discussed in early pre-planning application conversations with developers. 

 Incorporate the 7 Streets for All Essentials in Local Plans, where they are being reviewed. 
 Update the Transport for Sustainable Communities Guidance to reference Streets for All 

requirements and national policy such as Gear Change, Bus Back Better and the latest 
Manual for Streets guidance.  

Level 2 – Network Planning 

To enable people and goods to move around Greater Manchester sustainably and efficiently, 
each street needs to perform its role in the broader transport network. To plan this network, 
and resolve competing demands for street space on key routes, we will use network plans to 
shape proposals for individual projects. 

The aim of this type of network planning is to ensure we are enabling appropriate 
movement on appropriate streets, and creating a coherent network for different types of 
use. For example, the M60 and other motorways within Greater Manchester should be 
carrying the larger vehicles on longer journeys to ensure that the impacts of motorised 
traffic on local streets are minimised.   Similarly, we are planning and delivering a coherent 
active travel network for Greater Manchester which needs to accommodated appropriately 
on different sorts of streets.   

We will use network planning not just to help us to design changes in specific locations, but 
to manage how the consequences of new street design results in people moving differently 
around areas. For example, we may need to provide priority on a corridor for buses (which 
make much more efficient use of limited road space) but that may result in less space for 
general traffic.  Similarly, it may be agreed that segregated cycle infrastructure is more 
appropriately provided on a parallel corridor away from major traffic flows. 

Page 167



Streets for All 

23 

We will work with Highways England, and traffic information providers, to ensure that 
technology is used to direct different users to the most appropriate networks. This means 
that when people are driving, they will be encouraged to use the key route network and 
strategic road network rather than local streets wherever possible.   

We will also continue to work with Highways England and utility companies to manage 
planned and unplanned events and ensure that, when required, appropriate diversion 
routes are identified. As part of this, it is vitally important for us to develop a coherent bus 
network with appropriate levels of priority given to buses over general traffic on key 
corridors.   

Actions: 

To ensure individual transport projects come together to support our planned networks, and 
our long-term “right-mix” mode share ambitions, we will:  

 Review and update the Highway Protocols to reflect changes in roles and responsibilities, 
and continue to review the priority routes for public transport, active travel, freight and 
general traffic across GM (aligned with the Right Mix mode share target and future Road 
Danger Reduction Strategy).  

 Through investment projects, identify alternate suitable routes or mitigation plans for 
key points on the network where there are competing pressures for priority from 
different modes. 

 Within the design process for specific streets or corridors, agree what level of motorised 
traffic will be accommodated and how to manage traffic across the area to achieve 
traffic reduction. 

Level 3 – Street Design and Management 

Having considered 1) accessibility to local services and the need for new developments to be 
integrated with public transport and active travel planning and 2) the role of a street in the 
network for different modes of travel we can then go on to look at 3) the unique local 
context, to identify how we can make a street healthier, safer and more welcoming for 
everyone.  

There are over 9,000km of local streets in Greater Manchester. These streets will not change 
overnight: the Streets for All approach will be a well-planned process supported by proper 
consultation and investment to support a long-term change. It will take time for everyone to 
start to feel the benefits of our Streets for All approach.  A key measure of success will be 
people seeing and experiencing positive change to the streets they regularly use. Our Five-
Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-2026) describes the first projects where this approach is 
being implemented, how these are being funded and sets out further asks of Government to 
support delivery.  

We will also explore the implementation of trials for certain street improvement schemes.  
This can help achieve changes more quickly and ensure a planned more permanent scheme 

Page 168

https://tfgm.com/our-five-year-transport-delivery-plan
https://tfgm.com/our-five-year-transport-delivery-plan


Streets for All 

24 

is right for the street. This should enable us to avoid spending money and resources 
modifying a scheme that does not work as anticipated. 

  

Page 169



Streets for All 

25 

 

Actions: 

To achieve this new objective of prioritising people in street design we will: 

 Ensure that the process for designing projects which affect our streets includes 
engagement with local communities and stakeholders at an early stage, so that their 
views can be incorporated into designs. For example, when developing proposals for 
Active Neighbourhoods and Mini Hollands, we will continue to work collaboratively with 
people who live locally from the planning stage through to delivery, allowing them to 
influence location and type of measures. This will allow us to develop a vision and 
objectives that are suited to streets corridors and areas. 

 Develop a Streets for All Design Guide tailored to the needs of Greater Manchester. In 
the interim refer to design guidance produced by the National Association of City 
Transportation Officials (NACTO) as a ‘best practice’ guide. 

 Undertake a Streets for All check for every place we are proposing a new intervention.  
 Establish a new process for reviewing project specifications at key stages to ensure each 

project is fully aligned with Streets for All. 

  

Page 170



Streets for All 

26 

4. The Streets for All Essentials  
Our Streets for All essentials respond directly to the challenges and ambitions set out earlier 
in this document. They are for us - TfGM and the 10 Greater Manchester councils - to deliver 
in partnership with residents, businesses, transport operators, the NHS and emergency 
services - all working together and doing our bit. 

 

Our 7 Streets for All Essentials are our priorities and our promise. They are:  

Page 171



Streets for All 

27 

A. Green and vibrant streets that are welcoming places to 
spend time in 
We will adopt a people-centred approach to street design. This means more opportunities 
for people to sit, relax, play and socialise; more plants and trees and less traffic dominated 
streets. To do this we will create:  

Healthy, green streets 

We will create streets where all people feel welcome, relaxed and safe. Our streets will 
provide regular opportunities to stop and rest.  They will provide clean environments where 
there are things to see and do.  And they will offer plenty of shade and shelter, to ensure 
that all people can use the streets, whatever the weather.  

We want to ensure that streets are welcoming to all people, regardless of their age. Our 
Streets for All approach supports the creation of play areas and more residential streets that 
are safe for children to play in.  

By increasing tree planting on streets, where appropriate, we will make the environment 
more relaxing to encourage more people to walk and cycle as part of their daily routine and 
to spend more time outdoors relaxing and exploring. This will also help GM to adapt to 
climate change as trees remove harmful air pollutants, produce oxygen, help to keep the 
environment cooler in hot weather and help to reduce localised flooding and water 
pollution. Trees also provide important wildlife habitats.  

Finally, we will take a coordinated and integrated approach to renewing greater Greater 
Manchester’s surface water drainage systems while implementing travel improvements. This 
is crucial to helping to reduce the risk of flooding in a sustainable and cost-effective manner 
while contributing to amenity and biodiversity aspects of place. We will implement 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) within Streets for All proposals that are place-
specific and take into account the needs of the water catchment, helping to mitigate flood 
risk. 

Page 172



Streets for All 

28 

Economically vibrant places 

Our Streets for All approach will create more economically vibrant places by providing more 
opportunities for people to meet and spend time on streets.  As we are delivering street 
improvements, we will work with local businesses, such as shops, cafes and restaurants to 
make their frontages more attractive. The importance of providing sufficient attractive 
street space has come into even sharper focus during the COVID-19 pandemic with more 
space being given to people to allow them to move around and socialise more safely on 
streets and in local centres.  

Streets and spaces that are safe 

Women, and people from identifiable minority groups, are more likely to feel unsafe when 
walking and cycling than other groups due to personal security concerns. This is 
unacceptable.  Everyone people should feel safe, on all of our streets, whether it is during 
the day or after dark. Improving personal security, and people’s perceptions of it, are really 
important elements of our Streets for All approach. We must make sure that people feel 
safe enough to choose walking, cycling or public transport, rather than thinking that they 
have to travel by private car for personal security reasons.  Maintenance and upkeep of local 
areas also decreases crime and the fear of crime.  

To achieve our ambition of Streets for All, we also need to tackle the 
dangers that result in road collisions - with the consequential loss of lives 
and serious injuries - and the perception of these dangers that discourage 
cycling and walking. Reducing road danger is a fundamental requirement for 
delivering Streets for All, and part of our focus is on maintaining and  
introducing measures that encourage vehicles to be driven safely, at safe 
speeds which - in turn – make cycling and walking safer for everyone, and 
streets more welcoming places to spend time.  

In addition, we need to ensure that people with disabilities can enjoy the opportunities and 
facilities offered on our streets. Alongside the provision of seating we know that ramps, 
accessible toilets, clear signage, tactile paving and keeping streets in a state of good repair 
are some of a number of elements that ensure people are not excluded from spending time 
in our public spaces.  

  

Page 173



Streets for All 

29 

B. An attractive and inclusive walking environment 
Greater Manchester will sign the International Charter for Walking. This globally-recognised 
Charter is designed to help authorities focus policies and activities on creating a culture 
where people choose to walk. 

To achieve the pledges within this Charter, we are delivering our Active Bee Network which 
will create an environment where:  

Walking is the natural choice for everyday journeys  

Walking should be considered the most obvious way to make short, local trips.  For many 
people, this is already the case.  

Within this document, the terms ‘walking’ and ‘pedestrian’ encompass not only people 
walking, but also those using streets and spaces in a variety of other ways (in addition to 
spending time in), for example to rest and play.  These include:  

 Those using wheelchairs, including electric wheelchairs and mobility scooters; 
 Those with sensory impairments, such as blind, partially sighted or deaf pedestrians 

who may experience the street environment quite differently; and 
 Those pushing prams, buggies and double buggies.    

 

We want to enable even more people to see walking as the natural choice for everyday 
travel. In order to do this, we will prioritise continuous, high-quality provision for walking on 
routes that link people’s homes with shops, places of work and education, healthcare, public 
transport facilities and leisure, including connections to valued and well-maintained Public 
Rights of Way.  We will do this through engagement with local people to help remove 
barriers to walking to these locations.  This means that we will be making it easier, quicker 
and more direct to walk for short trips than to drive them. We will prioritise the needs of 
people who currently find it hardest to get around by walking and cycling because of 
mobility impairments. 

Page 174

https://www.pedestrians-int.org/images/IFP/pdf/key_doc/charter_EN.pdf


Streets for All 

30 

We will make sure that crossing busy streets is as direct and safe as possible. Sometimes this 
will mean that vehicles have to slow down, or wait, while people cross. People will 
understand and have confidence that they have priority when crossing side-streets and 
when people are driving they will understand that they must let the people who are walking 
go first.  This is why we are trialling side-road zebra crossings to understand how improved 
road markings might improve priority and safety for pedestrians. 

A large number of future road crossing points were identified through the Active Bee 
Network mapping process (undertaken in 2018 and 2019).  A delivery programme is in place 
and TfGM is leading on this project, in close collaboration with GM’s Urban Traffic Control 
(UTC) team and the ten Greater Manchester Local Authorities. We will gradually increase the 
rate of delivery to support the aspiration to deliver the network by 2030. 

Streets are welcoming places for everyone to walk 

Some people do not walk when making short, local trips, because routes are not well 
designed with the amenities they need, such as seating, shelter, safe crossing provision or 
lighting. Sometimes these amenities are not well maintained, or do not include features that 
enable everyone to use them (for example, dropped crossing points). We need to make sure 
that our streets can be used by people of all ages and mobility levels.   

We will work with local communities to make sure that there are regular opportunities to 
stop and rest along the way in suitable, convenient locations, and we will fix those locations 
where there is currently no step-free access.  

We will explore opportunities to lower speed limits particularly in neighbourhoods and local 
centres, and make changes to those streets so it is clear to drivers what the appropriate 
speed is.  We will seek to upgrade safety cameras to increase compliance of people driving 
within the speed limit. We will work with Greater Manchester Police to expand community 
speed watch to raise awareness of the impacts of excessive driving speed on local 
communities.  

There is space on our pavements for everyone to walk in comfort 

Pavements need to be wide enough to ensure that everyone feels comfortable when 
walking along them. This should be the case whether people are walking alone, or in a 
group; or if they’re walking fast or slow.  

We will increase dedicated space for walking on GM’s streets. This includes tackling 
pavement parking, decluttering the streets, removing unnecessary and obstructive signage 
(including advertising) and repositioning street furniture, and widening pavements where 
this is needed and feasible.  

Page 175



Streets for All 

31 

Pavement parking is a problem across the country, not just in Greater Manchester. Blocking 
or reducing the width of the pavement can limit people’s ability to walk; particularly for 
young families and those with disabilities. To achieve the ‘double buggy test’ outlined in 
Made to Move, Greater Manchester recommends that stronger action is taken in response 
to people parking on the pavement.  

 

  

GM’s Active Travel Interim Design Guide states that a 2-metre width, leaving enough 
space for a parent pushing a double buggy on pavements is required for Active Bee 
Network schemes. This could also represent someone who is partially sighted or in a 
wheelchair.  We will work with residents, businesses, and visitors to understand where 
there are specific issues related to implementing the guidance and we will tackle them 
together.

Page 176



Streets for All 

32 

C. A safe and connected cycling experience 
More people are cycling on streets in Greater Manchester and we want this to continue.  We 
will create an environment where:  

People can reach more everyday destinations easily and safely by cycle 

Our ambition is for cycling to be a safe, convenient, and attractive option for people making 
everyday trips in Greater Manchester. As part of the Active Bee Network proposals - for a 
continuous, high-quality network for walking and cycling that connects all of the 
communities in Greater Manchester - we will work with local people to ensure that 
proposed improvements meet their needs.  

People feel valued when they are cycling  

In Greater Manchester, all cycle infrastructure will be built and maintained to a consistently 
high standard. This will include protected space for cycling where it is needed and practical; 
the use of easy-to-maintain, high quality materials; easy-to-understand signs and secure and 
convenient places to park cycles quickly and easily. We will work with communities, 
businesses, and visitors to determine where to build cycle routes and locate cycle parking. 

Cycling is widely considered to be a safe and secure travel option 

We will ensure that cycle routes are designed so that a 12-year-old would choose to use 
them, as set out in the Made to Move publication in 2017. That 12-year-old also represents a 
pensioner, or someone who has not cycled since childhood.  

When people are cycling they will feel that they have enough safe space to move in, 
including disabled people of all ages and abilities, and people travelling in groups. The Active 
Bee Network will include new fully protected cycle lanes on streets with large numbers of 
faster-moving motorised vehicles; increased priority and protection at junctions; and well 
maintained, well-lit streets so people feel safe cycling at all times of the day and night.  

We will work with professional drivers to raise and maintain high standards of safe driving 
with a particular focus on how to drive in a way that helps people who are cycling already, or 
who want to cycle to feel safe.  

We will focus our education and enforcement on tackling road traffic offences and 
behaviour which make people who are cycling or walking feel unsafe.  As previously 
mentioned, we will explore opportunities to lower speed limits particularly in 
neighbourhoods and local centres. We will seek to upgrade safety cameras to increase 
compliance of people driving within the speed limit. 

Page 177



Streets for All 

33 

TfGM will also continue to run cycle skills training and maintenance sessions - for beginners 
and experienced cyclists - to help people feel more confident on Greater Manchester’s 
roads.  

D. A reliable, integrated, and accessible public transport 
network  
We will improve the experience of using public transport so that it is seen as an attractive 
alternative to the car for longer journeys.  

It is important to remember that this is ambitious but achievable. People who live in Greater 
Manchester are already using public transport - especially the bus, which accounts for 
approximately 75% of public transport trips made in Greater Manchester. 

Streets for All has a focus on local bus services 
as the main form of public transport on our 
streets. We are committed to the Vision for Bus 
contained in the Greater Manchester Transport 
Strategy 2040, which is based on four 
objectives: network integration; a simplified 
and integrated fares system; offering a great 
customer experience; and achieving value for 
money.  

Further details about how we will improve local 
bus services will be set out in Greater 
Manchester’s Bus Service Improvement Plan. 

Local buses use street space very efficiently, 
freeing up space for creating attractive urban places.  Integrating bus services into a high-
quality urban realm is expensive, however, and only worthwhile in locations where buses 
carry (or have the potential to carry) a substantial proportion of people travelling to that 
location.  

We will improve our streets to support the growth of bus patronage so that: 

Buses turn up, and arrive at their destinations on time 

Bus services will be given more priority where it’s needed, through bus lanes and the use of 
technology that gives priority to late running buses at traffic signals. This will mean buses are 
less likely to be delayed, enhancing customer experience by making bus journeys quicker 
and more reliable than driving in many areas. In many places, space is used inefficiently for 
parking vehicles. A good understanding of the how on-street parking is being used in 
different locations and what value it is really delivering will be important. Difficult decisions 
will need to be made, in some cases, in order to relocate road space to deliver these 
improvements.  

Page 178



Streets for All 

34 

Major centres are connected by “Quality Bus Transit” services  

Our ambition is to upgrade entire bus routes, with a focus on creating more reliable journeys 
and developing “Quality Bus Transit” (QBT) connections between our main centres, including 
for orbital journeys around Greater Manchester.  QBT will be focused on heavily congested 
routes into major town centres, and the Regional Centre, where improving the reliability of 
bus journeys is particularly important.   

A good example of the sort of bus infrastructure that is being proposed for new QBT services 
is the Oxford Road Corridor in Manchester.  

 

QBT will be integrated into the urban realm, upgrading walking and cycling infrastructure, 
where possible, and providing improved street furniture and landscaping. It will incorporate 
bus priority measures - to achieve reliable services - attractive waiting environments and 
high-quality vehicles.   

It will be easier to access public transport by walking and cycling  

Bus stops, Metrolink stops, suburban rail stations and transport interchanges will be easier 
to access by walking and cycling, including for people who have mobility impairments, are 
travelling in groups or are handling a buggy or heavy luggage. 

Park and ride facilities will be developed into multi-modal travel hubs that support people 
cycling as part of longer journeys, for example by providing secure cycle storage at stops and 
stations, in addition to other facilities, such as electric vehicle charging infrastructure and 
parcel lockers. 

Page 179



Streets for All 

35 

Taking the bus is seen as a safe and attractive option  

Buses will run on streets which are attractive, clean and safe to wait on.  Bus stops and 
interchanges will be designed to be comfortable, attractive, safe and accessible - particularly 
for those who use mobility aids, who are in wheelchairs or pushing prams - and buses will be 
modern, clean and well-maintained to ensure journeys are pleasant and reliable.  

Engagement with communities, businesses and visitors will help shape the plans of the 
future bus network enabling people to make the journeys they need to for a variety of 
purposes. 

Information on services, fares and ticketing options will be provided to customers in a way 
that is easy to access and understand.   

Bus Reform and the National Bus Strategy  

In March 2021, the Mayor of Greater Manchester announced his decision to bring buses 
under local control. In future, buses will be run under a system called franchising: TfGM (on 
behalf of GMCA) will coordinate the bus network and contract bus companies to run the 
services to a specification that that Greater Manchester wants and needs. This is good news 
for our Streets for All approach. It means:  

 Better integration between buses and the rest of the transport system. This will mean 
passengers can change more easily between buses and trams - or buses and cycling or 
walking - and there will be simple, affordable price-capped tickets. Making journeys 
sustainably will be quicker, easier and cheaper.  

 Environmental standards for a green bus fleet can be set by Greater Manchester. This 
will help us to meet our targets to tackle the Climate Emergency, reduce harmful 
emissions and clean up our air. 

The Government has also published a National Bus Strategy which emphasises the 
importance of bus priority measures and traffic management, integration between bus and 
other modes.  There is also a requirement to publish a local Bus Service Improvement Plan 
(BSIP), to be updated annually and reflected in the authorities’ Local Transport Plan and in 
other relevant local plans, such as Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans. 

  

Page 180



Streets for All 

36 

E. Goods reach their destination on time with minimal 
impacts on local communities 
We will ensure that:  

Reliable freight routes are clearly defined  

We will identify which streets and routes will be prioritised for carrying freight vehicles and 
we will implement plans to manage those vehicle movements. We will support the transfer 
of freight from streets to rail and water wherever possible. 

The negative impacts of freight movement, deliveries and servicing on local 
communities are minimised 

Deliveries and servicing can often be managed more efficiently to reduce the number of 
motorised vehicles on local streets, especially at peak times. We will do this by supporting 
micro-consolidation and operational consolidation in regional and town centres, promoting 
the re-timing of deliveries to off-peak hours, better managing loading and unloading on busy 
streets, and increasing the number of businesses using cleaner, quieter, smaller options such 
as electric assisted cargo cycles and electric vehicles for deliveries.  

TfGM will work with the ten GM local authorities and large organisations and retailers to 
develop sustainable delivery and servicing plans that support the ambitions of Streets for All.  
While it is important to maintain the economic benefits of freight mobility, we do need to 
minimise the need for road freight deliveries in order to reduce congestion and improve air 
quality.  

We will reduce the road dangers posed by freight and deliveries to people walking, cycling 
and spending time on the streets through enforcement of road traffic offences, engineering, 
driver training and regulation. 

We will also implement policies on night-time deliveries to reduce noise pollution which 
negatively affects quality of life. 

Finally, Greater Manchester’s significant economic growth aspirations – facilitated by 
vehicles on the roads servicing construction sites – must not lead to an increase in 
pedestrians, cyclists and motorcyclists being killed or injured in collisions with HGVs on 
Britain’s roads. We will take action to ensure we do not see a corresponding rise in collisions. 
We will continue to encourage our partner organisations to become CLOCS and FORS 
accredited to raise the quality levels of construction and fleet operations. 

 

  

Page 181



Streets for All 

37 

F. Streets that enable people to drive less  
We have a large network of streets and roads which we need to use as efficiently as possible 
to accommodate the growth in travel that comes with our growing population and economy. 
We can’t ‘build our way out’ of congestion, so we need to make better use of the 
infrastructure we already have. This is even more important as we seek to minimise 
embodied carbon in new infrastructure.  We want to get the best out of what we have, 
which means:  

Giving more space to the most efficient and sustainable modes 

We will need to reallocate some road space currently used for the movement of general 
traffic to make space for the modes which make much more efficient use of the available 
space; particularly walking, cycling and public transport.  This will involve making difficult 
and sometimes initially unpopular decisions in exchange for long term benefits.  

Comparison of road space for different travel modes  

 

We will maintain the most direct routes for people walking, cycling and using public 
transport in their neighbourhoods; other motorised vehicle journeys may be less direct, 
particularly where we are addressing rat-running and speeding in local centres and 
residential areas. We will still allow access for residents, and for those motorised vehicles 
required for various essential reasons such as disabled access and emergency services. We 
will identify opportunities to better integrate on-street and off-street cycling and walking 
routes to increase the connectivity for people travelling by active travel. 

Reducing levels of traffic on our roads 

Our city-region needs to be much easier to get around by walking, cycling and using public 
transport, with streets which are more pleasant to spend time in.  Delivering this will require 
traffic reduction on some streets in Greater Manchester.  

Page 182



Streets for All 

38 

We are currently developing a Road Danger Reduction Strategy which will set out our 
approach to creating a more inclusive and equitable environment, that encourages walking, 
cycling and the use of public transport, by reducing the source of danger through: control 
and reduction of the speed and number of motorised vehicles on our streets, and the 
creation of attractive urban spaces where people want to walk or cycle.   

Decisions about re-allocating road space to reduce levels of traffic on our roads will be made 
through close dialogue with local communities, road users and transport providers, working 
at three levels - spatial, network and street - to support (sometimes difficult) decisions that 
will need to be taken for the safety of people who use Greater Manchester’s streets.  

Making productive use of kerb space 

In consultation with local communities, we will review use of the road space next to the kerb 
to identify opportunities to use it more productively. In many places this space is used 
inefficiently for the long-term parking of vehicles and would better serve the community if it 
was used for walking, cycling, seating, planting, play space, landscaping, bus stops, loading 
areas or cycle parking. 

 

Fewer trips are being made in the most congested periods  

There are times of the day when our network of streets and roads struggles to handle the 
number of vehicles trying to move through it. In addition to supporting people to travel in 
more space-efficient ways, we will continue to work with residents, businesses and road 
freight operators to re-time their journeys to avoid peak times or reduce their journeys.  

  

Page 183



Streets for All 

39 

G. A future proofed network   
We will invest more in maintaining our streets and embrace with technological innovations 
to ensure:  

Good design makes maintenance easier 

Maintenance, cleansing and enforcement on streets are important to creating streets people 
are happy to use and spend time in. When people are travelling in motorised vehicles their 
exposure to the street environment is lessened. When people are walking, cycling and 
waiting for public transport they have a much greater sense of how well the street is being 
cared for. To improve the walking and cycling experience and to encourage more people to 
travel in this way more often we need to raise our performance in getting the details right 
and focusing on the human experience of being on-street. This is particularly important for 
meeting the needs of people who find travelling more challenging due to age, illness or 
impairment. 

Ongoing planned maintenance can greatly increase the lifecycle and reduce the whole life 
cost of street infrastructure, whether it is regular street cleaning through to replacement of 
damaged road and pavement surfaces and other street elements and repair of utilities.  We 
will ensure ongoing maintenance costs are accurately reflected in the initial project costs. 
Learn from past experiences and share best practice around innovative highway 
maintenance processes and materials. 

New mobility technologies help us to create a safe, sustainable streets which 
make better use of existing street space 

Vehicle emissions and noise will be reduced by enabling the transition to Ultra Low Emission 
Vehicles (ULEVs). We will deliver an expanded public EV charging network and will focus on 
the conversion of commercial and public sector fleets, as well as exploring shared forms of 
e-mobility, such as electric car clubs, electric cargo cycles and electric scooters. This will 
require working in partnership with local stakeholders to better manage the electricity 
supply to meet the needs of an increasingly electrified transport system.   

We will coordinate and improve traffic signals to reduce congestion and prioritise walking, 
cycling and public transport, working with communities, residents and visitors to understand 
their views. We will use smart technology to better manage assets and support good 
maintenance regimes. We will explore the role that digital connectivity - such as 5G - will 
play in improving traffic signal management capability. GM is installing Artificial Intelligence 
(AI) powered Vivacity sensors around the city-region to collect real time data on cycling and 
walking. These can show interactions between people walking and cycling, and motor 
vehicles. They can also provide insights on factors such as pathways and speed.  

We will seek to harness the benefits of shared mobility through diversifying the use of Park 
and Ride facilities and introducing Travel Hubs which will create a focal point for shared 

Page 184



Streets for All 

40 

mobility operators (such as cycle hire, shared e-scooter/e-cargo cycles and e-car clubs) and 
other shared use facilities, such as parcel lockers. Travel Hubs can also contribute to place 
making through the creation of safe, attractive, multi-use landscaped areas for socialising, 
resting and playing.  

We will investigate the potential to implement new policies and management techniques to 
use the street space along the kerb much more effectively. This will include kerbside space 
being used for a wide range of activities throughout the day: in some places, for example, 
we can increase space for walking and cycling in peak periods while enabling deliveries and 
servicing at other times.  Technology has the potential to help manage this space more 
dynamically at different times of the day and week through, for example, dynamic digital 
traffic regulation orders.  

We will also work with our partners to develop new ways of using and collecting data, 
including mobile phone data and sensors to provide better real-time information on travel 
patterns, traffic congestion, traffic offences and transport emissions.  

Finally, technology also clearly has an important role to play in supporting inclusion for deaf, 
blind and disabled people - using some apps, for example, to aid navigation. This can 
increase the levels of confidence and safety people feel when using our streets.   

 

Page 185



Streets for All 

41 

Essentials Spotlight Actions: 

We will progress and deliver Streets for All redesign projects as part of our 
capital investment programme outlined in Our Five-Year Transport Delivery 
Plan (2021-26). 

We will build 500 miles of new Active Travel networks by 2024, working with 
local communities to make sure we are putting them in the right places  

We will design our streets to deliver Quality Bus Transit services that make 
public transport a safe and attractive travel option, through bus priority, 
improved waiting facilities and better access to bus stops, as part of our Bus 
Service Improvement Plan.   

We will develop Traffic Reduction Plans as part of refreshed Local 
Implementation Plans.  

We will produce a Road Danger Reduction Strategy for Greater Manchester. 

We will work with businesses and the freight industry to trial innovations in 
zero-emission deliveries and servicing.  

We will develop a Shared Mobility Strategy, setting out the role of mobility 
hubs in enabling seamless integration between more sustainable modes of 
transport and learning from our experience of e-scooter trials. 

 

  

Page 186



Streets for All 

42 

5. Our new ways of working 
To systematically embed the Streets for All approach in our ways of working we will take the 
following actions over the next 3 years: 

A more co-ordinated approach 

We will develop a more coordinated approach to how we design, manage and fund streets 
with TfGM and Districts working in a collaborative and coordinated way to develop and 
deliver our new Streets for All approach.  

We will review our funding arrangements so that we have a more joined-up system for 
deciding what we invest in. This will be challenging – as much of Greater Manchester’s 
funding is dependent on Government – but is important, in order to ensure our projects are 
coordinated and working together to deliver our Streets for All vision.  

Local engagement 

It is really important that the people who are making the decisions about which projects go 
forward fully understand the views of local people. We will continue and build upon existing 
Local Authority consultation and engagement processes, and we will develop new ways to 
engage with local communities, businesses and people travelling to make sure they are fully 
involved in decision-making, and to bring in the views of people we don’t always hear from, 
including disabled people. We support a fair process, and we aim to hear all voices as part of 
that.  

We will continue to lobby central government for the enforcement powers we need to make 
our streets welcoming and inclusive, including the ability to enforce Moving Traffic Offences 
and a fully regulated side road zebra crossing to give pedestrians greater priority and safety 
when crossing the road. 

When we are delivering a project on-street we will plan how that fits with our wider 
programmes of regeneration, new developments, behaviour change programmes, 
enforcement, cleansing and maintenance including ongoing coordination with external 
stakeholders. 

Governance  

As part of improved local engagement, it is important that the Streets for All approach is 
rolled out in conjunction with, and reflects the priorities of, our key partners each of whom 
have their own part to play in delivering the principles and commitments set out in this 
document. They include:  

 The ten Greater Manchester Local Authorities – as the highways and planning 
authorities, the local authorities are responsible for ensuring that roads are safe and 
usable, for producing Local Plans and considering all planning applications. They are 
also responsible for neighbourhood planning and leading on the delivery of services 
in their area;  

Page 187



Streets for All 

43 

 The elected Mayor of Greater Manchester – responsible for the transport budget our 
city-region receives from Government and for setting priorities for transport; 

 The Greater Manchester Combined Authority – the GMCA is made up of the ten 
Leaders of the Greater Manchester Local Authorities and is chaired by the Mayor. It 
is responsible for delivery of a range of devolved functions including Fire, Waste, 
Police and Crime, Planning, Transport, Health and Economic Growth;  

 Wider Stakeholders – including Highways England, transport operators and 
emergency services.  

Case making 

To draw in new funding for delivering Streets for All each district needs local data which 
helps to understand and communicate the case for investment. Data sets covering key topics 
such as air quality, public health, road safety, walking and cycling levels and traffic flow will 
be produced for each district. 

We will also strengthen our business case methodologies to better account for the health 
and social benefits that Streets for All projects will deliver. 

Project design 

We will take a new approach to designing street projects which considers the role of the 
location in the wider spatial and network plans, identifies the key functions of the street and 
then applying our new design guidance and design check to the proposal. In the design 
process we will ensure that the maintenance, cleansing and enforcement implications of 
new schemes are carefully considered. 

Project build 

When we are building new projects, or when there are road works, we will make sure that 
sustainable travel is still prioritised throughout the construction period by working with our 
contractors to implement new protocols. 

Measuring Success - Monitoring & Evaluation 

To be able to demonstrate that we are delivering real, tangible benefits for the people of 
Greater Manchester we will get better at measuring and communicating the effects of what 
we do. The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 has a monitoring framework for 
tracking progress against our strategic objectives, such as customer responses or ‘demand-
side’ indicators and operational or ’supply-side’. We will also report our progress in 
delivering our Streets for All Commitments, See Appendix C. 

Investing in Streets for All - Funding 

Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan (2021-2026) sets out the programme of actions, how 
these are funded and the asks of government to support delivery. They are reviewed and 
refreshed annually and enable us to ensure that, alongside our partners, we are continuing 
to develop and deliver the right transport schemes to support the city-region’s priorities.  

Page 188



Streets for All 

44 

The success of delivering Streets for All does not just depend on funding of new projects but 
on the prioritisation and adequate funding of routine activities including street maintenance 
and cleansing, and policing.  

  

Page 189



Streets for All 

45 

Appendix A: Streets for All Essentials and Street Type Requirements [to be completed this week]  

Streets for All 
Essential 

Destinatio
n Places 

Active Neighbourhood Street High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic 
Roads and 
Motorways 

Green, vibrant 
streets that are 
welcoming 
places to spend 
time 

•  • Prioritise movement, health 
and safety of people who live/ 
spend time on them over 
motor vehicles 

• Are safe, comfortable spaces, 
free from noise and air 
pollution 

• Enable people to activate 
streets for play, socialising 
and relaxing  

• Incorporate greening, are 
resilient to climate change 
and support biodiversity 

•  • Allocate space/ time to support 
functions of streets beyond 
movement of traffic where needed 
(i.e. supporting local businesses 
and economies, providing active 
neighbourhood facilities where 
there are residential frontages) 

• Reduce and manage speed and 
volume of traffic to limit impact of 
road safety, air and noise pollution 
on surrounding communities and 
places (I.e. 20mph on the 
approach to town centres) 

• Incorporate greening, are resilient 
to climate change and support 
biodiversity 

•  

An attractive 
and inclusive 
walking 
environment 

•  • Enable people of all ages and 
abilities to walk from their 
homes 

• Prioritise people who walk 
over motor traffic 

• Provide Bee Network 
standard facilities that are 
accessible by people who 

•  • Provide continuous Bee Network 
standard walking facilities, that 
are safe, attractive and accessible 
by people who use mobility aids 
or have sensory impairments 

• Provide crossing facilities on 
desire lines, that allow people to 
cross quickly and directly to 
destinations and public transport 

•  

P
age 190



Streets for All 

46 

Streets for All 
Essential 

Destinatio
n Places 

Active Neighbourhood Street High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic 
Roads and 
Motorways 

use mobility aids or have 
sensory impairments 

• Are a low speed/ low traffic 
environment (under 20mph) 

• Can be crossed away 
formalised crossings 

• Are interesting and playful 
places to walk through 

stops, and connect active 
neighbourhoods they segment by 
foot  

• Are attractive and comfortable 
places to walk, with minimised 
impact from air and noise pollution 

A safe and 
connected 
cycle 
experience 

•  • Enable people of all ages and 
abilities to cycle across their 
neighbourhood 

• Prioritise people who cycle 
over motor traffic 

• Are a low speed/ low traffic 
environment (under 20mph) 

• Provide safe, attractive 
connections to local 
destinations and the wider 
cycle network 

• Provide space for all people 
to park their bike within/ 
adjacent to their homes 

•  • Are attractive and comfortable 
places to cycle, with minimised 
impact from air and noise 
pollution. 

• Allocate road space to Bee 
Network standard segregated 
cycle facilities, or where space 
does not allow/ alternative is 
available, on a parallel route 

• Provide crossing facilities on 
desire lines, that allow people to 
cross quickly and directly to 
destinations and public transport 
stops, and connect active 
neighbourhoods they segment by 
bike 

•  

P
age 191



Streets for All 

47 

Streets for All 
Essential 

Destinatio
n Places 

Active Neighbourhood Street High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic 
Roads and 
Motorways 

A reliable, 
integrated and 
accessible 
public 
transport 
network 

•  • Enable and make it easy for 
people to make the first stage 
of trips by bus, Metrolink and 
rail by foot or by bike 

• Are signed to and from key 
public transport nodes 

• Support bus journeys where 
they are made on AN streets 
(i.e. local bus/ DRT), and 
provide priority for bus where 
required (I.e. through bus 
gating)  

•  • Bus and tram movements are 
prioritised to ensure public 
transport journeys are punctual 
and journey times are minimised 

• Walking and cycling journeys to 
PT stops are accessible, safe and 
quick 

• PT stops are accessible and 
comfortable places to wait and 
feel safe at all times of day and 
night 

•  

Good delivered 
on time with 
minimal impact 
on local 
communities 

•  • Through goods vehicles 
(LGVs/HGVs) are actively 
discouraged 

• Support alternative delivery 
mechanisms, i.e. cargo bike/ 
consolidated deliveries  

• Manage vehicle traffic 
generated by home 
deliveries.  

•  • Facilities are provided to support 
alternative delivery practices 

• Freight and deliveries are 
managed to minimise impact on 
road safety, air and noise 
pollution, and have limited 
disruption by/ do not contribute to 
congestion 

• Have designated delivery times 
and routes that support reliable 
journey times, and minimise 
conflict with vulnerable road users 

• Loading and unloading are 
managed safely and efficiently 

•  

P
age 192



Streets for All 

48 

Streets for All 
Essential 

Destinatio
n Places 

Active Neighbourhood Street High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic 
Roads and 
Motorways 

We make best 
use of assets 

•  • Prioritise and allocate road 
space to people who walk, 
cycle or take public transport 

• Manage parking to provide 
space required for walking, 
cycling, landscaping, seating, 
play, businesses, or 
community uses. 

• Highway infrastructure is 
resilient to climate change 
and minimises embedded 
carbon 

•  • Road space is allocated to enable 
trips by public transport, walking 
and cycling   

• Parking is managed and space is 
allocated to journeys by public 
transport, walking and cycling, or 
place, landscaping, businesses, 
or community uses. 

• Highway infrastructure is resilient 
to climate change and minimises 
embedded carbon 

•  

We harness 
future mobility 
innovations 

•  • Allocate space and 
incorporate shared mobility 
innovations that support 
GMTS2040 objectives (bike/ 
e-bike/ cargo-bike hire, e-
scooters, e-car clubs) 

• Support alternative delivery 
mechanisms, i.e. cargo bike/ 
consolidated delivery 
Incorporate electric charging 
facilities/ passive provision for 
EV charging facilities 

•  • Smart cameras and signal 
technology are used to ensure 
these roads perform for people 
who use them, actively prioritise 
public transport, freight, walking 
and cycling where and when 
needed. 

• Incorporating shared mobility 
innovations that support 
GMTS2040 objectives (bike/ e-
bike/ cargo-bike hire, e-scooters, 
e-car clubs). 

•  

 

  

P
age 193



Streets for All 

49 

Appendix B: (Interim) Street User Level of Service 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

People 
who walk 
(including 
people 
who use 
mobility 
aids) 

 

People who live, walk 
and spend time on 
these streets are 
prioritised.  
This means that space 
and priority is given on 
these streets to people 
who walk, play, 
socialise and relax. 
These spaces should 
have places to sit, meet 
and rest, there are 
things to do and see, 
and that spaces are 
suitably quiet and free 
from air pollution. 
Numbers of vehicles on 
these streets are 
expected to be low, but 
where they do use 
these streets, it is 
expected that these 
give way to people 
using the street 
actively. 

People who live, walk 
and spend time on these 
streets are prioritised.  
This means that space and 
priority is given on these 
streets to people who walk, 
play, socialise and relax.  
These spaces should have 
places to sit, meet and rest, 
things to do and see, and 
green space that is 
integrated to streets. These 
streets should also be quiet 
and free from air pollution, 
making streets attractive 
places, and reducing 
impacts on homes. 
Vehicle numbers and 
speeds are expected to be 
low on these streets, and 
where they interact with 
people travelling actively 
they should be expected to 
give way or pass slowly 
and considerately. 

People who 
walk and 
spend time 
on these 
streets are 
prioritised.  
This means 
that space 
and priority is 
given on 
these streets 
to people who 
walk, play, 
socialise, and 
relax, and 
people can 
easily cross 
the street.  
These spaces 
should have 
appropriate 
levels of 
places to sit 
and rest, 
there are 
things to do 

Residents and people 
who  walk across or 
along, and spend 
time on these streets are 
considered first. 
This means Connector 
Roads are safe and 
comfortable places to walk, 
that can be crossed on 
desire lines, with minimal 
wait time, and walked 
along without obstruction 
and barriers to journeys. 
Where these streets pass 
next to homes and shops, 
space is allocated to 
people and businesses 
who use these streets. 

People walk across or 
alongside these streets are 
considered first. 
This means that Strategic 
Roads and Motorways do not 
form severance to people 
walking. 
Safe and 
comfortable crossing facilities 
where walking journeys need 
to cross should be provided, 
alongside direct, attractive 
walking routes, either 
adjacent to carriageway, or 
on parallel corridors where 
there is little or no deviation. 

P
age 194



Streets for All 

50 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

and see, and 
that spaces 
are suitably 
quiet and free 
from air 
pollution. 
Where 
appropriate, 
space should 
allocated to 
business to 
allow them to 
effectively use 
space outside 
premises to 
activate the 
street, extent 
capacity, and 
extend the 
offer of the 
street. 

P
age 195



Streets for All 

51 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

People 
who cycle 

 

People who cycle are 
prioritised over motor 
traffic but with care 
for people walking in 
particular children, 
older adults and 
disabled people. 
This means that space 
and priority is given to 
people who cycle, so 
that they can 
comfortably and safely  
Vehicle numbers and 
speeds are expected to 
be low on these 
streets, and where they 
interact with people 
travelling actively they 
should be expected to 
give way. 
Destination Places 
should be well 
connected by bike, 
meaning that people 
can easy and safe to 
cycle to them, and they 
are able to park 
standard/ non-standard 

People who cycle are 
prioritised over motor 
traffic but with care for 
people walking in 
particular children, older 
adults and disabled 
people. 
This means that space and 
priority is given to people 
who cycle, so that they can 
comfortably and safely  
Vehicle numbers and 
speeds are  expected to be 
low on these streets, and 
where they interact with 
people travelling actively 
they should be expected to 
give way or pass slowly 
and considerately. 
Where residential 
properties do not have 
easily accessible 
opportunities for cycle 
parking (i.e. flats or 
terraced homes), 
opportunities to support 
this using highway space 
should be maximised. 

Space for 
people who 
cycle is fully 
integrated 
along and 
across these 
streets.  
This means 
that people 
who cycle are 
able to travel 
to and 
through these 
streets using 
safe and 
comfortable 
facilities. 
Road space 
should be 
allocated to 
delivery of 
Bee Network 
standard 
cycle facilities 
along these 
streets, 
unless 
prevented by 
physical 

Space for people who 
cycle is fully integrated 
along and across these 
streets.  
This means Connector 
Roads are safe and 
comfortable places to 
cycle, that can be crossed 
on desire lines, with 
minimal wait time, and 
provide coherent, attractive 
cycle routes along their 
length. 
Road space should be 
allocated to delivery of Bee 
Network standard cycle 
facilities unless prevented 
by physical constraints in 
the highway. 
Where there are 
constraints present, parallel 
corridors should be 
considered where there is 
little or no deviation. 

Space for people who cycle 
is fully integrated along 
and across these streets.  
This means that Strategic 
Roads and Motorways do not 
form severance to journeys 
by bike. 
Safe and 
comfortable crossing facilities 
where cycle journeys need to 
cross should be provided, 
alongside direct, attractive 
cycle routes, either adjacent 
to carriageway, or on parallel 
corridors where there is little 
or no deviation. 

P
age 196



Streets for All 

52 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

bikes in convenient, 
visible and secure 
facilities. 

 constraints in 
the highway. 
Where there 
are 
constraints 
present, 
parallel 
corridors 
should be 
considered 
where there is 
little or no 
deviation. 
People should 
also be able 
to park 
standard/ 
non-standard 
bikes in 
convenient, 
visible and 
secure 
facilities on 
high streets. 

People 
using 

People are able to 
easily reach 
Destination Places by 

Public transport facilities 
are easily access 
accessed from peoples 

People are 
able to easily 
reach High 

Priority for people 
travelling by public 
transport is fully 

Where required, priority for 
people travelling by public 
transport is provided, to 

P
age 197



Streets for All 

53 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

public 
transport 

 

public transport, and 
vehicles are safely 
integrated where they 
interact. 
This means that people 
travelling to Destination 
Places are able to do 
so easily and 
comfortably by public 
transport, and that 
stops are well 
integrated with these 
public spaces through 
stop facilities and 
materials, crossings 
and wayfinding. 
Where public transport 
vehicles, such as 
Metrolink and buses 
travel through these 
spaces, this should be 
undertaken safely with 
consideration for 
people using the street 
actively and 
businesses. 

homes. Where aligned 
through Active 
Neighbourhoods, priority 
is given to public 
transport over other 
motor traffic. 
This means that journeys 
from homes to public 
transport stops are  
This also means that where 
buses travel through Active 
Neighbourhoods, priority is 
given to buses over 
general traffic, however 
vehicles will be expected to 
give way to people 
travelling actively, and 
travel at a suitable speed 
for a neighbourhood. 

Streets by 
public 
transport, 
and vehicles 
are given 
priority 
This means 
that people 
travelling to 
High Streets 
are able to do 
so easily by 
public 
transport and 
that stops are 
well 
integrated 
with these 
public spaces 
through stop 
facilities and 
materials, 
crossings and 
wayfinding. 
Where public 
transport 
vehicles, such 
as buses 
travel through 

integrated, to ensure 
journeys are quick and 
on time. 
This means that available 
highway space and time at 
junctions are configured to 
give priority to buses and 
trams that travel along or 
cross these roads. 
It also means that people 
who use public transport 
are able to safely and 
comfortably access public 
transport stops, providing 
space for stops on 
connector roads, and 
crossing points to stops. 

ensure journeys are quick 
and on time. 
This means that where public 
transport travels along or 
cross these streets, highway 
space and time at junctions 
are configured to give priority 
to buses or trams to 
overcome key points of 
potential delay. 
 
 

P
age 198



Streets for All 

54 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

these spaces, 
they should 
be given 
priority over 
general traffic, 
while also 
ensuring that 
these vehicles 
do not impact 
people using 
the street 
actively and 
businesses. 

People 
who 
deliver 
goods 

 

Motor vehicles used 
for deliveries are 
guests on these 
streets. 
This means businesses 
can make deliveries, 
but though-traffic is 
restricted, and a low 
traffic/ low speed 
environment is 
created where motor 
vehicles give way 
to people walking, 
playing, cycling 
or using public 

Motor vehicles used for 
deliveries are guests on 
these streets. 
This means businesses 
can make local deliveries, 
but though-traffic is 
restricted, and a low 
traffic/ low speed 
environment is 
created where motor 
vehicles give way to people 
walking, playing, cycling 
or using public transport on 
these streets. 

Motor 
vehicles 
used for 
deliveries 
are able to 
access 
businesses 
efficiently, 
without 
impacting 
people 
walking and 
cycling, as 
well as 
residents. 

Motor vehicles used for 
deliveries are able to 
make journeys efficiently, 
with minimal impact on 
people travelling by 
walking, cycling and 
public transport, as well 
as residents. 
This means people and 
businesses can move 
goods with predictable 
journey times, and with 
space to drop off goods, 
while journeys are 
managed/ facilities 

Motor vehicles used for 
deliveries are able to 
access businesses 
efficiently. 
This means people and 
businesses can move goods 
with predictable journey 
times, while journeys are 
managed to reduce road 
danger, air and noise 
pollution, and impact on 
congestion. 
Space for alternative 
delivery facilities measures 

P
age 199



Streets for All 

55 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

transport on 
these streets. 
Delivery times on these 
streets should be 
considered, and 
scheduled for times 
that are out of peak 
hours  
 
 

Space for alternative 
delivery facilities measures 
(such as consolidated 
collection/ cargo 
bikes) should be prioritised. 

This means 
that 
businesses 
are able to 
make 
deliveries to 
premises 
reliably and 
safely, in a 
way that does 
not negatively 
impact people 
who travel to/ 
through these 
streets by 
active travel, 
people using 
these streets 
for leisure, 
and other 
businesses 
that operate 
on these 
streets. 
 

introduced to reduce road 
danger, air and noise 
pollution, and impact on 
congestion. 
Space for alternative 
delivery facilities measures 
(such as consolidation 
centres) should be 
prioritised. 

(such as consolidation 
centres) should be 
prioritised). 

P
age 200



Streets for All 

56 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

People 
using 
taxis 

 

Taxis are integrated, 
but are considered 
guests on these 
streets. 
This means vehicles 
can access destination 
places for journeys that 
need to be made by 
taxis, but that through-
traffic is restricted, and 
a low traffic/ low speed 
environment is created 
where motor vehicles 
give way to people 
walking, playing, 
cycling or using public 
transport if they do 
travel on these streets. 
It is anticipated that the 
majority of trips to 
these destinations will 
be made by public 
transport, cycling and 
walking, however, taxis 
for an important 
method of travel for 
people with mobility 
impairments, and taxi 
drop-off should be 

Taxis are considered 
guests on these streets. 
This means vehicles 
can access homes for 
journeys that need to be 
made by taxis, but 
that through-traffic is 
restricted, and a low traffic/ 
low speed environment 
is created where motor 
vehicles give way to people 
walking, playing, cycling or 
using public transport on 
these streets. 

Essential 
taxi journeys 
can be made 
on these 
streets, but 
with minimal 
impact on 
people 
travelling by 
walking, 
cycling and 
public 
transport, as 
well as 
residents 
and 
businesses.  
This means 
that provision 
for people 
who need to 
make taxi 
trips is made 
on these 
streets, but 
priority is 
given to 
people who 
walk and 

Essential taxi journeys 
can be made with 
minimal impact on 
people travelling by 
walking and cycling and 
public transport, as well 
as residents. 
This means that provision 
for people who need to 
make taxi trips is made on 
these streets, but this is 
balanced with space 
needed to support people 
travelling actively and by 
public transport, and other 
uses of these streets. 
Speed and volume of traffic 
and is managed to reduce 
road danger, air and noise 
pollution, and to minimise 
impact on other functions 
of these streets, such as 
homes, businesses. 

Essential, long distance 
taxi journeys can be made 
safely, with reliable journey 
times 
This means that people 
making longer distance trips 
that can’t be made by public 
transport can make these 
journeys by private vehicle 
safely, without delays in 
expected journey times. 
Speed of vehicle traffic is 
managed, and where 
required, reduced to 
minimise the risk of collision, 
and impact of air and noise 
pollution (especially where 
these roads pass closely to 
residential areas, schools, or 
town centres). 

P
age 201



Streets for All 

57 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

located, designed and 
managed to reflect this.  

spend time on 
these streets, 
cycle, or 
travel by 
public 
transport to 
them. 
It is 
anticipated 
that the 
majority of 
trips to these 
destinations 
will be made 
by public 
transport, 
cycling and 
walking, 
however, 
taxis for an 
important 
method of 
travel for 
people with 
mobility 
impairments, 
and taxi drop-
off should be 
located, 

P
age 202



Streets for All 

58 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

designed and 
managed to 
reflect this. 

People 
who drive 
powered 
two 
wheelers 
and cars 

 

Motor vehicles are 
considered guests on 
these streets. 
This means vehicles 
can access destination 
places for journeys that 
need to be made by 
private vehicles, but 
that through-traffic is 
restricted, and a 
low traffic/ low speed 
environment is created 
where motor vehicles 

Private motor vehicles 
are considered guests on 
these streets. 
This means people 
can access homes for 
journeys that need to be 
made by cars and P2Ws, 
but that through-traffic is 
restricted, and a low traffic/ 
low speed environment 
is created where motor 
vehicles give way to people 
walking, playing, cycling or 

Essential car 
journeys can 
be made on 
these 
streets, but 
with minimal 
impact on 
people 
travelling by 
walking, 
cycling and 
public 
transport, as 

Essential car journeys 
can be made with 
minimal impact on 
people travelling by 
walking, cycling and 
public transport, as well 
as residents. 
This means that provision 
for people who need to 
make private vehicle trips 
is made on these streets, 
but this is balanced with 
space needed to support 

Essential, long distance 
car journeys can be made 
safely, with reliable journey 
times 
This means that people 
making longer distance trips 
that can’t be made by public 
transport can make these 
journeys by private vehicle 
safely, without delays in 
expected journey times. 

P
age 203



Streets for All 

59 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

give way to people 
walking, playing, 
cycling or using public 
transport if they do 
travel on these streets. 
It is anticipated that the 
majority of trips to 
these destinations will 
be made by public 
transport, cycling and 
walking, and parking 
should be located and 
managed to reflect this. 
Suitable levels of well-
located disabled 
parking should 
integrated within these 
spaces to retain access 
for blue badge holders. 

using public transport on 
these streets. 
Residents can park 
vehicles, however this 
should not impact 
people who travel actively 
or by public transport, and 
space should be prioritised 
for those who use car 
share facilities. 
 

well as 
residents 
and 
businesses.  
This means 
that provision 
for people 
who need to 
make vehicle 
trips is made 
on these 
streets, but 
priority is 
given to 
people who 
walk and 
spend time on 
these streets, 
cycle, or 
travel by 
public 
transport to 
them. 
It is 
anticipated 
that the 
majority of 
trips to these 
destinations 

people travelling actively 
and by public transport, 
and other uses of these 
streets. 
Speed and volume of 
private vehicle traffic and is 
managed to reduce road 
danger, air and noise 
pollution, and to minimise 
impact on other functions 
of these streets, such as 
homes, businesses. 

Speed of vehicle traffic is 
managed, and where 
required, reduced to 
minimise the risk of collision, 
and impact of air and noise 
pollution (especially where 
these roads pass closely to 
residential areas, schools, or 
town centres). 

P
age 204



Streets for All 

60 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High 
Streets 

Connector Roads Strategic Roads and 
Motorways 

will be made 
by public 
transport, 
cycling and 
walking, and 
parking 
should be 
located and 
managed to 
reflect this. 
Suitable 
levels of well-
located 
disabled 
parking 
should 
integrated 
within these 
spaces to 
retain access 
for blue 
badge 
holders. 

 

P
age 205



Streets for All 

61 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High Streets Connector 
Roads 

Strategic Roads 
and Motorways 

People who 
drive powered 
two wheelers 
and cars 

 

Motor vehicles are 
considered guests on 
these streets. 
This means vehicles 
can access destination 
places for journeys that 
need to be made by private 
vehicles, but that through-
traffic is restricted, and a 
low traffic/ low speed 
environment is created 
where motor vehicles 
give way to people walking, 
playing, cycling or using 
public transport if they do 
travel on these streets. 
It is anticipated that the 
majority of trips to these 
destinations will be made 
by public transport, cycling 
and walking, and parking 
should be located and 
managed to reflect this. 
Suitable levels of well-
located disabled parking 
should integrated within 
these spaces to retain 

Private motor vehicles 
are considered guests 
on these streets. 
This means people 
can access homes for 
journeys that need to be 
made by cars and P2Ws, 
but that through-traffic is 
restricted, and a 
low traffic/ low speed 
environment is created 
where motor vehicles 
give way to people 
walking, playing, 
cycling or using public 
transport on these streets. 
Residents can park 
vehicles, however this 
should not impact 
people who travel actively 
or by public transport, and 
space should 
be prioritised for those 
who use car share 
facilities. 
 

Essential car 
journeys can be 
made on these 
streets, but with 
minimal impact on 
people travelling by 
walking, cycling 
and public 
transport, as well 
as residents and 
businesses.  
This means that 
provision for people 
who need to make 
vehicle trips is made 
on these streets, but 
priority is given to 
people who walk and 
spend time on these 
streets, cycle, or 
travel by public 
transport to them. 
It is anticipated that 
the majority of trips 
to these destinations 
will be made by 
public transport, 
cycling and walking, 
and parking should 

Essential car 
journeys can be 
made with minimal 
impact on people 
travelling by 
walking, cycling 
and public 
transport, as well 
as residents. 
This means that 
provision for people 
who need to make 
private vehicle trips 
is made on these 
streets, but this is 
balanced with space 
needed to support 
people travelling 
actively and by 
public transport, and 
other uses of these 
streets. 
Speed and volume 
of private vehicle 
traffic and is 
managed to reduce 
road danger, air and 
noise pollution, and 
to minimise impact 

Essential, long 
distance car 
journeys can be 
made safely, with 
reliable journey 
times 
This means that 
people making longer 
distance trips that 
can’t be made by 
public transport can 
make these journeys 
by private vehicle 
safely, without delays 
in expected journey 
times. 
Speed of vehicle 
traffic is managed, 
and where required, 
reduced to minimise 
the risk of collision, 
and impact of air and 
noise pollution 
(especially where 
these roads pass 
closely to residential 
areas, schools, or 
town centres). 

P
age 206



Streets for All 

62 

User 
Hierarchy 

Destination Places Active 
Neighbourhoods 

High Streets Connector 
Roads 

Strategic Roads 
and Motorways 

access for blue badge 
holders. 

be located and 
managed to reflect 
this. Suitable levels 
of well-located 
disabled parking 
should integrated 
within these spaces 
to retain access for 
blue badge holders. 

on other functions of 
these streets, such 
as homes, 
businesses. 

 P
age 207



Streets for All 

63 

Appendix C: Measuring Success – To be updated 

A. Green and 
vibrant streets 
that are 
welcoming places 
to spend time in 

Healthy green places 

Economically vibrant places 

Delivery measures: Options: 
Healthy Streets Indicators 
Reduced NOx etc 
Reduced Noise 
Carbon Emissions 
Tree Planting 

Proportion of total streets 
pace that is hard surfaces 
(use random sample). 

Proportion of people 
reporting at least 2 x 10 
minute periods of walking 
or cycling each day (source: 
TRADS) 

CACI data on retail 
footprints 

Cordon count town centre 
data showing mode shift in 
how people access town 
centres 

Delivery measure: 
Proportion of trips under 
2km that are walked 
(Source: Travel Diaries). 

Walking is the natural choice for 
everyday travel 

Public perception: TBD 

Delivery measure: TBD 

Streets are welcoming places for 
everyone to walk 

Public perception: 
Difference in the proportion 
of people stating they feel 
welcome on the streets 
between white vs BAME, 
men vs women, adults over 
60 years vs adults under 60 
years 

B. An attractive 
and inclusive 
walking 
environment 

There is space on our pavements 
Delivery measure: Could 
measure pedestrian 

Page 208



Streets for All 

64 

comfort levels at a random 
sample of locations 
annually 

for everyone to walk in comfort 

Public perception:  
Question in Neighbourhood 
Survey asking people 
whether they feel there’s 
enough space on 
pavements, exact wording 
TBD 

Delivery measure: 
Proportion of residents 
living within 200m of a cycle 
route 

People can reach more everyday 
destinations easily and safely by 
cycle 

Public perception:  

Delivery measure: TBD People feel valued when they are 
cycling  Public perception:  

Delivery measure: 
Proportion of trips under 
10km that are cycled 

C. A safe and 
connected cycling 
experience 

Cycling is widely considered to be a 
safe and secure travel option 

Public perception:   

Delivery measure: Bus 
reliability measure Buses turn up, and arrive at their 

destinations on time 
Public perception:  

Delivery measure: TBD It will be easier to access public 
transport by active travel Public perception:  

Delivery measure: TBD 

D. A reliable and 
accessible public 
transport network  

Taking the bus is seen as a safe and 
attractive option  Public perception:   

Delivery measure:  TBD 
following agreement of the 
action 

E. Goods reach 
their destination 
on time with 
minimal impacts 
on local 
communities 

Reliable freight routes are clearly 
defined  Public perception: TBD 

following agreement of the 
action 

Page 209



Streets for All 

65 

Delivery measure: TBD 
following agreement of the 
action The negative impacts of freight 

movement on local communities 
are minimised Public perception: TBD 

following agreement of the 
action 

Delivery measure:  
Proportion of people 
walking, cycling and using 
PT on a weekly basis 
(Source: TRADS) 

Increasing walking, cycling and 
public transport journeys 

Public perception: TBD 

Delivery measure:  Overall 
and peak period reductions 
in motorised traffic (Source: 
automatic travel counters) 

F. Streets that 
enable people to 
drive less  

Fewer motorised vehicle trips are 
being made in the most congested 
periods  

Public perception: TBD 

Delivery measure: TBD 
Could be based on 
conversion of parking 
spaces to other uses 

Productive use of kerb space 

Public perception: TBD 

Delivery measure: TBD 

Public perception: TBD 

G. A future 
proofed network  

New mobility technologies help us 
to address road danger, capacity 
and environmental challenges  

Perception measure: 
Suitable question from 
neighbourhood survey 

  

Page 210



Streets for All 

66 

Appendix D: Summary of Actions  

Essentials 

All We will progress and deliver Streets for All redesign projects as part of our 
capital investment programme outlined in Our Five-Year Transport Delivery Plan 
(2021-26). 

We will build 500 miles of new Active Travel networks by 2024, working with 
local communities to make sure we are putting them in the right places  

We will design our streets to deliver Quality Bus Transit services that make 
public transport a safe and attractive travel option, through bus priority, 
improved waiting facilities and better access to bus stops, as part of our Bus 
Service Improvement Plan.   

We will develop Traffic Reduction Plans as part of refreshed Local 
Implementation Plans.  

We will produce a Road Danger Reduction Strategy for Greater Manchester. 

We will work with businesses and the freight industry to trial innovations in 
zero-emission deliveries and servicing.  

We will develop a Shared Mobility Strategy, setting out the role of mobility hubs 
in enabling seamless integration between more sustainable modes of transport 
and learning from our experience of e-scooter trials. 

Three levels of delivery 

Spatial 
Planning 

Promote the 15 minute neighbourhood concept in our work on spatial and 
transport plans. 

Spatial 
Planning 

Develop a Streets for All check, proportionate and appropriate to the 
development, to be included in transport assessments and set out any mitigation 
measures to ensure the development aligns with streets for all essentials and 
design guidance. This can be discussed in early pre-planning application 
conversations with developers. 

Spatial 
Planning 

Incorporate the Streets for All essentials in Local Plans where they are being 
reviewed.  

Spatial 
Planning 

Update the Transport for Sustainable Communities Guidance to reference 
Streets for All requirements and national policy such as Gear Change, Bus Back 
Better and the latest Manual for Streets guidance.  

Network  Review and update the Highway Protocols to reflect changes in roles and 
responsibilities, and continue to review the priority routes for public transport, 
active travel, freight and general traffic across GM (aligned with the Right Mix 
mode share target).  

Page 211



Streets for All 

67 

Network Through investment projects, identify alternate suitable routes or mitigation 
plans for key points on the network where there are competing pressures for 
priority from different modes. 

Network Within the design process for specific streets or corridors, agree what level of 
motorised traffic will be accommodated and how to manage traffic across the 
area to achieve traffic reduction. 

Street Ensure that the process for designing projects which affect our streets includes 
engagement with local communities and stakeholders at an early stage, so that 
their views can be incorporated into designs.  We will work with local 
stakeholders to develop a clear vision and supporting objectives for that street, 
corridor, or local area. 

Street Develop a Streets for All Design Guide tailored to the needs of Greater 
Manchester. In the interim refer to design guidance produced by the National 
Association of City Transportation Officials (NACTO) as a ‘best practice’ guide. 

Street Undertake a Streets for All check for every place we are proposing a new 
intervention.  

Street Establish a new process for reviewing project specifications at key stages to 
ensure each project is fully aligned with Streets for All. 

Ways of working 

Capacity 
Building 

Undertake a programme of engagement with senior leaders across GM to 
familiarise them with why we are taking S4A Approach and to furnish them with 
the information they need to engage with their stakeholders. 

Capacity 
Building 

Develop a Streets for All funding stream. 

Capacity 
Building 

Undertake a programme of capacity building through establishing a Streets for 
All Centre of Excellence to provide districts and TfGM officers together with the 
information and tools to successfully deliver Streets for All. 

Stakeholder 
engagement 

Investigate the most effective methods of ensuring decision makers have the 
information they need in a timely manner to inform them of public opinion on 
proposed projects. 

Stakeholder 
engagement 

Continue to lobby national government for the necessary legal powers to more 
easily enforce Moving Traffic Offences and implied zebra crossings. 

Stakeholder 
engagement 

Set the broader engagement plan in which the project will be delivered – 
enforcement, cleansing, and maintenance, behaviour change, regeneration etc. 

Stakeholder 
engagement 

Manage the build of the project with a stakeholder plan. 

Case making Produce a bespoke data set for each district to make the local case for S4A 
including key topics such as Air Quality, road safety, walking and cycling etc. 

Page 212



Streets for All 

68 

Case making Produce a toolkit of data sets for Districts to collect, adaptable to different 
project scopes (scale and key audiences for data). 

Case making Include health and economic benefits in project business cases (review inclusion 
of PEAT). 

Project build Develop and apply a new road works management framework aligned with S4A 
(prioritising walking, cycling, public transport, deliveries and essential access) for 
contractors to apply. Establish a system to ensure compliance with this. 

Monitoring & 
Evaluation 

Establish a routine data set that all projects can collect and report back into a 
centralised system to enable GM-wide tracking of performance improvements. 

Monitoring & 
Evaluation 

Collect data straight after the build is finished, at 6 months, 1 year and 18 
months to assess alignment of results with ambitions.  

Monitoring & 
Evaluation 

Feed results back into the planning process to improve next project and collate 
project statistics to communicate the benefits of projects to stakeholders. 

  

Page 213



Streets for All 

69 

Glossary [to be updated] 

 

Accessible 

Bee Network 

GM Family 

International Charter for Walking 

Key Route Network (KRN) 

NACTO Global Street Design Guidance 

Neighbourhood 

Regional Centre  

Streets 

Spatial Planning  

Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS)  

  

Page 214



Streets for All 

70 

Maps 

 

 

Page 215



Streets for All 

71 

 

 

 

 

Page 216



Streets for All 

72 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 217



Streets for All 

73 

 

 

Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



 

Report to Cabinet  

 

Date of Meeting 21 September 2021 

Portfolio Cabinet Member for 
Economy and 
Communications 

Report Author Kirsty Nicholls  

Public Document  

 

 

Rochdale Station area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
 

 
Executive Summary 

 
1.1 A  Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been produced for the 

Rochdale Station area to guide and support the continued regeneration and 
renewal of the area by providing detailed planning and design advice. The 
draft document which was published earlier in 2021 has been subject to 
further revision following comments made during the public consultation.  The 
report  seeks the approval of the Cabinet to adopt the amended SPD 
document following public consultation in accordance with the requirements 
of the Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  

 
Recommendation 

 

2.1 

 

 
 The  Cabinet considers the proposed amendments to the SPD, following 

the consultation exercise with the public 
 That Cabinet adopts the updated SPD as set out in appendix A, in 

accordance with the requirements of the Town & Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 Authorise the Director of Economy, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Economy and Communications to make any necessary factual or 

Page 238

Agenda Item 11



editorial changes prior to publishing the final Rochdale Station 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 

 

 

 

As set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, Supplementary 
Planning Documents build upon and provide more detailed advice or 
guidance on the policies in the Local Plan. Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out 
the requirements for producing SPDs. Regulation 12 requires that 
consultation is undertaken prior to the adoption of an SPD. 

 
Key Points for Consideration 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background 

As a major gateway into the Borough, the regeneration and improvement of 
Rochdale Railway Station, and the surrounding land and buildings, represents a 
strategic priority for the Council to attract new residents and businesses to the 
area, contribute to an improved housing offer, create new public realm and open 
space and to capitalise on the development and regeneration within Rochdale 
Town Centre. Rochdale Borough Council (RBC) are working towards a town-
core regeneration plan, which includes plans for around 2,000 new homes, 
including within the proposed Station Gateway area. As part of its Rail Corridor 
Regeneration Strategy, the Council is seeking to promote transit led integrated 
development and place making around existing stations with the aim of 
unlocking the dormant potential of Rochdale station through dynamic urban 
regeneration and the creation of a Transport-Orientated Community (TOC). The 
approach aims to add commercial benefit through access to transport but 
critically also aims to realise social value.  

Rochdale Station’s redevelopment and regeneration potential is the largest 
opportunity within the wider strategy and will offer existing and future residents 
and businesses an opportunity to develop a sustainable community with a 
vibrant mixture of living, working and recreational opportunities.   

This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared in 
conjunction with the GM Stations Alliance to establish an appropriate framework 
to guide and deliver development by setting out the development, design and 
accessibility principles, and the identification of focus areas where more specific 
guidance is necessary.  

Purpose of a SPD 

Page 239



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The proposed Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will provide a 
development strategy for the Rochdale Station area. It outlines potential 
development opportunities within the area including options for the scale and mix 
of future proposals on a number of different sites.  The SPD will provide further 
detailed guidance in order to achieve coherent and comprehensive development 
within the area and ensure the delivery of the necessary new infrastructure. 

There is also an opportunity to make more of Rochdale Town Centre as a location, 
creating places where people want to come and live and helping to make 
Rochdale Town Centre thrive.  

The SPD will also be used by the Council as a material consideration when 
determining future planning applications.  It will also provide context and certainty 
for investors and be used to support bids for external funding to support the 
delivery of regeneration projects across the area.   

Participation and consultation so far 

Early Consultation  
 
As a major gateway into the Borough, the regeneration and improvement of 
Rochdale Railway Station, and the surrounding land and buildings, represents a 
strategic priority for the Council to attract new residents and businesses to the 
area, contribute to an improved housing offer, create new public realm and open 
space and to capitalise on the development and regeneration within Rochdale 
Town Centre. Rochdale Borough Council (RBC) are working towards a town-core 
regeneration plan, which includes plans for around 2,000 new homes, including 
within the proposed Station Gateway area. The Council is seeking to promote 
transit led integrated development and place making around existing stations with 
the aim of unlocking the dormant potential of Rochdale station through dynamic 
urban regeneration and the creation of a Transport-Orientated Community (TOC). 
The approach aims to add commercial benefit through access to transport but 
critically also aims to realise social value.  

This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been prepared to establish 
an appropriate framework to guide and deliver development by setting out the 
development, design and accessibility principles, and the identification of focus 
areas where more specific guidance is necessary.  

The Council worked with the GM Stations Alliance, a newly established 
partnership between Rochdale Council, GM Combined Authority, Network Rail, 
LCR Property and Transport for Greater Manchester to prepare a masterplan for 
the existing stations within the Borough.  Preparation of the Rochdale Station 
Masterplan has been widely consulted on with residents and businesses’ within 
the area. 
 

Page 240



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rochdale Borough Council (RBC) commissioned WSP and Broadway Malyan in 
2019 to prepare a masterplan for the Rochdale Station area and identify a vision 
and priorities in order for the aspirations of the Council to be realised.  

The Masterplan was developed in consultation with Members and the GM 
Stations Alliance collaboration with the Council to ensure there was agreement 
on all elements of the masterplan, from the vision through to use framework.  The 
process was supported by in depth discussions and consultations with statutory 
consultees and other interested bodies. The document also outlined key delivery 
and implementation mechanisms in order for the vision aspirations to be realised. 

 
The Masterplan was developed from 2019 to 2020. The scope of the project was 
divided into the three distinct stages, which were as follows: 

 Stage 1 – Data Collection and Scoping 
 Stage 2 – Option Testing 
 Stage 3 - Station Area Masterplan 

 

At each stage, workshops were held, which helped to inform the key aims and 
objectives of each neighbourhood. There have been a number of workshops with 
key landowners and stakeholders since this date. Further to this, the Council has 
engaged with local businesses and communities to ascertain their invaluable 
perspective. 
 
Formal Consultation 
 
A six week public consultation was held from February 2021 to April 2021.  

Elected Members have also been consulted on the SPD preparation process, 
including a presentation to the Rochdale South Township Committee on 16th 
February 2021 and Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 24th February. Further briefings have taken place with 
Members and interested stakeholders.   

In addition to the statutory planning consultees, the Council hold a database 
containing contact details of groups and individuals interested in the development 
of our plans, this is used to keep those registered, informed of progress and future 
consultations. People on this database were be consulted. 

The consultation took the form of survey questions and also the ability to submit 
open ended comments. The survey questions were as follows: 

1. Do you agree with the proposal to improve safety for pedestrians and 
cyclists by removing vehicular traffic in front of the station to make way for 
a ‘Station Square’? Will this be a positive improvement to the area? 

Page 241



2. The Council wishes to see the southern entrance to the station become the 
focal point for bus interchange and vehicular drop off, pick up and parking.  
Do you feel this is a positive improvement? 

3. Is the creation of a 500 space park and ride facility and bus interchange 
with direct pedestrian links to the Miall Street station entrance a welcome 
proposal? 

4. Will the development of brand new housing in the areas proposed be a 
positive addition? 

5. Are the areas proposed for employment space appropriate? 
6. Do you agree with the need to carry out improvements to the station 

entrance and facilities? If so, what would you like to see? 
7. Will more space for pick up and drop off immediately around the station be 

positive? 
8. Are the plans for better connectivity between the station area to shops and 

businesses in the wider Milkstone and Deeplish area appropriate and 
achievable?  If so, how might this be done? 

9. Will the improved crossings on Drake Street, enhancements of the 
Rochdale Canal towpath, improved wayfinding provide adequate 
opportunities for greater connectivity? 

10. Will local businesses find the improvements a benefit to trade and footfall? 
11. Would a Platform Community Park be a positive contribution to the area? 
12. What other improvements could the document propose that would further 

act to enhance regeneration and renewal within the area? 
 

There were 86 responses to the above survey question. In summary, the  
outcome was as follows: 

 86 responded to the survey questions; 
 83% of respondents agreed with question 6; 
 All question, bar 11, scored over 60%. 

 
Further comments were received during the public consultation, a total of 6 from 
members of the public and 4 from consultees.  

The key issues raised include:  

 Majority positive response welcoming the vision and regeneration 
objectives of the document; 

 Lack of clarity on the exact road closures and the impact on residents and 
local businesses, in particular that the scheme would lead to the closure of 
parts of Milkstone Road and Lower Tweedale Street; 

 Site specific comments in terms of the lack of understanding of context; 
 The document did not include the re-instatement of the Rochdale Branch 

Canal. 

No objections were raised by consultees with comments raised on matters of 
clarification and strengthening of matters in terms of the following: 

Page 242



 
 Green Infrastructure 
 Heritage Assets 

 

Officers have addressed these concerns and made changes where appropriate, 
including: 

 That the proposals will not result in the closure to residents or businesses 
of any section of Milkstone Road, Dowling Street or Lower Tweedale 
Street to vehicular traffic; 

 Provide clarity on the proposed objectives of the creation of the Station 
Square and making it clearer there will be limited road closures; 

 An updated image has been inserted to illustrate exactly where said 
changes will be occurring; 

 Clarify the proposals will maintain access for services and emergency 
vehicles including access to a new local centre car park for circa 150 
spaces; 

 Clarify that the proposals will incorporate the introduction of a high quality 
material palette to the Dowling Street, Lower Tweedale Street, Station 
Road and Maclure Road with enhanced public realm ethos; 

 Clarity on the incremental nature of the creation of the Station Square. The 
document is clear that the development of a scheme for the Station Square 
will take account of such factors as continuation of access to properties 
and businesses and this will inform a detailed phasing strategy.  As and 
when more detailed proposals are developed these will be subject to 
further public consultation; and 

 Include the importance of not just pedestrians but also cyclists in the 
improvements. 

The document now includes the following image, of which makes it clearer the 
specific details of the pedestrian priority areas. It is envisaged that this will 
alleviate said confusion and provide clarity to local residents and businesses. 

Page 243



 

Key 

No vehicles except for, Metrolink, servicing and emergencies.  
 

Vehicular access for servicing, access to local properties &  
businesses, short-stay parking, and limited pick-up/drop-off  
 

Further information is contained within the Rochdale Station SPD Consultation 
Statement (August 2021) (Appendix X).  

Officers propose that the revised SPD (Appendix X) is adopted, and is effective 
from 1 September 2021. 

Alternatives considered 

Not adopting this SPD will result in less clarity in terms of guidance to applicants 
and developers within this important regeneration area.  This may result in 
proposals which do not properly deal with planning requirements and result in 
poorer quality schemes being submitted. Furthermore, there could be a 

Page 244



consequence should the Council consider to invoke its powers through the 
Compulsory Purchase Order process. 

  

 
Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from the 

recommendations within this report or for the Council’s involvement in the 
process at this stage. Consultation costs will be covered by existing planning 
budgets.   

 
Risk and Policy Implications 

 
There are no specific risk issues for members to consider arising from this 
report. 

6.1 

 

 

 
7.1  

 
Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 
8. Rochdale Station area SPD 

 

Consultation Statement 

 

 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

 

 

Council website 

 

Council Website 

 

 

Council Website 

 

Page 245



For Further Information Contact: Mark Robinson, Assistant Director 

mark.robinson@rochdale.gov.uk  

 

Kirsty Nicholls, Principal Planning Officer  

Kirsty.nicholls@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 246



 

Report to Cabinet 
 

Date of Meeting 21st September 2021 
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Economy and 
Communications 

Report Author Andrew Bradwell 

 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Towns Fund - Award of Grant and Update 
 

 
Executive Summary 

 
1. Rochdale BoroughCouncil, has recently secured an offer of £24,600,000 from the 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) The purpose of 
this report is to secure authority to accept this funding offer 
 

 
Recommendation 

 
2. It is recommended that Cabinet agrees to 

- accept the funding offer from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government 
 
- Cabinet to agree to delegate responsibility for developing and approving the 
detailed business cases for the projects to the Director of Economy and Chief 
Finance Officer in conjunction with the Cabinet Member Economy and 
Communications. 
 
- Members note the list of projects 
 

Reason for Recommendation 
 
3. Approval to accept the funding offer will enable external funding to be 

secured to support delivery of the Rochdale Town Investment Plan 
 

Key Points for Consideration 
  
4.1  
 

Background 
 
The Towns Fund is from a £3.6 billion pot from central government and is available to 
101 selected towns. It is designed to support and build prosperous futures, improve 
connectivity, provide vital social and cultural infrastructure and boost growth – with 
communities having a say on how the money is spent. The selected towns work with 
the government to develop innovative regeneration plans to transform their town’s 
economic growth prospects with a focus on improved transport, broadband 
connectivity, skills and culture in partnership with the communities, businesses and 
local leaders.  
 

Page 247

Agenda Item 12



Key Points for Consideration 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The overarching aim of the Towns Fund initiative is to drive the sustainable economic 
regeneration of towns to deliver long term economic and productivity growth 
 
The Rochdale Town Deal Board was established early 2020 comprising 
representatives of local business, key stakeholders and the 2 Members of Parliament. 
The Board was required to oversee the drawing up of Rochdale’s Town Investment 
Plan proposals, working with Council officers.  The Board is chaired by a private 
sector representative, Paul Simkiss, in line with government guidance.  
  
The draft Town Investment Plan proposals seeking a total of £25m from the government 
were duly drawn up in consultation and co-operation with the Town Board and a 
Rochdale Town Investment Plan was submitted to government in December 2020.  
 
Rochdale Town Investment Plan 
 
Our Town Investment Plan is underpinned by a vision which has been developed 
through engagement with the communities and enterprises within the Borough.  
Our shared and ambitious Vision is as follows: 
 
Having capitalised on the Borough’s rich cultural history, heritage assets and local 
pride, Rochdale will: 
• be connected physically, digitally and socially; 
• have created accessible opportunities; and 
• have attracted new talent into Rochdale. 
 
We will have achieved inclusive and green growth, taking advantage of Rochdale’s 
‘best of all worlds’ City / Town / Rural nature, delivered a liveable sustainable town 
with thriving digital, manufacturing and creative sectors. 
 
Projects, Spending and Outcomes  
 
We have secured £24.6m from the Towns Fund. This includes the £1,000,000 
Accelerator Funding which has already been received.  A series of projects have been 
developed based on existing priorities, deliverability and relevance to the Towns Fund 
criteria. 

Project Total (£) 
Planned date for business 

case submission 
 
Advanced Machinery & Productivity 
Institute  

     
15,000,000  

 
 

29th January 2022 

New Homes Central Rochdale 
                

1,853,250  
 

29th July 2021 

Strategic Gateway Sites 
                   

833,850  
 

28th October 2021 

St Marys Gate Highway Improvement  
                

2,261,000  
 

28th October 2021 

Neighbourhood Rochdale 
                

2,800,000  
 

28th October 2021 

Heritage Skills Studio 
                   

351,900  
 

28th October 2021 

Kingsway 
                   

500,000  
 

28th October 2021 

Fire Service Museum 
                

1,000,000  
 

N/A 
                                  

Total 
              

24,600,000  
 

  Page 248



Key Points for Consideration 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 

 
 
 
 
Equality and Diversity  
 
Equality Impact Assessments will be undertaken in the development of full business 
cases 
 
The development of the Town Investment Plan was done in the light of the Climate 
emergency, and projects will be encouraged to contribute to active travel, low carbon 
solutions and sustainable development. 
 
Next Steps 
 
Rochdale Council will develop business cases in line with the Government’s Green 
Book on spend and best practice guidance issued within the Towns Deal Guidance. 
These need to be delivered by the end of March 2022.  We have a budget to appoint 
external consultants to support project managers to meet the deadline.  The allocation 
of the £23.6m funding envelope to individual projects will be subject to approval of the 
corresponding business cases by the Council, the Town Deal Board and the 
government.  (The Fire Service Museum project has already been approved) 
 
Each business case will be supported by a Monitoring & Evaluation Plan and 
Engagement Strategy  
 
Alternatives Considered 
 
Not accept the funding The projects would lose the opportunity 

to secure significant public sector 
funding  

Costs and Budget Summary 
 

 
5. There are no immediate financial implications from the submission of the Town 

Investment Plan, but the detailed business cases will be developed in conjunction with 
the finance team and specifically the Chief Finance Officer as the Section 151 Officer 
 
The grant is released to the Council in advance based on projected annual financial 
profiles. 
 
Some project require external match funding and this will be monitored closely. 
 

 

Page 249



Risk and Policy Implications 
 
 
6       As part of the business case each project will have its own risk register which will be 

part of the monitoring process. There is also a programme risk register which will go 
to each Town Board. 

 
The projects were already in a pipeline and so there won’t be any significant new policy 
implications. 
 
Each project will receive a grant offer letter setting out monitoring requirements and 
other conditions to ensure the grant is used for the purpose intended and clawback 
provision will be included in the event of any unapproved and significant changes to 
projects and long side underperformance. 

 
  
  

Consultation 
 
7. 

 
As part of the Towns Fund process a range of engagement and consultation with 
stakeholders and members of the public has taken place. This has included the 
following:  

 Towns Board Meetings  
 Stakeholder Workshops 
 Project Manager Meetings 
 Public Online Survey  

This has been underpinned by project specific engagement 
 
Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 
8. Rochdale Town Investment Plan 

 
Rochdale Town Board Minutes  

N 1 Riverside 
 
N 1 Riverside 
 

 

For Further Information Contact: Andrew Bradwell, Tel: 01706 925605, 
andrew.bradwell@rochdale.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 250



 

Appendix 1 – Eligibility map (area within red line) 

 

 

Appendix 2 – Project descriptions 

 

 

 Page 251



 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 252



 

 

 

Fire Service Museum (Accelerated Funding) 

 Delivery of quality commercial space in key location  
 Increase in the amount (And diversity) of high quality, affordable commercial floor space

  
 Increase in the amount of shared workspace or innovation facilities 

Page 253



Document is Restricted

Page 254

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 269

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers
	7 Deputy Criteria Review
	8 Objection to Traffic Order - Bury and Rochdale Old Road, Rochdale
	Append. 1 for Objection to Traffic Order - Bury and Rochdale Old Road, Rochdale
	10 Objection to Traffic Order - Bury and Rochdale Old Road, Rochdale


	9 GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 recommendations report
	Append. 1 for GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 recommendations report
	Append. 2 for GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 recommendations report
	Append. 3 for GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 recommendations report
	Append. 4 for GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 recommendations report
	Append. 5 for GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 recommendations report
	Append. 6 for GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 recommendations report
	2.1	The Operator shall obtain any necessary planning permission required for his/her premises and shall comply with any conditions imposed.
	2.2	The Operator shall provide adequate communication facilities and staff to provide an efficient service to the public using the operator’s facilities.
	2.3	The Operator’s premises shall be kept clean and tidy, and adequately heated, ventilated and lit.
	2.4	The Operator shall ensure that any waiting area for the use of prospective hirers shall be provided with adequate and comfortable seating.
	2.5	The Operator’s radio/electrical equipment where installed shall be regularly maintained in good working condition and any defects shall be repaired promptly.
	2.6	The Operator shall at no time cause or permit any audio equipment to be a source of nuisance, annoyance or interference to any other person. In addition, all reasonable precautions are to be taken to ensure that activities within the Operator’s office and from licensed vehicles do not create a nuisance to others.
	2.7	The Operator shall obtain and maintain in force at all times a public liability insurance policy in respect of his/her premises and produce the same to an Authorised Officer or Constable on request.
	2.8	The Operator must display the following at all times, at any premises that the general public have access to and/or on online booking sites and applications:
	a)	A copy of the current Operator licence
	b)	A schedule of fares
	c)	A notice which provides information on how to complain to the Licensing Authority including email and phone number
	d)	A copy of the public liability insurance policy certificate
	The above shall be displayed in a prominent position within  the relevant premises where it can be easily read; or clearly marked on the relevant online site/app where it can be easily accessed.
	2.9 	If the Operator has a website and/or uses Application based technology to attract bookings, the notices listed at 2.8 above must also be available to view on the relevant web pages or application menu.
	2.10	The Operator shall not allow their Licensed Operator Premises to be used to conduct business relating to licensees of other non-Greater Manchester local authoritues.
	3.1	When accepting the hiring, the Operator shall, unless prevented by some sufficient cause, ensure that a licensed private hire vehicle attends at the appointed time and place.
	3.2	When accepting the hiring, the Operator shall, if requested by the person making the booking, specify the fare or the rate of the fare for the journey to be undertaken and, in every case, the Operator shall immediately enter all the details of the hiring legibly as required, by Condition 3.3.
	3.3	The records of hiring accepted by the Operator as required under Section 56 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, shall contain the following detail:
	3.4	The Operator shall not allow drivers to pass a booking on to the Operator on the passenger’s behalf and will take all reasonable steps to ensure their drivers are aware that such practice is illegal.
	3.5	Where a booking is sub-contracted the customer must be so advised and informed as to the sub-contracted Operator who will be undertaking the booking.
	3.6	If a non - (insert name of Council) licensed driver and vehicle are being dispatched to fulfil the booking, the Operator must communicate the following message to the person making the booking (whether via telephone, automated booking or booking App) before the booking is made (allowing the requester the opportunity to confirm the booking or not):
	The driver and vehicle you are about to book are not licensed by (insert name of Council) to (insert name of Council) standards and (insert name of Council) Council are not empowered to take licensing action in the event of a complaint. Your driver and vehicles are licensed by {insert name of Council} and customers will have to deal with that authority in the event of a complaint.
	3.7	The despatch, by an Operator, of a passenger carrying vehicle (PCV) and the use of a public service vehicle (PSV), such as a minibus, is not permitted without the express consent of the hirer.
	3.8	Where the hirer is being given the option of one of the above mentioned vehicles being despatched, they should be notified that the driver is subject to different checks than a private hire driver and are not required to have an enhanced DBS check.
	3.9	The Operator must advise the authority of the booking system it uses, and advise in writing when the booking system is changed. The operator must demonstrate the operation of the system to an authorised officer upon request. Only the confirmed booking system (whether that be an electronic or manual system) can be used to record journeys taken for and carried out by vehicles licensed by (insert name of Council) (or a Public Services Vehicle, operating under a licence from the Vehicle and Operator Services Agency).
	4.1	The Operator must keep detailed, up to date, records of every driver and vehicle operated by him (whether licensed as private hire or hackney carriage) and no matter which Council licensed the driver/vehicle. The records must include:
	a)	Name and home address of the driver
	b)	The dates the driver commenced fulfilling bookings from the PHO and the date the driver ceased taking bookings from the PHO (where applicable).
	c)	A copy of the driver’s current private hire or hackney carriage driver licence including the expiry date of that licence and that Licensing Authority that issued it.
	d)	Name and home address of the proprietor of every vehicle
	e)	A copy of the current vehicle licence including expiry date, the licensing authority that issued it.
	f)	The date the vehicle was first used by the PHO to fulfil bookings and the date the PHO ceased using the vehicle to fulfil bookings (where applicable)
	g)	The vehicle registration number
	h)	A list of unique radio/call sign allocated to the driver and vehicle
	i)	A copy of the valid insurance in place for the driver and vehicle
	4.2	The Operator must ensure that booking records are:
	a)	Kept electronically
	b)	Are available for immediate inspection by an Authorised Officer or Police Officer
	c)	Able to be printed onto paper or downloaded in an electronic format
	d)	Continuous and chronological
	e)	Not capable or retrospective alteration or amendment
	f)	Kept as one set of records. Cash and credit account bookings can be separately identified but must not be in separate sets of records. The name of the person compiling the records must be detailed on the records.
	g)	Are clear, intelligible, kept in English and retained for a minimum of 12 months from the date of the last entry or for such other period as required by an Authorised Officer.
	4.3	The Operator must retain records for a minimum period of 12 months and make available any GPS data and any voice recording system for inspection upon request by an Authorised Officer or Police Officer.
	4.4	The Operator must implement a robust system to ensure that drivers and/or vehicles do not operate when their licence or insurance has expired. This must be documented and approved by an Authorised Officer.
	4.5	The Operator must conduct a check of the Council’s public register (where it exists) when contracting a driver to carry out bookings.
	4.6	The Operator must take all reasonable steps to ensure that its drivers and vehicles, when plotting or waiting without bookings around the district, do not do so:
	Operators will upon request by an Authorised Officer or Police Officer demonstrate how they monitor and control this behaviour.
	4.7	The Operator must have an approved process in place to ensure that the individual carrying out a booking is the licensed driver they have contracted for this purpose.
	4.8	The Operator will ensure registration with the Information Commissioner’s Office for Data Controller, CCTV and other relevant purposes. Where the Operator is exempt from registration with the Information Commissioner’s Office, they will notify the Council within 7 days of the commencement of these conditions.
	4.9	Where the Operator agrees sub-contracting arrangements with other non-(insert name of Council) licensed Operators, it must have due regard for the comparative licensing policies and standards of the relevant licensing authority their partner Operator is subject to, and take steps not to undermine the Council’s licensing standards which have been set in the interests of promoting high levels of public safety.
	5.1	The Operator must notify the Council immediately by email (or in any case within 24 hours) of receiving or otherwise becoming aware of any complaint/allegation, police enquiries, or notification of convictions involving any driver that is registered to carry out bookings for the operator, which relates to matters of a sexual nature, violence/threats of violence or substance misuse.
	The Operator must notify the Council within 72hrs of any complaint/allegation, police enquiries, or notification of convictions involving any driver that is registered to carry out bookings for the operator, which relates to matters involving dishonesty or equality.
	The Operator is required to provide at the time of notification to the council the identity of the driver involved and the nature of the complaint/enquiry including the complainant’s details. This notification to the Council must take place regardless of whether the Operator ceases any contractual arrangement with the driver.
	5.2	The Operator must record every complaint received against its service (against any driver operated by him, including those licensed by other authorities carrying out a sub-contracted booking on the Operator’s behalf) and, if unable to resolve the complaint within 7 days (from the date of the complaint) the Operator must provide the complainant with the relevant Licensing Authority contact details within 10 days (from the date of complaint).
	5.3	Where a complaint not covered by section 5.1 above is received against a driver and it remains unresolved after 7 days (from the date of complaint), the operator must notify the Council within 10 days (from the date of complaint). The Operator is required to provide at the time of notification, the identity of the driver involved, the nature of the complaint/enquiry including the complainant’s details.
	5.4	The Operator must keep all complaint records for at least 12 months (including against drivers carrying out sub-contracted bookings) and ensure these records are available for inspection at any time an authorised officer may request to review them.
		Full Name
		Address
		Date of Birth
		Contact details (phone and email)
		DBS issue date and certificate number
		Start and finish dates of employment
		Job Title
	6.3	The Operator must ensure that all individuals (non-drivers) working in any capacity and have access to booking records (paid or unpaid) have obtained a basic DBS Certificate from the Disclosure and Baring Service before commencing employment. The DBS certificate must be dated within one month before the commencement of employment.
	6.4	The Operator must ensure that DBS checks are carried out for all existing relevant staff (as per condition 6.3) within one month of the commencement of these conditions.
	6.5		The employee should be registered with the DBS Update Service to enable the Operator to conduct regular checks (six monthly as a minimum) of the individual’s DBS status.
	6.6	The Operator must have a policy compatible with the Council’s suitability policy or adopt the Councils suitability policy and implement this policy in relation to the recruitment of all staff (paid or unpaid) and the recruitment of ex-offenders. This must be produced upon request.
	6.7	The Operator must be able to evidence that they have had sight of a basic DBS by maintaining a register. The register should be a ‘living document’ that maintains records of all those in those employed for at least 12 months, being the duration of how long booking records are to be kept and allows cross referencing between the two records. A record that the operator has had sight of a basic DBS check certificate (although the certificate itself should not be retained) should be retained for the duration that the individual remains on the register. Should an employee cease to be on the register and later re-entered, a new basic DBS certificate should be requested and sight of this recorded.
	6.8	Operators may outsource booking and dispatch functions, but they cannot pass on the obligation to protect children and vulnerable adults. Operators should be required to evidence that comparable protections are applied by the company to which they outsource these functions.
	7.1	The Operator shall not cause or permit to be displayed in, on or from his/her premises or to be published in relation to the Operator’s business any sign, notice or advertisement which consists of or includes the words “Taxi” whether in the singular or plural or the words “For Hire” or any other word or words of similar meaning or appearance whether alone or as part of another word or phrase or any other word or words likely to cause a person to believe that any vehicle operated by him/her is a hackney carriage.
	7.2	All advertisements by the Operator should first be approved by the Council to ensure they comply with conditions and do not breach the Codes of Practice of the Advertising Standards Authority or those of the Portman Group relating to alcohol advertising.
	7.3	The Operator must not dispatch any vehicle that has been licensed by another Authority, which uses, displays or exhibits any literature, documentation, advertising or which displays any signage associated to the Private Hire Operator or the Council which suggests, indicates, misleads or might lead to a misunderstanding that the vehicle is licensed by this Council.
	8.1	For the duration of the licence, the licensee shall pay the reasonable administration charge or fee attached to any requirement to attend training, or produce a relevant certificate, assessment, validation check or other administration or notification process.
	8.2	The Licensee shall notify the Council in writing within 14 days of any transfer of ownership of the vehicle. The notice will include the name, address and contact details of the new owner.
	8.3	The Licensee shall give notice in writing to the Council of any change of his address or contact details (including email address) during the period of the licence within 7 days of such change taking place.
	9.1	The Operator and his/her staff shall co-operate fully with any Local Authority Authorised Officer or Police Officer in respect of any enquiries or investigations carried out relating to drivers or vehicles currently connected to the business or formerly connected to the business.
	9.2	The operator will provide the Council with details of appropriate members of staff (whether at the base or via telephone) to be contactable during the times of operation (day or night) in relation to compliance/enforcement related matters. Where the aforementioned contact details change, the Operator shall inform the Council of the new contact details within 24 hours.
	9.3	The Operator shall grant access to the licensed premises to any Local Authority Authorised Officer or Police Officer upon request.
	10.1	The Operator must keep a record of lost property that is handed to him by drivers or passengers. The record must include the date the item is handed to the Operator, details of where it was found and a description of the property. The log must always be available for inspection by an Authorised Officer or Police Officer and any information entered onto the record must be kept for a period of 12 months from the date of entry.
	10.2	Any lost property held by the Operator must be stored securely by him for 6 months after it was found.
	11.1	Operators are required to adopt, implement, review, update as is necessary and submit to the Council the following policies:
		Safeguarding Policy
		Customer Service and Complaints Policy which includes conduct of drivers and the timeframe for responding to complaints
		Equality Policy (Equality Act 2010) including disability awareness and the carrying of assistance animals.
		Data Protection Policy
		Recruitment / Suitability Policy
	12	Training
	12.1	Operators should ensure that they have attended any licensing training required by the Council within one month of a licence being granted or as otherwise directed by the Council.
	12.2	The Operator must ensure that training is provided to relevant staff (paid or unpaid) on licensing law, Licensing policy, the policies listed at paragraph 11.1 and how and when to accept bookings. This training must be undertaken within one month of the commencement of these conditions or employment and thereafter, at least every two years.  The Operator must keep a record of the aforementioned training which has been signed by the operator and the member of staff.

	Append. 7 for GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 recommendations report
	Append. 8 for GM Minimum Licensing Standards for Taxi and Private Hire - Stage 1 recommendations report

	10 GM 2040 Streets for All Strategy
	Append. 1 for Streets for All – Cover Report (August 2021)
	Table of Contents
	Foreword
	1.	Introduction
	2.	Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040
	3.	Streets in Greater Manchester – Our New Approach
	Street Types
	Examples of the different Street Types
	Our Three Levels of Delivery
	Level 1 – Spatial Planning
	Level 2 – Network Planning
	Level 3 – Street Design and Management

	4.	The Streets for All Essentials
	A. Green and vibrant streets that are welcoming places to spend time in
	Healthy, green streets
	Economically vibrant places
	Streets and spaces that are safe

	B. An attractive and inclusive walking environment
	Walking is the natural choice for everyday journeys
	Streets are welcoming places for everyone to walk
	There is space on our pavements for everyone to walk in comfort

	C. A safe and connected cycling experience
	People can reach more everyday destinations easily and safely by cycle
	People feel valued when they are cycling
	Cycling is widely considered to be a safe and secure travel option

	D. A reliable, integrated, and accessible public transport network
	Buses turn up, and arrive at their destinations on time
	Major centres are connected by “Quality Bus Transit” services
	It will be easier to access public transport by walking and cycling
	Taking the bus is seen as a safe and attractive option
	Bus Reform and the National Bus Strategy

	E. Goods reach their destination on time with minimal impacts on local communities
	Reliable freight routes are clearly defined
	The negative impacts of freight movement, deliveries and servicing on local communities are minimised

	F. Streets that enable people to drive less
	Giving more space to the most efficient and sustainable modes
	Reducing levels of traffic on our roads
	Making productive use of kerb space
	Fewer trips are being made in the most congested periods

	G. A future proofed network
	Good design makes maintenance easier
	New mobility technologies help us to create a safe, sustainable streets which make better use of existing street space

	5.	Our new ways of working
	Investing in Streets for All - Funding
	Appendix A: Streets for All Essentials and Street Type Requirements [to be completed this week]
	Appendix B: (Interim) Street User Level of Service
	Appendix C: Measuring Success – To be updated
	Appendix D: Summary of Actions
	Glossary [to be updated]
	Maps


	Append. 2 for Streets for All – Cover Report (August 2021)

	11 Rochdale Station Supplementary Planning Document
	12 Towns Fund - Award of Grant and Update
	14 Property Investment Risk
	Append. 1 for Property Investment Risk


